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Forward-Looking Statements  

Forward-looking statements made with respect to our financial condition and results of operations and business in this Annual Report on Form 
10-K (“Report”) and those made from time to time by us through our senior management are made pursuant to the “safe harbor” provisions of 
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations and projections 
about future events but are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions about us and our partner companies that may 
cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, 
performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.  

Factors that could cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to differ materially from those anticipated in forward-
looking statements include, but are not limited to, factors discussed elsewhere in this Report and include among other things:  

In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “expect,” “plan,” 
“anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “continue” or the negative of such terms or other similar expressions. All forward-looking statements 
attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements included in this Report. We 
undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or 
otherwise. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events discussed in this Report might not occur.  
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  •   development of the e-commerce and information technology markets; 
  

  •   capital spending by enterprises and customers; 
  

  •   our partner companies’  collective ability to compete successfully against their respective competitors; 
  

  •   rapid technological developments in the respective markets in which our partner companies operate and our partner companies’ 
collective ability to respond to such changes in a timely and effective manner; 

  

  •   our ability to deploy capital effectively and on acceptable terms; 
  

  •   our ability to maximize value in connection with divestitures; 
  

  •   our ability to retain key personnel; and 
  

  •   our ability to effectively manage existing capital resources. 
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PART I  

Although we refer in this Report to companies in which we have acquired a convertible debt or an equity ownership interest as our “partner 
companies” and indicate that we have a “partnership” with these companies, we do not act as an agent or legal representative for any of our 
partner companies, we do not have the power or authority to legally bind any of our partner companies, and we do not have the types of 
liabilities in relation to our partner companies that a general partner of a partnership would have.  

In the information technology industry, certain terms are often used to describe the nature of a company’s business, including the following 
terms: internet company, business to business e-commerce, business to consumer e-commerce, software company, on-demand internet software, 
on-demand software, software as a service, application service provider, outsourcing, procurement services and supply chain. These terms apply, 
in varying degrees, to most of our partner companies. Our partner companies also typically provide customers with systems integration 
consulting services or stand alone services. For convenience throughout this Report, we generally refer to our partner companies’ businesses as 
software and services.  

ITEM 1. Business  

Business Overview  

Internet Capital Group, Inc. (“ICG” or the “Company”) owns and builds Internet software and services companies that drive business 
productivity and reduce transaction costs between firms. ICG was formed on March 4, 1996 and is headquartered in Wayne, Pennsylvania. We 
view the Company as primarily having two components: Corporate and our partner companies. Corporate primarily holds the cash, short-term 
investments, marketable securities, our ownership interests in our partner companies and convertible notes which are due in April 2009. Our 
partner companies are grouped into two operating segments consisting of the Core segment and the Other Holdings segment. The Core operating 
segment includes those partner companies in which the Company’s management takes a very active role in providing strategic direction and 
management assistance (our “Core” companies). ICG devotes its expertise and capital to maximizing the success of these Core companies that 
are delivering software and service applications to customers worldwide. The Other Holdings operating segment includes holdings in companies 
where, in general, we provide less operational support, we do not have a controlling ownership stake and the partner company is managed to 
provide the greatest near-term stockholder value. As of December 31, 2005, our partner company network is made up of 20 companies in which 
we own interests.  

The current market environment creates a substantial opportunity for providers of software and services that improve sales results, reduce costs 
and increase efficiencies by streamlining business processes both within an enterprise and across the value chain. An increasing number of large 
enterprises are focusing on their core competencies to drive differentiation and competitive advantage for their firms. This means that these 
enterprises are looking for ways to outsource non-core or non-strategic processes that cost time and money and distract them from their top 
priorities of achieving profitability, growing market share and delivering new products or services. Our partner companies deliver software and 
services to help businesses focus on their core competencies.  

With a sharp focus on those Core companies that we believe have the greatest potential to generate value for ICG stockholders our operating 
strategy is to build and develop our partner companies by providing them with both human and financial resources. This support leverages the 
collective knowledge and best practices both within ICG and across our network of partner companies. We use these collective resources to 
actively support the business strategies, operations and management teams of our partner companies. Our resources include the experience, 
industry relationships and specific expertise of our management team, our partner companies’ management teams and our Board of Directors.  

The Company recently began focusing on identifying potential acquisitions of stakes in new partner companies following a period of years 
marked by the need to reduce costs and debt. Our goal is to acquire software companies that deliver on-demand applications through the internet 
and which automate a complex  
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workflow process and deliver a comprehensive solution comprising software, content data and transaction capabilities. Some of these companies 
will have the potential to develop into an ecosystem whereby the growth in users improves the value to all customers. From a financial 
standpoint, we generally are targeting companies that have recurring customer revenue models under multi-year contracts with a relatively high 
proportion of costs being fixed.  

Industry Overview  

The internet’s growth creates substantial market opportunities for companies that provide software and services to help traditional businesses 
attract customers and increase efficiency and cost savings by leveraging the internet and other technologies. Historically, e-commerce has 
occurred through electronic data interchange over proprietary networks, which are costly and available only to a limited number of participants. 
The internet provides an open platform with common communication protocols to build efficient, cost-effective networks that facilitate e-
commerce.  

During 2004 and 2005, the e-commerce market continued a period of development and growth as enterprises of all sizes and across all industries 
looked for vehicles to help them:  

Expand access to new and existing customers and suppliers  

Traditional businesses have relied on their sales forces and purchasing departments to develop and maintain customer and supplier relationships. 
This model is constrained by the time and cost required to exchange current information regarding requirements, prices and product availability, 
and the difficulty of cost-effectively locating new customers and suppliers and managing existing relationships. Traditional businesses can 
leverage the internet to obtain and communicate real-time, accurate information regarding requirements, prices and products to a global 
audience, including suppliers, customers and business partners. This should make it easier for businesses to attract new customers and suppliers, 
improve service and increase revenue.  

Increase efficiency and reduce cost  

Traditional businesses are utilizing the internet to automate their internal operations, including manufacturing, finance, sales and purchasing 
functions. The internet is also used to increase information flow and access throughout the value chain. This increases operational efficiency by 
reducing the time, costs and resources required to transact business, lowering inventory levels and procurement costs and improving 
responsiveness to customers and suppliers. Additionally, the internet has created high levels of price and cost transparency for customers. As a 
result, companies are being forced to become more efficient and to reduce their cost structures. Challenging market conditions only served to 
increase the need for companies to reduce bottom line costs and increase operational efficiencies to support growth.  

Focus on core competencies and outsource non-core, non-strategic processes  

There are an increasing number of large enterprises focusing on their core competencies to drive differentiation and competitive advantage for 
their firms. This means that they are looking for ways to outsource non-core, or non-strategic, processes that cost time and money, and more 
importantly distract them from their top priorities, which are to grow market share and deliver new products or services. In some cases, this 
outsourcing will be to labor based firms who provide deep expertise, and in some cases, the outsourcing will be to technology intensive firms 
that provide a platform to automate a function.  

We believe that the benefits of e-commerce are broad and will be realized by businesses in times of economic growth or contraction, because e-
commerce can be used to build top line revenues in times of growth and new levels of efficiency in times of contraction.  
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Our Solution and Strategy  

Our goal is to become a leader in information technology by owning significant stakes in leading companies that deliver the savings and 
efficiency of the internet to businesses of all sizes across all industries.  

With a sharp focus on those companies that we believe offer the greatest potential to generate value for ICG stockholders, our operating strategy 
is to build and develop our partner companies by providing them with both human and financial resources. This support leverages the collective 
knowledge and best practices both within ICG and across our network of partner companies. We use these collective resources to actively 
support the business strategies, operations and management teams of our partner companies. Our resources include the experience, industry 
relationships and specific expertise of our management team, our partner companies’ management teams and our Board of Directors.  

Although ICG’s mission of building leading companies has remained constant since its inception, the Company’s focus and operational tenets 
have evolved with the growth of the e-commerce market and in response to changes within the overall business environment. This evolution 
included:  

Identifying key markets and owning stakes in potential leaders  

Our expertise in the e-commerce market has allowed us to identify companies that we believe are positioned to succeed. In building our partner 
company network, we applied an analysis that capitalized on this competitive advantage. We were very active in acquiring new companies 
during 1999 and 2000, bringing the partner company network composition to an all-time high of 80 companies by late 2000. In evaluating 
whether to enter a market or acquire a stake in a specific company, we weighed each opportunity in terms of several industry and company 
factors. With regards to industry criteria, we evaluated the inefficiencies within each market, its competitive landscape and the potential each 
market had in terms of the number and dollar value of transactions it would be able to support. In measuring the potential of each partner 
company, we looked at market position and share, our ability to own a significant stake and the company’s potential to contribute to the 
network’s value in terms of operational resources and the quality of its management team.  

After we identified an attractive potential partner company, we negotiated the acquisition of a significant interest in the company. As a condition 
to an acquisition, we generally required representation on the company’s board of directors to ensure our ability to provide active guidance to the 
partner company. We structured acquisitions to permit the partner company’s management and key personnel to retain an equity stake in the 
company. During our negotiations with potential partner companies we emphasized the value of our network and resources, which we believe 
gave us a competitive advantage over other acquirers in successfully consummating transactions.  

In late 2000, we reallocated our capital resources as described below to focus on those partner companies that we believed presented the greatest 
potential for ICG stockholders. Due to this increased focus on certain existing partner companies, through 2004 we decreased our focus on new 
acquisitions. During 2005, in light of our improved financial position, we commenced seeking new acquisitions and acquired an interest in a new 
partner company.  

After acquiring interests in partner companies, we selectively continue to participate in their follow-on financings and selectively increase our 
ownership positions.  
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•   Identifying key markets and owning stakes in potential leaders in e-commerce; 
  

•   Aggregating companies into a network to share knowledge and promote growth; and 
  

•   Prioritizing resources to accelerate development of those partner companies that we believe are the most likely to create value for our 
stockholders. 
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Aggregating companies into a network to promote growth  

ICG has acquired interests in numerous partner companies, and as we make acquisitions, we immediately take an active role in the partner 
companies by providing both strategic guidance and operational support:  

Strategic Guidance . We provide strategic guidance to our partner companies regarding market positioning, business model development and 
market trends. Our focus on the e-commerce market and the knowledge base of our partner companies, management and our Board of Directors 
gives us valuable experience that we share with our partner companies.  

Operational Support . We provide operational support to our partner companies in the areas of finance, sales and marketing, business 
development and human resources. The majority of our partner companies have an assigned operations and finance team. This team advises our 
partner companies’ management on day-to-day management and operational issues.  

Exchange of Best Practices and Economies of Scale. One of the principal goals of our network is to promote best practices and economies of 
scale among our partner companies. We promote and facilitate the information flow among our partner companies and as they follow similar 
business cycles and challenges, key learnings are leveraged to increase operational efficiencies, accelerate decision-making and promote growth. 
Importantly, the challenging economic environment has had a significant effect on most of our partner companies. The benefits of a network 
effect have enabled many of these companies to leverage strategies implemented by some companies to cut costs and evolve business models to 
quickly respond to common challenges.  

Prioritize resources to accelerate development of most promising companies  

Based on our active involvement in the e-commerce market since 1996, we believe that our expertise allows us to identify companies that are 
positioned to succeed. This enables the prioritization of our resources to accelerate the development of partner companies we believe offer the 
greatest value for our stockholders over the long-term. We intend to continue to focus on our private partner companies that we believe have the 
greatest long-term value potential, which we refer to as our private Core partner companies. These private Core partner companies primarily 
deliver a wide array of software and services to help customers streamline and automate business processes with the goal of reducing costs and 
increasing efficiencies both within the four walls of the enterprise and across their individual value chains. However, this categorization does not 
necessarily imply that every one of our private Core partner companies is a de facto success at this time. Rather, it captures those companies that 
are receiving the majority of management’s time and resources as we consider them our most promising.  

At December 31, 2005 our consolidated Core partner companies consisted of:  

ICG Commerce Holdings, Inc. (“ICG Commerce”)  

ICG Commerce is a procurement services provider delivering total procurement cost savings through a combination of deep expertise and hosted 
technology. ICG Commerce provides a comprehensive range of solutions to help companies identify savings through sourcing, realize savings 
through implementation of purchase-to-pay automation and drive continuous improvements through ongoing category management.  
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Investor Force Holdings, Inc. (“Investor Force”)  

Investor Force is a software technology company specializing in the delivery of revenue and efficiency generating business solutions to the 
institutional investment community. Investor Force serves a broad array of institutional investment clients, including money managers, 
consultants, plan sponsors and institutional investors. By eliminating manual, time-consuming tasks and providing greater portfolio insight, 
Investor Force helps firms serve its institutional clients faster and with greater intelligence and productivity.  

StarCite, Inc. (“StarCite”)  

StarCite provides a comprehensive suite of software applications and services to the meeting and events industry. StarCite helps drive 
efficiencies and cost savings to both corporate buyers and suppliers. More than 400 corporate, association and third-party meeting buyers rely on 
StarCite’s Enterprise Meeting Solutions for workflow, procurement, supply chain management, spend analysis and attendee management. 
Thousands of industry suppliers rely on the StarCite Online Marketplace, supplier marketing programs and enabling technologies to increase 
meeting revenues. StarCite’s international division represents destination management companies and other premier international travel suppliers 
using both technology and traditional means.  

At December 31, 2005 our equity Core partner companies consisted of:  

CreditTrade Inc. (“CreditTrade”)  

CreditTrade provides transaction, data and information services to the credit markets. CreditTrade is a broker specializing in credit default swaps 
and secondary loans.  

Freeborders, Inc. (“Freeborders”)  

Freeborders is a provider of technology solutions and outsourcing from China. Freeborders also provides product lifecycle management software 
and services to leading retailers and their suppliers, enabling brands to more effectively manage the increasing complexity of their supply chains. 
Freeborders solutions help drive profitable revenue growth, speed products to market, improve inventory management, and maintain control, 
consistency and quality.  

Marketron International, Inc. (“Marketron”)  

Marketron is a provider of broadcast management solutions for the radio, TV and cable industries. Marketron’s fully integrated suite of sales, 
traffic, finance and business intelligence solutions automates workflow from proposal to billing, enabling groups to optimize inventory and 
increase revenues.  

Metastorm Inc. (“Metastorm”)  

Metastorm is an enterprise software and service provider that enables its customers to turn business strategies into business processes by fully 
integrating the work that people do with software systems that optimize business performance. Metastorm delivers a complete set of scalable 
business process management solutions that leverage existing IT investments to unite people, processes and technology in a service-based 
architecture.  
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Qcorps Residential, Inc. (d/b/a WhiteFence) (“WhiteFence”)  

WhiteFence is a web services provider used by household consumers to compare and purchase essential home services such as electricity, 
natural gas, telephone and cable/satellite television. WhiteFence reaches customers directly through company-owned web sites and through its 
network of exclusive channel partners who integrate the web services application within their own business processes and web sites.  

Concentration of Customer Base and Credit Risk  

Approximately 13% of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2005 related to a single customer of ICG Commerce. Accounts receivable 
from this customer were $1.1 million at December 31, 2005.  

Approximately 21% of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003 related to a single customer of ICG Commerce. This customer 
terminated its arrangement to purchase services from ICG Commerce effective January 1, 2004.  

Competition  

Competition Facing our Partner Companies  

Competition for information technology and internet products and services is intense. As the market for e-commerce grows, we expect that 
competition will continue to intensify. Barriers to entry are minimal and competitors can offer products and services at a relatively low cost. Our 
partner companies compete for a share of a customer’s:  

Many companies offer competitive solutions that compete with one or more of our partner companies. We expect that additional companies will 
offer competing solutions on a stand-alone or combined basis in the future. Furthermore, our partner companies’ competitors may develop 
information technology and internet products or services that are superior to, or have greater market acceptance than, the solutions offered by our 
partner companies. Many of our partner companies’ competitors have greater brand recognition and greater financial, marketing and other 
resources than our partner companies. This may place our partner companies at a disadvantage in responding to their competitors’ pricing 
strategies, technological advances, advertising campaigns, strategic partnerships and other initiatives.  

If our partner companies are unable to compete successfully against their competitors, our partner companies may fail.  

Competition From Within our Network  

We may compete with some of our partner companies for internet-related opportunities. We may compete with our partner companies to acquire 
interests in e-commerce companies and our partner companies may compete with each other for e-commerce opportunities. This competition 
may deter companies from partnering with us and may limit our business opportunities.  

Employees  

Our corporate headcount as of March 6, 2006 is 22. Headcount at our consolidated partner companies as of March 6, 2006 is 371. Although we 
believe our and our consolidated partner companies current staffing levels are adequate to conduct business, we cannot ensure that we and our 
consolidated partner companies will not need to increase headcount in the future.  
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  •   purchasing budget for technology solutions, services, materials and supplies with other similar providers and traditional distribution 
channels; and 

  

  •   dollars spent on consulting services with many established information systems and management consulting firms. 
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Financial Information About Segments and Geographic Areas  

Segment and geographic area information is set forth in Note 8 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 below and 
incorporated herein by reference.  

Availability of Reports and Other Information  

Our internet website address is www.internetcapital.com. Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on 
Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports filed by us with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are accessible free of charge through our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we 
electronically file those documents with, or otherwise furnish them to, the Securities and Exchange Commission.  

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors  

Our business involves a number of risks, some of which are beyond our control. You should carefully consider each of the risks and uncertainties 
we describe below and all of the other information in this Report before deciding to invest in our shares. The risks and uncertainties we describe 
below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we do not currently know or that we currently believe to be 
immaterial may also adversely affect our business.  

If general economic conditions are unfavorable our partner companies may be unable to attract or retain customers and our ability to grow 
our business may be adversely affected.  

Numerous external forces, including fear of terrorism, hostilities in the Middle East involving United States armed forces, lack of consumer 
confidence and interest rate or currency rate fluctuations, could affect the economy. If the economy is unfavorable, our partner companies’ 
customers and potential customers may be unwilling to spend money on technology-related goods or services. If our partner companies are 
unable to attract new customers or retain existing customers, our ability to grow our business will be adversely affected.  

We may not be able to deploy capital effectively and on acceptable terms.  

Our strategy includes effectively deploying capital by acquiring interests in new partner companies. We may not be able to identify attractive 
acquisition candidates that fit our strategy and, even if we are able to identify such candidates, we may not be able to reach agreement with 
potential acquisition candidates to acquire an interest in such companies on acceptable terms.  

Our stock price has been volatile in the past and may continue to be volatile in the future.  

Our stock price has historically been volatile. Stock prices of technology companies have generally been volatile as well. This volatility may 
continue in the future.  

The following factors, among others, may add to our common stock price’s volatility:  
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  •   general economic conditions, such as a recession or interest rate or currency rate fluctuations, and the reluctance of enterprises to 
increase spending on new technologies; 

  

  •   actual or anticipated variations in our quarterly results and those of our partner companies; 
  

  •   changes in the market valuations of our partner companies and other technology and internet companies; 
  

  •   conditions or trends in the information technology and e-commerce industries; 
  

  •   negative public perception of the prospects of information technology companies; 
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Many of these factors are beyond our control. These factors may decrease the market price of our common stock, regardless of our operating 
performance.  

Fluctuations in our quarterly results may adversely affect our stock price.  

We expect that our quarterly results will fluctuate significantly due to many factors, including:  

If our operating results in one or more quarters do not meet securities analysts’ or investors’ expectations, the price of our common stock could 
decrease.  

Approximately 4.1 million shares of our common stock could be sold in the public market in connection with the conversion of our senior 
convertible debt, and future sales of our common stock, or the perception that such future sales may occur, may cause our stock price to 
decline.  

Approximately 4.1 million shares of our common stock could be sold into the public market if the holders of our senior convertible notes due 
April 2009 elect to convert such notes. The notes are convertible at the option of the holder at any time on or before maturity into shares of our 
common stock at a conversion price of $9.108 per share. The sale of a large number of shares of our common stock, or the perception that such 
sales could occur, could materially and adversely affect the market price of our common stock and could impair our ability to obtain capital 
through an offering of equity securities.  
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  •   changes in our financial estimates and those of our partner companies by securities analysts; 
  

  •   new products or services offered by us, our partner companies and their competitors; 
  

  •   announcements by our partner companies and their competitors of technological innovations; 
  

  •   announcements by us or our partner companies or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships or joint ventures; 
  

  •   additional sales of our securities; 
  

  •   additions to or departures of our key personnel or key personnel of our partner companies; and 
  

  •   our debt obligations. 

  •   the operating results of our partner companies; 
  

  •   significant fluctuations in the financial results of information technology and e-commerce companies generally; 
  

  •   changes in equity losses or income; 
  

  •   the acquisition or divestiture of interests in partner companies; 
  

  •   changes in our methods of accounting for our partner company interests, which may result from changes in our ownership percentages 
of our partner companies; 

  

  •   sales of equity securities by our partner companies, which could cause us to recognize gains or losses under applicable accounting 
rules; 

  

  •   the pace of development or a decline in growth of the information technology and e-commerce markets; 
  

  •   competition for the goods and services offered by our partner companies; and 
  

  •   our ability to effectively manage our growth and the growth of our partner companies. 
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Fluctuation in the price of the common stock of our publicly-traded partner companies may affect the price of our common stock.  

Currently, Blackboard, Inc. (“Blackboard”), GoIndustry plc (“GoIndustry”) and Traffic.com, Inc. (“Traffic.com”) are our publicly-traded partner 
companies. Fluctuations in the price of Blackboard’s, GoIndustry’s and Traffic.com’s and other future publicly-traded partner companies’ 
common stock are likely to affect the price of our common stock. The price of our publicly-traded partner companies common stock has been 
highly volatile. As of December 31, 2005, the market value of the Company’s interest in our one publicly-traded partner company as of such 
date (Blackboard) was $63.4 million. The results of operations, and accordingly the price of the common stock, of Blackboard and Traffic.com 
may be adversely affected by the risk factors in its SEC filings, which are publicly available at www.sec.gov.  

Our business depends upon the performance of our partner companies, which is uncertain.  

If our partner companies do not succeed, the value of our assets and the price of our common stock may decline. Economic, governmental, 
industry and company factors outside our control affect each of our partner companies. The material risks relating to our partner companies 
include:  

Of our $346.5 million in total assets as of December 31, 2005, $71.5 million, or 20.6%, consisted of ownership interests in our private partner 
companies accounted for under the equity and cost methods of accounting. The carrying value of our partner company ownership interests 
includes our original acquisition cost, the effect of accounting for certain of our partner companies under the equity method of accounting and 
the effect of impairment charges recorded for the decrease in value of certain partner companies. The carrying value of our partner companies 
will be impaired and decrease if one or more of our partner companies do not succeed. This decline would likely affect the price of our common 
stock. As of December 31, 2005, the value of our one publicly-traded partner company as of such date (Blackboard) was $63.4 million and 
reflected as “Marketable Securities” in our Consolidated Financial Statements. A decline in the market value of our publicly-traded partner 
companies will likely cause a decline in the price of our common stock.  

The success of our partner companies depends on the development of the e-commerce market, which is uncertain.  

Most of our partner companies rely on e-commerce markets for the success of their businesses. If widespread commercial use of the internet 
does not develop, or if the internet does not develop as an effective medium for providing products and services, our partner companies may not 
succeed.  
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  •   fluctuations in the market price of the common stock of Blackboard, GoIndustry and Traffic.com, our publicly-traded partner 
companies, which are likely to affect the price of our common stock; 

  

  •   many of our partner companies have limited operating histories, have not yet attained significant revenues and are operating at or near 
break-even and may not achieve profitability in the future; 

  

  •   lack of the widespread commercial use of the internet, decreased spending on information technology software and services and 
elongated sales cycles which may prevent our partner companies from succeeding; 

  

  •   intensifying competition for the products and services our partner companies offer, which could lead to the failure of some of our 
partner companies; and 

  

  •   the inability of our partner companies to secure additional financing, which may force some of our partner companies to cease or scale 
back operations. 
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A number of factors could prevent widespread market acceptance of e-commerce, including the following:  

The companies that we have identified as Core partner companies may not succeed.  

We have identified certain partner companies that we believe offer the greatest long-term value proposition as Core partner companies. We 
cannot ensure that the companies we have identified as Core partner companies are those that actually have the greatest long-term value 
proposition or are those to which we will continue to allocate capital. Although we have identified certain of our partner companies as Core 
partner companies, this categorization does not necessarily imply that every one of our Core partner companies is a success at this time or will 
become successful in the future. There is no guarantee that a Core partner company will remain categorized as Core or that it will be able to 
successfully continue operations.  

We have had a general history of losses and expect continued losses in the foreseeable future.  

We have had significant operating losses and, excluding the effect of any future non-operating gains, such as from the sale of partner companies, 
we expect to continue incurring operating losses in the future. As a result, we may not have sufficient resources to expand or maintain our 
operations in the future. We can give no assurances as to when or whether we will achieve profitability, and if we ever have profits, we may not 
be able to sustain them.  

Certain of our partner companies have a limited operating history and may never be profitable.  

Certain of our partner companies are early-stage companies with limited operating histories, have significant historical losses and may never be 
profitable. Many of these companies have incurred substantial costs to develop and market their products and expand operations, have incurred 
net losses and cannot fund their cash needs from operations. Operating expenses of these companies could increase in the foreseeable future as 
they continue to develop products, increase sales and marketing efforts and expand operations.  

Even if a number of our partner companies achieve profitability, we may not be able to extract cash from such companies, which could have 
a negative impact on our operations.  

One of our goals is to help our partner companies achieve profitability. Even if a number of our partner companies do meet such goal, we may 
not be able to access cash generated by such partner companies to fund our own operations, which could have a negative impact on our 
operations.  
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  •   the unwillingness of businesses to shift from traditional processes to e-commerce processes; 
  

  •   the network necessary for enabling substantial growth in usage of e-commerce may not be adequately developed; 
  

  •   increased government regulation or taxation, which may adversely affect the viability of e-commerce; 
  

  •   insufficient availability of telecommunication services or changes in telecommunication services which could result in slower response 
times for the users of e-commerce; and 

  

  •   concern and adverse publicity about the security of e-commerce transactions. 
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Our partner companies may not be able to successfully compete.  

If our partner companies are unable to compete successfully against their competitors, our partner companies may fail. Competition for 
information technology and e-commerce products and services is intense. As the markets for information technology and e-commerce grow, we 
expect that competition will intensify. Barriers to entry are minimal and competitors can offer products and services at a relatively low cost. Our 
partner companies compete for a share of a customer’s:  

In addition, some of our partner companies compete to attract and retain a critical mass of buyers and sellers. Many companies offer competitive 
solutions that compete with one or more of our partner companies. We expect that additional companies will offer competing solutions on a 
stand-alone or combined basis in the future. Furthermore, our partner companies’ competitors may develop products or services that are superior 
to, or have greater market acceptance than, the solutions offered by our partner companies.  

Many of our partner companies’ competitors have greater brand recognition and greater financial, marketing and other resources than our partner 
companies. This may place our partner companies at a disadvantage in responding to their competitors’ pricing strategies, technological 
advances, advertising campaigns, strategic partnerships and other initiatives.  

Our partner companies may fail to retain significant customers.  

During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2003, approximately 13% and 21%, respectively, of our consolidated revenue relates to single 
customers. If our partner companies are not able to retain significant customers, such partner companies and our results of operation and 
financial position could be adversely affected.  

The inability of our partner companies’ customers to pay their obligations to them in a timely manner, if at all, could have an adverse effect 
on our partner companies.  

Some of the customers of our partner companies may have inadequate financial resources to meet all their obligations. If one or more significant 
customers are unable to pay amounts owed to a partner company, such partner company’s results of operations and financial condition could be 
adversely affected.  

When we divest partner company interests, we may be unable to obtain maximum value for such interests.  

When we divest all or part of an interest in a partner company, we may not receive maximum value for our position. We may divest our interests 
in partner companies to generate cash or for strategic reasons. For partner companies with publicly-traded stock, we may be unable to sell our 
interest at then-quoted market prices. Because we hold significant stakes of restricted securities in thinly-traded public companies, we may have 
difficulty selling our interest in such companies and, if we are able to sell our shares, such sales may be subject to volume limitations. 
Furthermore, for those partner companies that do not have publicly-traded stock, the realizable value of our interests may ultimately prove to be 
lower than the carrying value currently reflected in our Consolidated Financial Statements. We continually evaluate the carrying value of our 
ownership interests in and advances to each of our partner companies for possible impairment based on achievement of business plan objectives 
and milestones, the value of each ownership interest in the partner company relative to carrying value, the financial condition and prospects of 
the partner company and other relevant factors. We cannot guarantee that we will receive maximum value in connection with the disposition of 
our stakes in partner companies. Additionally, we may be unable to find buyers for certain of our assets, which could adversely affect our 
business.  
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  •   purchasing budget for information technology and services, materials and supplies with other online providers and traditional distribution 
channels; and 

  

  •   dollars spent on consulting services with many established information systems and management consulting firms. 
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We may not be able to increase our ownership stakes in select partner companies.  

One of our goals is to increase our ownership in a small group of companies that we believe have major growth opportunities. We may not be 
able to achieve this goal because of limited resources and/or the unwillingness of other stockholders of such companies to enter into a transaction 
that would result in an increase in our ownership stake.  

We may have to buy, sell or retain assets when we would otherwise choose not to in order to avoid registration under the Investment 
Company Act, which would impact our investment strategy.  

We believe that we are actively engaged in the businesses of information technology and e-commerce through our network of subsidiaries and 
companies that we are considered to “control.” Under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Company Act”), a 
company is considered to control another company if it owns more than 25% of that company’s voting securities and is the largest stockholder of 
such company. A company may be required to register as an investment company if more than 45% of its total assets consist of, and more than 
45% of its income/loss and revenue attributable to it over the last four quarters is derived from, ownership interests in companies that it does not 
control. Because many of our partner companies are not majority-owned subsidiaries, and because we own 25% or less of the voting securities of 
a number of our partner companies, changes in the value of our interests in our partner companies and the income/loss and revenue attributable 
to our partner companies could subject us to regulation under the Investment Company Act unless we take precautionary steps. For example, in 
order to avoid having excessive income from “non-controlled” interests, we may not sell minority interests we would otherwise want to sell or 
we may have to generate non-investment income by selling interests in partner companies that we are considered to control. We may also need 
to ensure that we retain more than 25% ownership interests in our partner companies after any equity offerings. In addition, we may have to 
acquire additional income or loss generating majority-owned or controlled interests that we might not otherwise have acquired or may not be 
able to acquire “non-controlling” interests in companies that we would otherwise want to acquire. It is not feasible for us to be regulated as an 
investment company because the Investment Company Act rules are inconsistent with our strategy of actively managing, operating and 
promoting collaboration among our network of partner companies. On August 23, 1999, the SEC granted our request for an exemption under 
Section 3(b)(2) of the Investment Company Act declaring us to be primarily engaged in a business other than that of investing, reinvesting, 
owning, holding or trading in securities. This exemptive order reduces, but it does not eliminate, the risk that we may have to take action to avoid 
registration as an investment company.  

Our accounting estimates with respect to the ultimate recoverability of our basis in our partner companies could change materially in the 
near term.  

Our accounting estimates with respect to the useful life and ultimate recoverability of our carrying basis, including goodwill, in our partner 
companies could change in the near term and the effect of such changes on the financial statements could be significant. In the first quarter of 
2000, we announced several significant acquisitions that were financed principally with shares of our stock and based on the price of our stock at 
that time, that were valued in excess of $1.0 billion. Based on our periodic review of our partner company holdings, we have recorded 
cumulative impairment charges of $1.7 billion to write off certain partner company holdings, primarily in 2000, 2001 and 2002. As of 
December 31, 2005, our recorded amount of carrying basis including goodwill is not impaired, although we cannot assure that our future results 
will confirm this assessment. We performed our latest annual impairment test during the fourth quarter of 2005 and we will perform our next 
annual impairment test in the fourth quarter of 2006. In October 2005, in conjunction with the CommerceQuest and Metastorm merger, we 
reevaluated our carrying value of CommerceQuest goodwill as of September 30, 2005 and recorded a goodwill impairment charge of 
$1.8 million and a $0.9 million intangible asset charge related to CommerceQuest for the three months ended September 30, 2005. It is possible 
that a significant write-down or write-off of partner company carrying basis, including goodwill, may be required in the future, or that a 
significant loss will be recorded in the future upon the sale of a partner company. A write-down or write-off of this type could cause a decline in 
the price of our common stock.  
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The loss of any of our or our partner companies’ executive officers or other key personnel or our or our partner companies’ inability to 
attract additional key personnel could disrupt our business and operations.  

If one or more of our executive officers or key personnel, or our partner companies’ executive officers or key personnel were unable or unwilling 
to continue in their present positions, or if we or our partner companies were unable to hire qualified personnel, our business and operations 
could be disrupted and our operating results and financial condition could be seriously harmed. The success of some of our partner companies 
also depends on their having highly trained technical and marketing personnel. A shortage in the number of trained technical and marketing 
personnel could limit the ability of our partner companies to increase sales of their existing products and services and launch new product 
offerings.  

Our partner companies could make business decisions that are not in our best interests or that we do not agree with, which could impair the 
value of our partner company interests.  

Although we generally seek a significant equity interest and participation in the management of our partner companies, we may not be able to 
control significant business decisions of our partner companies. In addition, although we currently own a controlling interest in several of our 
partner companies, we may not maintain this controlling interest. Equity interests in partner companies in which we lack control or share control 
involve additional risks that could cause the performance of our interest and our operating results to suffer, including the management of a 
partner company having economic or business interests or objectives that are different from ours and partner companies not taking our advice 
with respect to the financial or operating difficulties that they may encounter.  

Our inability to prevent dilution of our ownership interests in our partner companies or our inability to otherwise have a controlling influence 
over the management and operations of our partner companies could have an adverse impact on our status under the Investment Company Act. 
Our inability to adequately control our partner companies could also prevent us from assisting them, or could prevent us from liquidating our 
interest in them at a time or at a price that is favorable to us. Additionally, our partner companies may not collaborate with each other or act in 
ways that are consistent with our business strategy. These factors could hamper our ability to capture value on our interests and cause us to 
recognize losses on our interests in partner companies.  

Our stakes in some partner companies have been and are likely to be diluted, which could materially reduce the value of our stake in such 
partner companies.  

Since we allocate our financial resources to certain partner companies, our ownership interests in other partner companies have been and are 
likely to continue to be diluted due to our decision not to participate in financings. Additionally, in connection with new rounds of financing, our 
partner companies may create liquidation preferences that are senior to existing preferences. If we do not participate in these rounds, our rights to 
receive preferences upon a sale of the Company may be diminished at certain valuations. This dilution and the creation of senior liquidation 
preferences could result in a reduction in the value of our stakes in such partner companies.  

Our outstanding indebtedness could negatively impact our future prospects.  

In April 2004, we issued $60.0 million of senior convertible notes due in April 2009, $37.0 million of which is currently outstanding and was 
outstanding at December 31, 2005. This indebtedness may make it more difficult to obtain additional financing and may inhibit our ability to 
pursue needed or favorable opportunities.  
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We may compete with some of our partner companies, and our partner companies may compete with each other, which could deter 
companies from partnering with us and may limit future business opportunities.  

We may compete with our partner companies to acquire interests in information technology and e-commerce companies and our partner 
companies may compete with each other for information technology e-commerce opportunities. This competition may deter companies from 
partnering with us and may limit our business opportunities.  

We have implemented certain anti-takeover provisions that could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us.  

Provisions of our amended certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could make it more difficult for a third 
party to acquire us, even if doing so would be beneficial to our stockholders. Our amended certificate of incorporation provides that our board of 
directors may issue preferred stock without stockholder approval and also provides for a staggered board of directors. We are subject to the 
provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which restricts certain business combinations with interested stockholders. 
Additionally, we have a Rights Agreement which has the effect of discouraging any person or group from beneficially owning more than 15% of 
our outstanding common stock unless our board has amended the plan or redeemed the rights. The combination of these provisions may inhibit a 
non-negotiated merger or other business combination.  

Some of our partner companies may be unable to protect their proprietary rights and may infringe on the proprietary rights of others.  

The complexity of international trade secret, copyright, trademark and patent law, coupled with the limited resources of our partner companies 
and the demands of quick delivery of products and services to market, create the risk that our partner companies will be unable to protect their 
proprietary rights. Further, the nature of internet business demands that considerable detail about their innovative processes and techniques be 
exposed to competitors, because it must be presented on the websites in order to attract clients. Some of our partner companies also license 
content from third parties, and it is possible that they could become subject to infringement actions based upon the content licensed from those 
third parties. Our partner companies generally obtain representations as to the origin and ownership of such licensed content. However, these 
representations may not adequately protect them. Any claims against our partner companies’ proprietary rights, with or without merit, could 
subject our partner companies to costly litigation and the diversion of their technical and management personnel. If our partner companies incur 
costly litigation and their personnel are not effectively deployed, the expenses and losses incurred by our partner companies will increase and 
their profits, if any, will decrease.  

Government regulation of the internet and e-commerce may harm our partner companies’ businesses.  

Government regulation of the internet and e-commerce is evolving and unfavorable changes could harm our partner companies’ respective 
businesses. Our partner companies are subject to general business regulations and laws specifically governing the internet and e-commerce. Such 
existing and future laws and regulations may impede the growth of the internet or other online services. These regulations and laws may cover 
taxation, user privacy, pricing content, copyrights, distribution, electronic contracts, consumer protection, the provision of online payment 
services, broadband residential internet access and the characteristics and quality of products and services. It is not clear how existing laws 
governing issues such as property ownership, sales and other taxes, libel and personal privacy apply to the internet and e-commerce. Unfavorable 
resolution of these issues may harm our partner companies’ business.  
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Our partner companies that publish or distribute content over the internet may be subject to legal liability.  

Some of our partner companies may be subject to legal claims relating to the content on their websites, or the downloading and distribution of 
this content. Claims could involve matters such as defamation, invasion of privacy and copyright infringement. Providers of internet products 
and services have been sued in the past, sometimes successfully, based on the content of material. In addition, some of the content provided by 
our partner companies on their websites is drawn from data compiled by other parties, including governmental and commercial sources. The data 
may have errors. If any of our partner companies’ website content is improperly used or if any of our partner companies supply incorrect 
information, it could result in unexpected liability. Any of our partner companies that incur this type of unexpected liability may not have 
insurance to cover the claim or its insurance may not provide sufficient coverage. If our partner companies incur substantial cost because of this 
type of unexpected liability, the expenses incurred by our partner companies will increase and their profits, if any, will decrease.  

Our partner companies’ computer and communications systems may fail, which may discourage parties from using our partner companies’ 
systems.  

Some of our partner companies’ businesses depend on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of their computer and communications hardware 
systems. Any system interruptions that cause our partner companies’ websites to be unavailable to web browsers may reduce the attractiveness 
of our partner companies’ websites to third parties. If third parties are unwilling to use our partner companies’ websites, our business, financial 
condition and operating results could be adversely affected. Interruptions could result from natural disasters as well as power loss, 
telecommunications failure and similar events.  

Our partner companies’ businesses may be disrupted if they are unable to upgrade their systems to meet increased demand.  

Capacity limits on some of our partner companies’ technology, transaction processing systems and network hardware and software may be 
difficult to project and they may not be able to expand and upgrade their systems to meet increased use. As traffic on our partner companies’ 
websites continues to increase, they must expand and upgrade their technology, transaction processing systems and network hardware and 
software. Our partner companies may be unable to accurately project the rate of increase in use of their websites. In addition, our partner 
companies may not be able to expand and upgrade their systems and network hardware and software capabilities to accommodate increased use 
of their websites. If our partner companies are unable to appropriately upgrade their systems and network hardware and software, the operations 
and processes of our partner companies may be disrupted.  

Our partner companies may be unable to acquire or maintain easily identifiable website addresses or prevent third parties from acquiring 
website addresses similar to theirs.  

Some of our partner companies hold various website addresses relating to their brands. These partner companies may not be able to prevent third 
parties from acquiring website addresses that are similar to their addresses, which could adversely affect the use by businesses of our partner 
companies’ websites. In these instances, our partner companies may not grow as we expect. The acquisition and maintenance of website 
addresses generally is regulated by governmental agencies and their designees. The regulation of website addresses in the United States and in 
foreign countries is subject to change. As a result, our partner companies may not be able to acquire or maintain relevant website addresses in all 
countries where they conduct business. Furthermore, the relationship between regulations governing such addresses and laws protecting 
trademarks is unclear.  
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If public and private capital markets are not favorable for the information technology and e-commerce sectors, we may not be able to execute 
on our strategy.  

Our success depends on the acceptance by the public and private capital markets of information technology and e-commerce companies in 
general, including initial public offerings of those companies. The information technology and e-commerce markets have experienced significant 
volatility and the market for initial public offerings of information technology and e-commerce companies has experienced periods of weakness 
since 2000. If these markets are weak, we may not be able to create stockholder value by taking our partner companies public. In addition, 
reduced market interest in our industry may reduce the market value of our publicly-traded partner companies.  

Our operations and growth could be impaired by limitations on our and our partner companies’ ability to raise money.  

If the capital markets’ interest in our industry is depressed, our ability and the ability of our partner companies to grow and access the capital 
markets will be impaired. This may require us or our partner companies to take other actions, such as borrowing money on terms that may be 
unfavorable, or divesting of assets prematurely to raise capital. While we attempt to operate our business in such a manner so as to be 
independent from the capital markets, there is no assurance that we will be successful in doing so. Our partner companies are also dependent on 
the capital markets to raise capital for their own purposes.  

Because we have limited resources to dedicate to our partner companies, some of our partner companies may not be able to raise sufficient 
capital to sustain their operations.  

If our partner companies are not able to raise capital from other outside sources, then they may need to cease operations. Our allocation of 
resources to our partner companies is mostly discretionary. Because our resources and our ability to raise capital are limited, we may not commit 
to provide our partner companies with sufficient capital resources to allow them to reach a cash flow positive position. We allocate our resources 
to focus on those partner companies that we believe present the greatest potential to increase stockholder value. We cannot ensure that the 
companies we identified in this process are those that actually have the greatest value proposition. As a result of our limited resources, we will 
not allocate capital to all of our existing partner companies. Our decision to not provide additional capital support to some of our partner 
companies could have a material adverse impact on the operations of such partner companies.  

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments  

None.  

ITEM 2. Properties  

The location and general description of our properties as of March 6, 2006 are as follows:  

Corporate Offices  

Our corporate headquarters are located at 690 Lee Road, Suite 310 in an office facility located in Wayne, Pennsylvania, where we lease 
approximately 7,475 square feet.  

Partner Company Properties  

Our consolidated partner companies lease approximately 123,074 square feet of office, administrative, sales and marketing, operations and data 
center space, principally in California, Colorado, Georgia, Illinois, New York and Pennsylvania in the United States.  
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ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings  

In May and June 2001, certain of the Company’s present directors, along with the Company, certain of its former directors, certain of its present 
and former officers and its underwriters, were named as defendants in nine class action complaints filed in the United States District Court for 
the Southern District of New York. The plaintiffs and the alleged classes they seek to represent include present and former stockholders of the 
Company. The complaints generally allege violations of Sections 11 and 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, based on, among other things, the dissemination of statements allegedly containing material misstatements 
and/or omissions concerning the commissions received by the underwriters of the initial public offering and follow-on public offering of the 
Company as well as failure to disclose the existence of purported agreements by the underwriters with some of the purchasers in these offerings 
to buy additional shares of the Company’s stock subsequently in the open market at pre-determined prices above the initial offering prices. The 
plaintiffs seek for themselves and the alleged class members an award of damages and litigation costs and expenses. The claims in these cases 
have been consolidated for pre-trial purposes (together with claims against other issuers and underwriters) before one judge in the Southern 
District of New York federal court. In April 2002, a consolidated, amended complaint was filed against these defendants which generally alleges 
the same violations and also refers to alleged misstatements or omissions that relate to the recommendations regarding the Company’s stock by 
analysts employed by the underwriters. In June and July 2002, defendants, including the Company defendants, filed motions to dismiss 
plaintiffs’ complaints on numerous grounds. The Company’s motion was denied in its entirety in an opinion dated February 19, 2003. In 
July 2003, a committee of the Company’s Board of Directors approved a proposed settlement with the plaintiffs in this matter. The settlement 
would provide for, among other things, a release of the Company and of the individual defendants (who had been previously dismissed without 
prejudice) for the wrongful conduct alleged in the amended complaint. The Company would agree to undertake other responsibilities under the 
partial settlement, including agreeing to assign away, not assert, or release certain potential claims the Company may have against its 
underwriters. Any direct financial impact of the proposed settlement is expected to be borne by the Company’s insurers. The complete terms of 
the proposed settlement is on file with the Court. The Court overseeing the litigation granted preliminary approval of the settlement in 
February 2005 subject to a change in the terms to bar cross-claims by defendant underwriters for contribution, but not for indemnification or 
otherwise. The parties to the settlement have agreed on revised language to effectuate the changes regarding contribution/indemnification claims 
requested by the Court and such language has been accepted by the Court. A final fairness hearing on the settlement is set for April 24, 2006.  

On December 20, 2002, the Company was named as a defendant in an action filed in the United States District Court for the District of Maine. 
The plaintiffs include former stockholders of Animated Images, Inc. (“Animated Images”), one of the Company’s former partner companies. In 
addition to the Company, the complaint also named Freeborders, a current partner company, as a defendant, as well as four individual 
defendants, including former officers of the Company and former Animated Images and Freeborders directors. The complaint generally alleges 
violations of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 5(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, fraud, breach of contract, 
breach of fiduciary duty and civil conspiracy, among other claims, in connection with the merger of Animated Images into Freeborders. In 
support of these claims, the plaintiffs allege, among other things, that the defendants misrepresented the value of the stock of Freeborders, 
resulting in plaintiffs’ having received less consideration in the merger than that to which they believe they were entitled. In July 2003, the Court 
granted defendants’ motion to stay the litigation pending arbitration in California of plaintiffs’ claims against Freeborders. In an effort to avoid 
such arbitration, plaintiffs moved to dismiss Freeborders from the litigation in March 2004. The Court granted this motion and thereafter, 
plaintiffs filed a motion to compel arbitration of their claims against the Company and certain other defendants. The Court granted plaintiffs’ 
motion on October 1, 2004, and further ordered a stay of the plaintiffs’ non-arbitrable claims against two individual defendants. Plaintiffs 
dismissed their claims against one of the individual defendants, a former Animated Images director. The Company and one of the remaining 
individual defendants have asserted counterclaims in the arbitration. The plaintiffs and the defendants are in settlement discussions.  

On September 30, 2004, Verticalnet, Inc. (“Verticalnet”) and several of its former officers and directors, including an executive officer of the 
Company, were named as defendants in a complaint filed in the U.S.  

20  



Table of Contents  

District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania. The complaint alleges that in connection with the issuance of Verticalnet stock to 
plaintiff’s predecessors in interest pursuant to an acquisition, the plaintiff was damaged by the defendants’ delays in registering stock, updating 
the registration of stock, releasing stock from lock-ups and releasing stock from escrows. The defendants have filed a motion to dismiss the case. 
On January 26, 2006, the Court granted the motion to dismiss with respect to several of the defendants, including the Company’s executive 
officer.  

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders  

No matter was submitted to a vote of security holders, through the solicitation of proxies or otherwise, during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 
2005.  
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PART II  

ITEM 5. Market For Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities  

(a) Our common stock is currently traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “ICGE.” We transferred from the Nasdaq National 
Market to the Nasdaq SmallCap Market effective June 10, 2002 and transferred back to the Nasdaq National Market effective March 3, 2005. 
Our initial public offering of stock occurred on August 5, 1999 at $120.00 (post-split) per share on the Nasdaq National Market. In 
December 1999, the Company declared and paid a 100% stock dividend. In May 2004, the Company implemented a one-for-twenty reverse 
stock split. All share information in this Report reflects this dividend and this reverse stock split. The price range per share reflected in the table 
below is the highest and lowest sale price for our stock (post split) as reported by the Nasdaq National Market and the Nasdaq SmallCap Market 
during each quarterly period of our two most recent fiscal years.  

As of March 6, 2006, the last reported sale price for our common stock on the Nasdaq National Market was $9.06 per share.  

(b) Holders . As of February 28, 2006, there were approximately 1,310 holders of record of our common stock, although there is a much larger 
number of beneficial owners.  

(c) Dividends . We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock and we do not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable 
future. We plan to retain any earnings for use in the operation of our business and to fund future growth.  
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    2005   2004 
    March 31   June 30   Sept. 30   Dec. 31   March 31   June 30   Sept. 30   Dec. 31 
    (1 st )   (2 nd )   (3 rd )   (4 th )   (1 st )   (2 nd )   (3 rd )   (4 th ) 

High    $ 9.37     $ 7.71     $ 8.96     $ 9.39     $ 12.20     $ 8.20     $ 7.85     $ 9.68   
Low    $ 6.85     $ 5.34     $ 6.59     $ 7.53     $ 6.60     $ 4.00     $ 4.80     $ 5.90   
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ITEM 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data  

The following table summarizes certain selected historical consolidated financial information of ICG that has been derived from our audited 
Consolidated Financial Statements for each of the five years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001. The financial information 
may not be indicative of our future performance. The information set forth below should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our Consolidated Financial Statements and the related Notes thereto 
included in this Report.  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003     2002     2001   
    (in thousands, except per share data)   
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:                                          
Revenue    $ 50,576     $ 41,857     $ 57,915     $ 67,762     $ 89,477   
Operating Expenses                                          

Cost of revenue      28,609       21,464       33,565       43,716       68,906   
Selling, general and administrative      41,954       31,239       43,138       73,257       232,545   
Research and development expenses      12,271       8,660       13,705       23,031       43,411   
Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles      2,126       2,711       7,955       10,115       123,564   
Impairment related and other      3,044       758       (1,777 )     10,195       851,070   

     
  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total operating expenses      88,004       64,832       96,586       160,314       1,319,496   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

       (37,428 )     (22,975 )     (38,671 )     (92,552 )     (1,230,019 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Other income (loss), net      135,489       (106,178 )     (58,706 )     91,526       (110,044 ) 
Interest income (expense), net      523       (3,630 )     (15,301 )     (19,393 )     (25,541 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Income (loss) before income taxes, minority interest and equity 
loss      98,584       (132,783 )     (112,678 )     (20,419 )     (1,365,604 ) 

Income tax (expense) benefit      (18,640 )     —      —      (179 )     12,584   
Minority interest      2,282       771       2,384       15,228       107,787   
Equity loss      (6,703 )     (5,893 )     (14,540 )     (81,114 )     (1,048,860 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Income (loss) from continuing operations      75,523       (137,905 )     (124,834 )     (86,484 )     (2,294,093 ) 
Income (loss) on discontinued operations      (3,005 )     2,588       (11,050 )     (15,735 )     (36,751 ) 
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle      —      —      —      —      (7,886 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net income (loss)    $ 72,518     $ (135,317 )   $ (135,884 )   $ (102,219 )   $ (2,338,730 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

                                           
Diluted Income (loss) Per Share:                                          
Income (loss) from continuing operations per share    $ 1.80     $ (3.86 )   $ (8.25 )   $ (6.45 )   $ (164.84 ) 
Income (loss) on discontinued operations per share      (0.07 )     0.07       (0.73 )     (1.18 )     (2.64 ) 
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle per share      —      —      —      —      (0.57 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net income (loss) per share— diluted    $ 1.73     $ (3.79 )   $ (8.98 )   $ (7.63 )   $ (168.05 ) 
Weighted average shares outstanding—diluted      43,670       35,713       15,130       13,400       13,917   
                                           
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data :                                          
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments    $ 148,344     $ 86,951     $ 77,590     $ 121,716     $ 243,551   
Working capital (deficit)    $ 138,320     $ 72,932     $ (124,479 )   $ 76,365     $ 179,433   
Total assets    $ 346,532     $ 277,606     $ 231,163     $ 366,246     $ 655,047   
Other long-term debt, net of current portion    $ 4,294     $ 11     $ 30     $ 7,290     $ 9,919   
Senior convertible notes    $ 37,000     $ 60,000     $ —    $ —    $ —  
Convertible subordinated notes    $ —    $ —    $ 173,919     $ 283,114     $ 446,061   
Total stockholders’  equity (deficit)    $ 256,245     $ 165,107     $ (19,294 )   $ (51,646 )   $ 34,737   
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ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations  

Introduction  

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains forward-looking statements 
that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a 
result of certain factors, including those set forth elsewhere in this Report and the risks discussed in our other SEC filings. The following 
discussion should be read in conjunction with our audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the related Notes thereto included in this 
Report.  

Although we refer in this Report to companies in which we have acquired a convertible debt or an equity ownership interest as our “partner 
companies” and indicate that we have a “partnership” with these companies, we do not act as an agent or legal representative for any of our 
partner companies, we do not have the power or authority to legally bind any of our partner companies, and we do not have the types of 
liabilities in relation to our partner companies that a general partner of a partnership would have.  

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the consolidated accounts of Internet Capital Group, Inc., a company incorporated in Delaware, 
and its subsidiaries, both wholly-owned and consolidated (Internet Capital Group, Inc. and all such subsidiaries, are hereinafter referred to as 
“we,” “ICG,” the “Company” or “Internet Capital Group”) and have been prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”).  

Executive Summary  

The Company owns and builds Internet software and services companies that drive business productivity and reduce transaction costs between 
firms. The Company devotes its expertise and capital to maximizing the success of these platform companies that are delivering software and 
service applications to customers worldwide. We view the Company as primarily having two components: Corporate and our partner companies. 
Corporate primarily holds the cash, short-term investments, marketable securities, our ownership interests in our partner companies and 
convertible notes which are due in April 2009. Our partner companies are grouped into two operating segments consisting of the Core segment 
and the Other Holdings segment. The Core operating segment includes those partner companies in which the Company’s management takes a 
very active role in providing strategic direction and management assistance (“Core”). The Other Holdings operating segment includes holdings 
in companies where, in general, we provide less operational support, we do not have a controlling ownership stake and the partner company is 
managed to provide the greatest near-term stockholder value (“Other Holdings”). From time to time, partner companies are disposed of by ICG 
or cease operations. For presentational purposes, the partner companies included within the segments as of December 31, 2005, are consistently 
the same 20 partner companies for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 periods.  

The various interests that we acquire in our partner companies are accounted for under one of three accounting methods: the consolidation 
method, the equity method or the cost method. The applicable accounting method is generally determined based on our voting interest in a 
partner company. Generally, if we own more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities of a partner company, and for which other 
stockholders do not possess the right to affect significant management decisions, a partner company’s accounts are reflected within our 
Consolidated Financial Statements. Generally, if we own between 20% and 50% of the outstanding voting securities, a partner company’s 
accounts are not reflected within our Consolidated Financial Statements; however, our share of the earnings or losses of the partner company is 
reflected in the caption “Equity loss” in our consolidated statements of operations. Partner companies not accounted for under either the 
consolidation or the equity method of accounting are accounted for under the cost method of accounting. Under this method, our share of the 
earnings or losses of these companies is not included in our consolidated statements of operations.  

Because we own significant interests in information technology and e-commerce companies, many of which have generated net losses, we have 
experienced, and expect to continue to experience, significant volatility in  
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our quarterly results. While many of our partner companies have consistently reported losses, we have recorded net income in certain periods 
and experienced significant volatility from period-to-period due to infrequently occurring transactions and other events relating to our ownership 
interests in partner companies. These transactions and events are described in more detail in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and 
include dispositions of, and changes to, our partner company ownership interests, dispositions of our holdings of marketable securities and debt 
repurchases or debt for equity exchanges.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

The following table summarizes our and our consolidated subsidiaries’ cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, short-term investments, 
marketable securities and senior convertible notes:  

Summary of Liquidity  

We believe existing cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments and proceeds from the potential sales of all or a portion of our interests in 
certain marketable securities and partner companies to be sufficient to fund our cash requirements for the foreseeable future, including future 
commitments to partner companies, debt obligations and general operations requirements. At December 31, 2005, as well as the date of this 
filing, we were not obligated for any significant funding and guarantee commitments to existing partner companies. We will continue to evaluate 
acquisition opportunities and may acquire additional ownership interests in new and existing partner companies in the next twelve months; 
however, such acquisitions will generally be made at our discretion.  

Consolidated working capital improved by $65.4 million from December 31, 2004 to December 31, 2005 primarily due to cash proceeds from 
the sales of partner company ownership interests and marketable securities offset by convertible note repurchases, income tax payments and 
acquisitions of ownership interest in new and existing partner companies.  
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    December 31, 2005     December 31, 2004   
            Consolidated                     Consolidated         
    Corporate     Subsidiaries     Total     Corporate     Subsidiaries     Total   
    (in thousands)   
Cash and cash equivalents    $ 129,555     $ 13,104     $ 142,659     $ 9,345     $ 19,548     $ 28,893   
Restricted Cash (1)      —      685       685       —      118       118   
Short-term investments      —      5,000       5,000       57,940       —      57,940   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

     $ 129,555     $ 18,789     $ 148,344     $ 67,285     $ 19,666     $ 86,951   
                                                   
Marketable securities      $ 63,425     $ —    $ 63,425     $ 54,082     $ —    $ 54,082   
                                                   
Senior convertible notes due 

April 2009    $ (37,000 )   $ —    $ (37,000 )   $ (60,000 )   $ —    $ (60,000 ) 

  

(1)   Restricted cash at December 31, 2005 and 2004 does not include $264 and $200, respectively, of long-term restricted cash included in 
“Other”  assets on the Company’s Consolidated balance sheets. 
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Summary of Statements of Cash Flows  

The increase in cash used in operating activities from 2004 to 2005 is the primary result of the payment of $26.9 million in estimated federal 
income taxes in 2005 versus no income taxes paid in 2004. The improvement in cash used in operating activities from 2003 to 2004 is the result 
of decreased losses at corporate and at our consolidated partner companies, and decreased net interest expense as the outstanding balance of 
convertible notes has decreased.  

The improvement in cash provided by (used in) investing activities from 2003 through 2005 is the result of net sales of ownership interests in 
partner companies and marketable securities in 2005 versus net purchases of short-term investments in 2004.  

The variability in cash provided by (used in) financing activities from 2003 through 2005 is primarily the result of repurchases of $23.0 million 
of principal of convertible notes for $28.4 million in cash in 2005 versus the net issuance of $18.7 million of convertible notes in 2004.  

We and our consolidated subsidiaries are involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. We do not 
expect the ultimate liability with respect to these actions will materially affect our financial position or cash flows.  

Contractual Cash Obligations and Commercial Commitments  

The following table summarizes our contractual cash obligations and commercial commitments as of December 31, 2005:  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

We are not involved in any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a material future effect on our financial 
condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.  
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    Year Ended December 31, 
    2005   2004   2003 
    (in thousands) 
Cash used in operating activities    $ (49,433 )   $ (22,564 )   $ (41,043 ) 
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities    $ 192,693     $ (34,243 )   $ 6,502   
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities    $ (29,179 )   $ 12,781     $ (6,977 ) 

                                          
    Payments due by period   
            Less                         
            than 1                     More than   
    Total     Year     2-3 Years     4-5 Years     5 years   
    (in thousands)   
Senior convertible notes    $ 37,000     $ —    $ —    $ 37,000     $ —  
Operating leases      6,058       1,723       2,479       1,474       382   
Other borrowings      5,411       1,117       1,245       3,049       —  
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

     $ 48,469     $ 2,840     $ 3,724     $ 41,523     $ 382   
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Our Partner Companies  

As of December 31, 2005, we owned interests in 20 partner companies that are categorized below based on segment and method of accounting.  

(1) As of March 6, 2006, we own 2,187,060 shares of Blackboard (NASDAQ:BBBB) (see “Note 4 — Marketable Securities” to Consolidated 
Financial Statements.)  

(2)  As of March 6, 2006, we own 595,058 shares of Traffic.com (NASDAQ:TRFC) (see “Note 4 — Marketable Securities” to Consolidated 
Financial Statements.)  

(3)  As of March 6, 2006, we own 69,177,300 shares of GoIndustry or 38% of the voting securities. GoIndustry’s common stock is traded on the 
AIM exchange of the London Stock Exchange under ticker symbol GOI. See “Note 3 – Ownership Interests in Partner Companies, Goodwill 
and Intangibles, net.”)  

Results of Operations  

The following summarizes the unaudited selected financial information related to our segments. Each segment includes the results of our 
consolidated partner companies and records our share of the earnings and losses of partner companies accounted for under the equity method of 
accounting. The partner companies included within the segments are consistently the same 20 partner companies for 2005, 2004 and 2003. The 
method of accounting for any particular partner company may change based on our ownership interest.  

Discontinued operations and dispositions are those partner companies that have been sold or ceased operations and are no longer included in a 
segment for all periods presented. Corporate expenses represent our general and administrative expenses of our business operations, supporting 
the partner companies and operating as a public company. The measure of segment net loss reviewed by us does not include items such as 
impairment related charges, income taxes and accounting changes, which are reflected in other reconciling items in the information that follows.  
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CORE PARTNER COMPANIES (%Voting Interest)   

Consolidated   Equity     Cost   
ICG Commerce (76%)    CreditTrade (27%)         
Investor Force (80%)    Freeborders (33%)         
StarCite (61%)    Marketron (38%)         
     Metastorm (41%)         
     WhiteFence (39%)         
                  

OTHER HOLDINGS COMPANIES (%Voting Interest) 
Consolidated   Equity     Cost   
     ComputerJobs.com (46%)   Anthem Ventures Fund, L.P. (9%) 
     eCredit (29%)   Blackboard (1) 

     GoIndustry (54%) (3)   Captive Capital Corporation (5%) 
             Emptoris, Inc. (7%) 
             Entegrity Solutions (2%) 
             FoodLink Online LLC (“Foodlink Online”) (13%) 
             Jamcracker, Inc. (2%) 
             Tibersoft Corporation (5%) 
             Traffic.com (2) 
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2005 vs. 2004 vs. 2003  

Results of Operations — Core Companies  

The following presentation of our Results of Operations – Core Companies includes the results of our consolidated Core partner companies and 
our share of the results of our equity method Core partner companies.  

Revenue  

Revenue increased $8.7 million from $41.9 million in 2004 to $50.6 million in 2005. The primary driver of the revenue increase is due to the 
consolidation of Investor Force and StarCite in 2005 which increased revenue $11.1 million versus 2004. The residual decrease is due to lower 
revenues related to CommerceQuest prior to deconsolidation, as well as a result of the deconsolidation of CommerceQuest. These decreases 
were offset by increased revenues at ICG Commerce.  

Revenue decreased $15.0 million from $56.9 million in 2003 to $41.9 million in 2004. During 2003, a customer of ICG Commerce terminated 
its arrangement to purchase services from ICG Commerce effective January 1, 2004. Revenue from this customer totaled $12.0 million in 2003. 
The deconsolidation in 2003  
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Segment Information   

(in thousands)   
                                    Reconciling Items         
                    Other     Total     Discontinued                     Consolidated   
                                    Operations                     
    Core     Holdings     Segment     and Dispositions     Corporate     Other     Results   
For The Year Ended 

December 31, 2005                                                                  
Revenues            $ 50,576     $ —    $ 50,576     $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 50,576   
Net income (loss)            $ (20,099 )   $ (5,597 )   $ (25,696 )   $ (861 )   $ (18,473 )   $ 117,548     $ 72,518   
                                                                   
For The Year Ended 

December 31, 2004                                                                  
Revenues            $ 41,857     $ —    $ 41,857     $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 41,857   
Net income (loss)            $ (11,770 )   $ (3,496 )   $ (15,266 )   $ 3,999     $ (18,116 )   $ (105,934 )   $ (135,317 ) 
                                                                   
For The Year Ended 

December 31, 2003                                                                  
Revenues            $ 56,895     $ 1,020     $ 57,915     $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 57,915   
Net income (loss)            $ (29,173 )   $ (5,587 )   $ (34,760 )   $ (14,939 )   $ (25,964 )   $ (60,221 )   $ (135,884 ) 

                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
Selected data:   (in thousands)   
Revenue    $ 50,576     $ 41,857     $ 56,895   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Cost of revenue      (28,609 )     (21,464 )     (33,071 ) 
Selling, general and administrative      (23,175 )     (17,194 )     (25,008 ) 
Research and development      (12,271 )     (8,660 )     (12,883 ) 
Amortization of intangibles      (2,126 )     (2,711 )     (7,955 ) 
Impairment related and other      (347 )     (282 )     (2,373 ) 

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

Operating expenses      (66,528 )     (50,311 )     (81,290 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Interest and other      (897 )     492       850   
Equity loss      (3,250 )     (3,808 )     (5,628 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net loss    $ (20,099 )   $ (11,770 )   $ (29,173 ) 
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of Freeborders reduced revenue $3.0 million versus 2003. The residual decrease is primarily due to lower revenue at ICG Commerce and 
CommerceQuest.  

Operating Expenses  

Operating expenses increased $16.2 million from $50.3 million in 2004 to $66.5 million in 2005. The primary driver of the operating expense 
increase is due to the consolidation of Investor Force and StarCite in 2005 which increased operating expenses by $17.0 million versus 2004. 
The residual decrease is related to CommerceQuest’s reduced operating expenses in reaction to lower revenue, offset by increased operating 
expenses at ICG Commerce.  

Operating Expenses decreased $31.0 million from $81.3 million in 2003 to $50.3 million in 2004. Due to the loss of a significant customer at 
ICG Commerce and further focus at both ICG Commerce and CommerceQuest at containing operating expenses, ICG Commerce and 
CommerceQuest reduced operating expenses $26.7 million for 2004 versus 2003. The deconsolidation in 2003 of Freeborders reduced operating 
expenses $4.3 million for 2004 versus 2003.  

Equity Loss  

A portion of our net results from our Core companies is derived from those partner companies in which we hold a substantial minority ownership 
interest. Our share of the income or losses of these companies is recorded in our Consolidated Statement of Operations under “Equity loss.”  

Our share of net income and net losses of Core companies decreased to a loss of $(3.3) million in 2005 from $(3.8) million in 2004 and from 
$(5.6) million in 2003.  

The total revenue of our five Core equity method partner companies improved from $88.9 million in 2004 to $114.8 million in 2005. The 
improvements are primarily the result of increased revenue at our Core equity method companies involved with credit derivatives and offshore 
IT outsourcing, as well as the additions of Metastorm and WhiteFence in 2005.  

Our Core equity method companies reported aggregate net loss of $(5.7) million in 2005 compared to net loss of $(11.9) million in 2004. Results 
for the 2005 period improved over the 2004 period primarily due to higher revenue offset by higher spending levels in the current period to 
deliver product, services and sales. Accordingly, our share of the net income and net losses of these partner companies improved in the year 
ended December 31, 2005 versus the 2004 period.  

The total revenue of our Core equity method partner companies improved from $70.7 million in 2003 to $88.9 million in 2004. The 
improvements are primarily the result of increased revenue at our Core equity method companies involved with credit derivatives offset by 
reduced revenue at our Core equity method companies selling software relating to enterprise applications.  

The total net losses of our Core equity method partner companies in the aggregate improved from $(24.0) million in 2003 to $(11.9) million in 
2004. The improvements are primarily the result of increased revenues as previously discussed offset by increased spending to deliver products, 
services and sales, as well as goodwill impairment charges of approximately $5.8 million at one of our partner companies in 2003. Accordingly, 
our share of the results of these partner companies improved in the year ended December 31, 2004 versus the 2003 period.  
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Results of Operations — Other Holdings Companies  

The following presentation of our Results of Operations – Other Holdings Companies includes the results of our consolidated Other Holdings 
partner companies and our share of the results of our equity method Other Holdings partner companies.  

Revenue and operating expenses decreased from 2003 to 2004 due to the deconsolidation of eCredit and Captive Capital during 2003.  

Equity loss increased in 2005 versus 2004 primarily due to the increase in our share of the net loss of GoIndustry in 2005 versus 2004. 
GoIndustry’s net loss primarily increased due to an impairment of its goodwill.  

Our carrying value in GoIndustry has been reduced to zero at December 31, 2005. As a result, we will not record our share of GoIndustry’s 
results until such time as our share of income equals the unrecorded losses or we fund GoIndustry. Other partner companies in addition to 
GoIndustry, with a zero or near zero carrying value, may continue to incur losses that may not have an impact on our 2006 reported earnings.  

Results of Operations — Reconciling Items  

Discontinued Operations and Dispositions  

The following is a summary of the components included in “Discontinued Operations and Dispositions,” a reconciling item for segment 
reporting purposes:  

In 2005, ICG Commerce entered into an agreement to sell its German subsidiary for nominal consideration and in 2003 and 2002, three of our 
Core consolidated partner companies sold substantially all of their assets. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
(“SFAS”) SFAS No. 144, these operations have been treated as discontinued operations. Accordingly, the operating results of these discontinued 
operations have been presented separately from continuing operations and include the gains or losses recognized on disposition. See Note 7 to 
our Consolidated Financial Statements.  

The impact to our consolidated results of equity method partner companies we have sold or disposed of our ownership interest in or have ceased 
operations during 2005, 2004 and 2003 is also included in the caption “Dispositions” for segment reporting purposes. Equity income 
(loss) relating to these entities improved from 2003 to 2005 primarily due to the improvement in operating results of LinkShare Corporation 
(“Linkshare”) and the disposal of partner companies.  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
Selected data:   (in thousands)   
Revenue    $ —    $ —    $ 1,020   
Operating expenses      —      —      (3,003 ) 
Interest and other      —      —      38   
Equity loss      (5,597 )     (3,496 )     (3,642 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net loss    $ (5,597 )   $ (3,496 )   $ (5,587 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
    (in thousands)   
Discontinued operations    $ (3,005 )   $ 2,588     $ (11,050 ) 
Equity income (loss) of partner companies sold/disposed of      2,144       1,411       (3,889 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net income (loss)    $ (861 )   $ 3,999     $ (14,939 ) 
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The following table reconciles the components of equity income (loss) for equity method partner companies for which we have sold or disposed 
of our ownership interest or have ceased operations to equity loss for consolidated financial reporting:  

Corporate  

General and Administrative  

Our general and administrative expenses increased $4.8 million for 2005 versus 2004 primarily due to an increase in stock-based compensation 
of $2.9 million, as well as increased legal costs associated with the potential settlement of pending litigation.  

Our general and administrative expenses decreased $2.4 million from 2003 to 2004 primarily due to reduction in stock-based compensation 
expense from $2.3 million in 2003 to $1.4 million in 2004 as a result of more restricted stock vesting in 2003. The residual decrease is the result 
of lower corporate expenses.  

Impairment Related and Other  

The charge in 2004 is due to settlement of a lease obligation for $0.5 million more than we had originally estimated. The credit of $5.1 million in 
2003 is primarily due to our settlement of a lease obligation for less than we had estimated.  

Interest Income/Expense  

The improvement in our interest income (expense), net is attributable to the reduction in average principal amount of convertible notes 
outstanding from 2003 to 2005 and an increase in the average cash balance and interest rates during the same period.  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
    (in thousands)   
Share of income (loss)    $ 2,144     $ 1,411     $ (3,889 ) 
Impairments of these equity method companies      —      —      (1,381 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

     $ 2,144     $ 1,411     $ (5,270 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
    (in thousands)   
General and administrative    $ (18,779 )   $ (14,045 )   $ (16,443 ) 
Impairment related and other      —      (476 )     5,094   
Interest income (expense), net      306       (3,595 )     (14,615 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net loss    $ (18,473 )   $ (18,116 )   $ (25,964 ) 
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Other  

Other Income (Loss), Net  

Other income (Loss), net was income of $136.6 million in 2005 versus a loss of ($105.4) million in 2004 versus a loss of ($56.8) million in 2003. 
The income in 2005 is primarily the result of gains on the sales of partner companies and marketable securities. The increase in losses from 2004 
versus 2003 is primarily attributable to the 2004 loss of $133.1 million on our debt-for-equity exchanges offset by sales of ownership interests in 
partner companies and marketable securities of $28.8 million versus the 2003 loss of $59.3 million on our debt-for-equity exchanges, net.  

Income Tax  

Our net deferred tax asset of $617 million at December 31, 2005 consists of deferred tax assets of $638 million, relating primarily to partner 
company basis differences, capital and net operating loss carry forwards, offset by deferred tax liabilities of $21 million primarily related to 
unrealized appreciation in available for sale securities. During 2001, we recorded a full valuation allowance against our net deferred tax assets 
that was maintained during 2003, 2004 and 2005. (See Note 12 to our Consolidated Financial Statements).  

The 20.4% effective tax rate for 2005 differs from the 35% statutory rate primarily due to the utilization of losses for which a valuation 
allowance had previously been provided. The amount of carry forward losses that we were permitted to utilize was limited due to the change in 
ownership experienced by us in 2004.  

Impairment Charges  

We continually evaluate the carrying values of our partner companies. Additionally, we operate in an industry that is rapidly evolving, extremely 
competitive and where many businesses have experienced difficulty in raising additional capital necessary to fund operating losses. Based on our 
periodic review of our partner company carrying values, impairment charges of $2.7 million, $1.3 million and $5.8 million were recorded in 
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Additionally, we recorded other than temporary impairment charges related to our marketable securities 
totaling $1.3 million in 2005 and $2.9 million in 2004. These charges are included in “Other income (loss)” above.  

Critical Accounting Policies  

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our Consolidated Financial Statements, which 
have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these financial statements requires us 
to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to our interests in our partner 
companies, marketable securities, revenues, income taxes and commitments and contingencies. We base our estimates on historical experience 
and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making 
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or 
conditions.  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
    (in thousands)   
Other income (loss) (Note 15)    $ 136,603     $ (105,438 )   $ (56,792 ) 
Income tax expense      (18,640 )     —      —  
Impairments      (2,697 )     (1,267 )     (5,813 ) 
Minority interest      2,282       771       2,384   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net income (loss)    $ 117,548     $ (105,934 )   $ (60,221 ) 
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We believe the following critical accounting policies are important to the presentation of our financial statements and require the most difficult, 
subjective and complex judgments.  

Valuation of Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Ownership Interests in Partner Companies  

We perform ongoing business reviews and perform annual goodwill impairment tests in accordance with SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other 
Intangible Assets” and other impairment tests in accordance with Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 18 “Equity Method 
Investments” and SFAS No. 144 “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” and, based on quantitative and qualitative 
measures, assess the need to record impairment losses on goodwill, intangible assets and our ownership interests in our partner companies when 
impairment indicators are present. Where impairment indicators are present, we determine the amount of the impairment charge as the excess of 
the carrying value over the fair value. We determine fair value based on a combination of the discounted cash flow methodology, which is based 
upon converting expected future cash flows to present value, and the market approach, which includes analysis of market price multiples of 
companies engaged in lines of business similar to the company being evaluated. The market price multiples are selected and applied to the 
company based on relative performance, future prospects and risk profile of the company in comparison to the guideline companies. Significant 
assumptions relating to future operating results must be made when estimating the future cash flows associated with these companies. Significant 
assumptions relating to achievement of business plan objectives and milestones must be made when evaluating whether impairment indicators 
are present. Should unforeseen events occur or should operating trends change significantly, additional impairment losses could occur.  

Revenue  

ICG Commerce may assume all or a part of a customer’s procurement function as part of sourcing arrangements. Typically, in these 
engagements, ICG Commerce is paid a fee based on a percentage of the amount spent by its customer’s purchasing department in the specified 
areas ICG Commerce manages, a fixed fee agreed upon in advance, and in some cases ICG Commerce has the opportunity to earn additional 
fees based on the level of savings achieved for customers. ICG Commerce recognizes fee income as earned (typically, over the life of the 
customer contract which approximates the life of the customer relationship) and any additional fees as ICG Commerce becomes entitled to them. 
In certain of these arrangements, ICG Commerce does not assume inventory, warranty or credit risk for the goods or services a customer 
purchases, but ICG Commerce does negotiate the arrangements between a customer and supplier.  

StarCite’s revenues are primarily derived from hotel media marketing packages, attendee management software, site selection and various 
enabling technologies. Marketing package, attendee management software and enabling technology revenues are recognized over the life of the 
contract, which approximates the life of the customer relationship. The contract terms typically range from one to three years. Site selection 
revenues are recognized at the time the meeting occurs, which assumes no significant performance obligation remains.  

CommerceQuest was a consolidated Company through September 30, 2005, at which time it was acquired by Metastorm and became an equity 
method company. CommerceQuest recognized revenue from software license fees and services. CommerceQuest sold their software direct to 
end users, as well as through resellers. Fees from licenses were recognized as revenue upon contract execution, provided all delivery obligations 
had been met, fees were fixed or determinable, collection was probable, and vendor-specific objective evidence existed for the undelivered 
elements of the arrangement. Maintenance revenue was recognized ratably over the term of the maintenance contract. Consulting and training 
revenue was recognized when the services were performed. Implementation fees, which did not relate to software license fees including start-up 
fees, were deferred and generally recognized as revenue over the term of the arrangement.  
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Deferred Income Taxes  

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our net deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. We consider 
future taxable income and prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in determining the need for a valuation allowance. In the event that we 
determine that we would not be able to realize all or part of our net deferred tax assets, an adjustment to the deferred tax assets is charged to 
earnings in the period such determination is made. Likewise, if we later determine that it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets 
would be realized, then the previously provided valuation allowance would be reversed.  

Commitments and Contingencies  

From time to time, we are a defendant or plaintiff in various legal actions that arise in the normal course of business. From time to time, we are 
also a guarantor of various third-party obligations and commitments. We are required to assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or 
outcomes to these matters as well as potential ranges of probable losses. A determination of the amount of reserves required for these 
contingencies, if any, which would be charged to earnings, is made after careful analysis of each individual matter. The required reserves may 
change in the future due to new developments in each matter or changes in circumstances, such as a change in settlement strategy. Changes in 
required reserves could increase or decrease our earnings in the period the changes are made.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

In December 2004, the Financial Account Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment.” SFAS No. 123R revises 
SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to 
Employees,” and its related implementation guidance. SFAS No. 123R will require compensation costs related to share-based payment 
transactions to be recognized in the financial statements (with limited exceptions). The amount of compensation cost will be measured based on 
the grant-date fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued. Compensation cost will be recognized over the period that an employee 
provides service in exchange for the award. This statement is effective as of the beginning of the first annual reporting period that begins after 
June 15, 2005 and accordingly, we adopted SFAS No. 123R on January 1, 2006 using the modified prospective model and will estimate the fair 
value of stock options using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. In 2006, the impact of SFAS No. 123R on our Consolidated Statements of 
Operations will be consistent with our pro forma disclosures on stock-based compensation.  

In November 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) No. FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary 
Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments,” or FSP 115-1, as applicable to debt and equity securities that are within the scope of 
SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities” and equity securities that are accounted for using the cost 
method specified in APB No. 18, “The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock.” FSP 115-1 also includes accounting 
considerations subsequent to the recognition of an other-than-temporary impairment and requires certain disclosures about unrealized losses that 
have not been recognized as other-than-temporary impairments. It is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2005. The 
Company is currently evaluating the effect of FSP 115-1 on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations but the Company does not 
expect adoption of FSP 115-1 to have a material impact.  
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ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk  

We are exposed to equity price risks on the marketable portion of our equity securities. Our public holdings at December 31, 2005 include equity 
positions in companies in the technology industry sector, including Blackboard, many of which have experienced significant historical volatility 
in their stock prices. A 20% adverse change in equity prices, based on a sensitivity analysis of our public holdings as of December 31, 2005, 
would result in an approximate $12.7 million decrease in the fair value of our public holdings.  

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable are carried at cost which approximates fair value due to the short-term 
maturity of these instruments. Short-term investments and marketable securities are carried at fair value. Our senior convertible notes had a fair 
value of approximately $41.8 million at December 31, 2005 versus a carrying value of $37.0 million. Fair value of our senior convertible notes is 
determined by obtaining thinly traded market quotes.  

We have historically had very low exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates and, as such, have not used derivative financial 
instruments to manage foreign currency fluctuation risk.  

In February 2006, we entered into a cashless collar contract to hedge 500,000 shares of our holdings of Blackboard common stock. Based on the 
terms of the contract, the contract and related shares will be worth a minimum of $11.2 million or $22.4419 per share and a maximum of $27.7 
million or $55.4982 per share at maturity in March 2010. The contract limits our exposure to and benefits from price fluctuations in the 
underlying equity securities.  
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ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data  

The following Consolidated Financial Statements, and the related Notes thereto, of Internet Capital Group, Inc. and the Report of Independent 
Registered Public Accounting Firm are filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Internet Capital Group, Inc.:  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Internet Capital Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 
2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), comprehensive income (loss) and cash flows for each 
of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Internet 
Capital Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the 
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with U. S. generally accepted accounting principles.  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of 
Internet Capital Group, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report 
dated March 15, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal control over 
financial reporting.  

/s/ KPMG LLP  

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania  
March 15, 2006  
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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    December 31,     December 31,   
    2005     2004   
    (in thousands, except per share data)   
Assets                  
Current Assets                  

Cash and cash equivalents    $ 142,659     $ 28,893   
Restricted cash      685       118   
Short-term investments      5,000       57,940   
Accounts receivable, net of allowance ($599-2005; $776-2004)      9,480       14,598   
Prepaid expenses and other current assets      15,399       3,529   
Assets held for sale      9,038       11,409   

     
  
    

  
  

Total current assets      182,261       116,487   
Marketable securities      63,425       54,082   
Fixed assets, net      1,886       1,939   
Ownership interests in Partner Companies      71,453       49,794   
Goodwill      20,383       45,196   
Intangibles, net      3,407       4,512   
Other      3,717       5,596   
     

  
    

  
  

Total Assets    $ 346,532     $ 277,606   
     

  

    

  

  

                   
Liabilities and Stockholders’  Equity                  
Current Liabilities                  

Current maturities of other long-term debt    $ 1,117     $ 37   
Accounts payable      6,181       13,370   
Accrued expenses      9,552       6,455   
Accrued compensation and benefits      7,141       6,943   
Deferred revenue      11,190       7,079   
Liabilities held for sale      8,760       9,671   

     
  
    

  
  

Total current liabilities      43,941       43,555   
Senior convertible notes      37,000       60,000   
Other long-term debt      4,294       11   
Long-term deferred revenue      1,490       2,243   
Other liabilities      640       2,286   
Minority interest      2,922       4,404   
     

  
    

  
  

       90,287       112,499   
     

  
    

  
  

                   
Stockholders’  Equity                  

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 10,000 shares authorized, none issued or outstanding      —      —  
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 2,000,000 shares authorized, 39,314 (2005) and 38,388 

(2004) issued and outstanding      39       38   
Additional paid-in capital      3,535,646       3,525,596   
Accumulated deficit      (3,332,719 )     (3,405,237 ) 
Unamortized deferred compensation      (6,684 )     (3,634 ) 
Notes receivable-stockholders      (300 )     (300 ) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income      60,263       48,644   

     
  
    

  
  

Total stockholders’  equity      256,245       165,107   
     

  
    

  
  

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’  Equity    $ 346,532     $ 277,606   
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
    (in thousands, except per share data)   
Revenue    $ 50,576     $ 41,857     $ 57,915   
                           
Operating expenses                          

Cost of revenue      28,609       21,464       33,565   
Selling, general and administrative      41,954       31,239       43,138   
Research and development      12,271       8,660       13,705   
Amortization of intangibles      2,126       2,711       7,955   
Impairment related and other      3,044       758       (1,777 ) 

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

Total operating expenses      88,004       64,832       96,586   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

       (37,428 )     (22,975 )     (38,671 ) 
Other income (loss), net      135,489       (106,178 )     (58,706 ) 
Interest income      3,890       1,295       1,262   
Interest expense      (3,367 )     (4,925 )     (16,563 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Income (loss) before income taxes, minority interest and equity loss      98,584       (132,783 )     (112,678 ) 
Income tax expense      (18,640 )     —      —  
Minority interest      2,282       771       2,384   
Equity loss      (6,703 )     (5,893 )     (14,540 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Income (loss) from continuing operations      75,523       (137,905 )     (124,834 ) 
Income (loss) on discontinued operations      (3,005 )     2,588       (11,050 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net income (loss)    $ 72,518     $ (135,317 )   $ (135,884 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                           
Basic income (loss) per share:                          
Income (loss) from continuing operations    $ 2.03     $ (3.86 )   $ (8.25 ) 
Income (loss) on discontinued operations      (0.08 )     0.07       (0.73 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

     $ 1.95     $ (3.79 )   $ (8.98 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                           
Shares used in computation of basic income (loss) per share      37,109       35,713       15,130   
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                           
Diluted income (loss) per share:                          
Income (loss) from continuing operations    $ 1.80     $ (3.86 )   $ (8.25 ) 
Income (loss) on discontinued operations      (0.07 )     0.07       (0.73 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

     $ 1.73     $ (3.79 )   $ (8.98 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                           
Shares used in computation of diluted income (loss) per share      43,670       35,713       15,130   
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DE FICIT)  

                                                                  
                                                    Accumulated         
                    Additional             Unamortized     Notes     Other         
    Common Stock     Paid-In     Accumulated     Deferred     Receivable-     Comprehensive         
    Shares     Amount     Capital     Deficit     Compensation     Stockholders     Income     Total   
    (in thousands)   
Balance as of 

December 31, 2002      14,336     $ 14     $ 3,085,505     $ (3,134,036 )   $ (2,968 )   $ (460 )   $ 299     $ (51,646 ) 
Amortization of deferred 

compensation      —      —      —      —      2,328       —      —      2,328   
Compensation charge in 

connection with the 
acceleration of vesting      —      —      368       —      —      —      —      368   

Issuance of common stock 
to Board of Directors      10       —      72       —      (72 )     —      —      —  

Stockholder loans principal 
payments      —      —      476       —      —      —      —      476   

Issuance of common stock 
upon exercise of options      59       —      320       —      —      —      —      320   

Issuance of common stock 
in exchange for 
convertible subordinated 
notes      7,353       8       163,590       —      —      —      —      163,598   

Issuance of common stock 
to third parties      81       —      737       —      —      —      —      737   

Net unrealized appreciation 
in marketable securities 
and reclassification 
adjustments      —      —      —      —      —      —      409       409   

Net loss      —      —      —      (135,884 )     —      —      —      (135,884 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

                                                                   
Balance as of 

December 31, 2003      21,839       22       3,251,068       (3,269,920 )     (712 )     (460 )     708       (19,294 ) 
                                                                   
Amortization of deferred 

compensation      —      —      —      —      1,413       —      —      1,413   
Issuance of common stock 

in payment of bonuses      33       —      273       —      —      —      —      273   
Issuance of common stock 

in exchange for 
convertible subordinated 
notes      15,887       16       267,607       —      —      —      —      267,623   

Impact of Partner Company 
equity transactions (Note 
14)      —      —      2,313       —      —      —      —      2,313   

Issuance of restricted stock      640       —      4,412       —      (4,412 )     —      —      —  
Forfeiture of restricted 

stock      (11 )     —      (77 )     —      77       —      —      —  
Stockholder loans principal 

payments      —      —      —      —      —      160       —      160   
Net unrealized appreciation 

in marketable securities 
and reclassification 
adjustments      —      —      —      —      —      —      47,936       47,936   

Net loss      —      —      —      (135,317 )     —      —      —      (135,317 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

                                                                   
Balance as of 

December 31, 2004      38,388       38       3,525,596       (3,405,237 )     (3,634 )     (300 )     48,644       165,107   
Amortization of deferred 

compensation      —      —      —      —      3,507       —      —      3,507   
Impact of Partner Company 

equity transactions (Note 
14)      —      —      2,271       —      —      —      —      2,271   

Issuance of restricted stock      819       1       6,013       —      (6,014 )     —      —      —  



See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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Amortization of stock 
appreciation rights      —      —      824       —      —      —      —      824   

Issuance of deferred stock 
units to Board of 
Directors      109       —      809       —      (543 )     —      —      266   

Repurchase of common 
stock from former 
employees      (2 )     —      —      —      —      —      —      —  

Stock-based compensation 
tax benefit      —      —      133       —      —      —      —      133   

Net unrealized appreciation 
in marketable securities 
and reclassification 
adjustments      —      —      —      —      —      —      11,619       11,619   

Net income      —      —      —      72,518       —      —      —      72,518   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

                                                                   
Balance as of 

December 31, 2005      39,314     $ 39     $ 3,535,646     $ (3,332,719 )   $ (6,684 )   $ (300 )   $ 60,263     $ 256,245   
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)  

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
    (in thousands)   
Net income (loss)    $ 72,518     $ (135,317 )   $ (135,884 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Other comprehensive income (loss)                          
Unrealized holding gains in marketable securities      25,940       47,552       77   
Reclassification adjustments/realized net (gains) losses on marketable securities      (14,567 )     630       332   

Other accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)      246       (246 )     —  
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Sub-total      11,619       47,936       409   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

                           
Comprehensive income (loss)    $ 84,137     $ (87,381 )   $ (135,475 ) 
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
    (in thousands)        
      (Revised-See Note 2)   
Operating Activities                          
Net income (loss)    $ 72,518     $ (135,317 )   $ (135,884 ) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities                          

(Income) loss from discontinued operations      3,005       (2,588 )     11,050   
Depreciation and amortization      3,829       3,748       12,994   
Impairment related and other      3,044       758       (1,862 ) 
Stock-based compensation      4,339       1,413       2,725   
Equity loss      6,703       5,893       14,540   
Other (income) loss      (135,489 )     106,401       58,566   
Minority interest      (2,282 )     (771 )     (2,384 ) 

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions:                          
Restricted cash      339       170       8,327   
Accounts receivable, net      (2,984 )     4,345       3,587   
Prepaid expenses and other assets      867       3,292       2,964   
Accounts payable      (5,325 )     (6,989 )     (934 ) 
Accrued expenses      1,088       (2,559 )     (11,918 ) 
Deferred revenue      765       (1,590 )     (6,739 ) 
Other liabilities      (675 )     276       4,701   
Cash flows from operating activities of discontinued operations      825       954       (776 ) 

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

Cash used in operating activities      (49,433 )     (22,564 )     (41,043 ) 
                           
Investing Activities                          

Capital expenditures, net      (965 )     (1,003 )     (609 ) 
Purchases of short-term investments      (10,597 )     (85,219 )     —  
Proceeds of short-term investments      63,537       27,288       6,986   
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities      19,153       7,798       9,935   
Proceeds from sales of Partner Company ownership interests      141,719       25,668       7,019   
Acquisitions of ownership interests in Partner Companies, net      (22,471 )     (8,669 )     (13,342 ) 
Other acquisitions, net      —      —      (1,595 ) 
Increase in cash due to consolidation of Partner Companies      4,529       —      —  
Reduction in cash due to deconsolidation of Partner Company      (2,198 )     —      (1,759 ) 
Cash flows from investing activities of discontinued operations      (14 )     (106 )     (133 ) 

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

Cash provided by (used in) investing activities      192,693       (34,243 )     6,502   
                           
Financing Activities                          

Issuance of senior convertible notes, net      —      58,215       —  
Repurchase of senior convertible notes      (28,405 )     —      —  
Repurchase of convertible subordinated notes      —      (39,541 )     (5,529 ) 
Long term debt and capital lease obligations, net      (283 )     (6,278 )     (2,658 ) 
Line of credit borrowings      —      216       642   
Line of credit repayments      (491 )     —      (89 ) 
Repayment of advances and loans to employees/stockholders      —      160       476   
Exercises of stock options      —      —      320   
Issuance of stock by subsidiary      —      9       —  
Other      —      —      36   
Cash flows from financing activities of discontinued operations      —      —      (175 ) 

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities      (29,179 )     12,781       (6,977 ) 
Net increase (decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents      114,081       (44,026 )     (41,518 ) 
Effect of exchange rates on cash      496       (274 )     (1,368 ) 
Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents included in discontinued operations      (811 )     (848 )     1,084   
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of year      28,893       74,041       115,843   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of year    $ 142,659     $ 28,893     $ 74,041   
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

1. The Company  

Description of the Company  

Internet Capital Group, Inc. (the “Company”) owns and builds Internet software and services companies that drive business productivity and 
reduce transaction costs between firms. The Company devotes its expertise and capital to maximizing the success of these platform companies 
that are delivering software and service applications to customers worldwide. The Company was formed in March 1996 and is headquartered in 
Wayne, Pennsylvania.  

Although the Company refers to companies in which it has acquired a convertible debt or an equity ownership interest as its “Partner 
Companies” and indicates that it has a “partnership” with these companies, it does not act as an agent or legal representative for any of its 
Partner Companies, it does not have the power or authority to legally bind any of its Partner Companies and it does not have the types of 
liabilities in relation to its Partner Companies that a general partner of a partnership would have.  

2. Significant Accounting Policies  

Basis of Presentation  

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. The Consolidated Financial 
Statements also include the following majority-owned subsidiaries for all or a portion of the periods indicated, each of which has been 
consolidated since the date the Company acquired majority voting control (collectively, the “Consolidated Subsidiaries”):  

The Consolidated Balance Sheets include the following majority-owned subsidiaries:  
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Year Ended December 31, 

2005   2004   2003 

ICG Commerce    ICG Commerce   ICG Commerce 
CommerceQuest (3)    CommerceQuest   CommerceQuest 
Investor Force (1)        Captive Capital (4) 

StarCite (2)        eCredit (4) 

         Freeborders (5) 

      
December 31, 

2005   2004 

ICG Commerce    ICG Commerce 
Investor Force    CommerceQuest 
StarCite      

  

(1)   Investor Force became a consolidated Partner Company on January 1, 2005. 
  

(2) 

  
StarCite became a consolidated Partner Company on June 8, 2005. The results of operations of StarCite from June 8, 2005 to June 30, 2005 
were not material and were not included in the Consolidated 
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  

2. Significant Accounting Policies — (Continued)  

Statements of Operations through June 30, 2005. StarCite’s results of operations are included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations 
beginning July 1, 2005.  

(3) In October 2005, CommerceQuest, a consolidated Partner Company, was acquired by Metastorm in exchange for an equity interest in 
Metastorm. Beginning October 1, 2005 (see Note 3), Metastorm was accounted for as an equity method Partner Company.  

(4) During the three months ended June 30, 2003, the Company’s ownership in Captive Capital and eCredit decreased to a level that resulted in 
deconsolidation.  

(5) During the three months ended September 30, 2003, the Company’s ownership in Freeborders decreased to a level that resulted in 
deconsolidation.  

Principles of Accounting for Ownership Interests in Partner Companies  

The various interests that the Company acquires in its Partner Companies are accounted for under three methods: the consolidation method, the 
equity method and the cost method. The applicable accounting method is generally determined based on the Company’s voting interest in a 
Partner Company.  

Consolidation. Partner Companies in which the Company directly or indirectly owns more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities, and for 
which other stockholders do not possess the right to affect significant management decisions, are accounted for under the consolidation method 
of accounting. Under this method, a Partner Company’s balance sheet and results of operations are reflected within the Company’s Consolidated 
Financial Statements. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. Participation of other Partner Company 
stockholders in the net assets and in the earnings or losses of a consolidated Partner Company is reflected in the caption “Minority interest” in 
the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet and Statements of Operations. Minority interest adjusts the Company’s consolidated results of 
operations to reflect only the Company’s share of the earnings or losses of the consolidated Partner Company. The results of operations and cash 
flows of a consolidated Partner Company are included through the latest interim period in which the Company owned a greater than 50% direct 
or indirect voting interest for the entire interim period or otherwise exercised control over the Partner Company. Upon dilution of control below 
50%, the accounting method is adjusted to the equity or cost method of accounting, as appropriate, for subsequent periods.  

Although the Company’s ownership percentage in GoIndustry exceeds 50% at December 31, 2005, the Company has not consolidated their 
financial statements due to the existence of certain minority voting rights in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) No. 96-16, 
“Investor’s Accounting for an Investee When an Investor Has a Majority of the Voting Interest but the Minority Shareholder or Shareholders 
Have Certain Approval or Veto Rights.” Upon completion of GoIndustry’s reverse merger on January 4, 2006, the Company owns 38% of 
GoIndustry.  

Equity Method. Partner Companies that are not consolidated, but over which the Company exercises significant influence, are accounted for 
under the equity method of accounting. Whether or not the Company exercises significant influence with respect to a Partner Company depends 
on an evaluation of several factors, including, among others, representation on the Partner Company’s Board of Directors and ownership level, 
which is generally a 20% to 50% interest in the voting securities of the Partner Company, including voting rights associated with the Company’s 
holdings in common stock, preferred stock and other convertible instruments in the Partner Company. Under the equity method of accounting, a 
Partner Company’s accounts are not reflected within the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets and Statements of Operations; however, the 
Company’s share of the earnings or losses of the Partner Company is reflected in the caption “Equity loss” in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations. The carrying value of equity method Partner Companies is reflected in “Ownership interests in Partner Companies” in the 
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.  
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2. Significant Accounting Policies — (Continued)  

When the Company’s interest in an equity method Partner Company is reduced to zero, no further losses are recorded in the Company’s 
Consolidated Financial Statements unless the Company guaranteed obligations of the Partner Company or has committed additional funding. 
When the Partner Company subsequently reports income, the Company will not record its share of such income until it equals the amount of its 
share of losses not previously recognized.  

Cost Method. Partner Companies not accounted for under the consolidation or the equity method of accounting are accounted for under the cost 
method of accounting. Under this method, the Company’s share of the earnings or losses of such companies is not included in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet or Consolidated Statements of Operations. However, cost method Partner Company impairment charges are recognized in the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. If circumstances suggest that the value of the Partner Company has subsequently recovered, such 
recovery is not recorded.  

When a cost method Partner Company qualifies for use of the equity method, the Company’s interest is adjusted retroactively for its share of the 
past results of its operations. Therefore, prior losses could significantly decrease the Company’s carrying value balance at that time.  

The Company records its ownership interest in equity securities of Partner Companies accounted for under the cost method at cost, unless these 
securities have readily determinable fair values based on quoted market prices, in which case these interests are valued at fair value and 
classified as marketable securities or some other classification in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 
No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.”  

Ownership Interests in Partner Companies, Goodwill and Intangibles, net  

The Company follows the guidance in SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” The Company is required to test intangible assets 
and goodwill for impairment in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142. The Company follows the guidance in Accounting Principles 
Board (“APB”) No. 18, “The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock” to evaluate its equity method ownership 
interests in Partner Companies for impairment.  

The Company continually evaluates the carrying value of its ownership interests in each of its Partner Companies for possible impairment based 
on achievement of business plan objectives and milestones, the value of each ownership interest in the Partner Company relative to carrying 
value, the financial condition and prospects of the Partner Company, and other relevant factors. The business plan objectives and milestones the 
Company considers include, among others, those related to financial performance such as achievement of planned financial results or completion 
of capital raising activities, and those that are not primarily financial in nature, such as obtaining key business partnerships or the hiring of key 
employees. Impairment charges are determined by comparing the estimated fair value of a Partner Company with its carrying value. Fair value is 
determined by estimating the cash flows related to the asset, including estimated proceeds on disposition.  

The Company’s policy is to perform its annual impairment testing for all Partner Companies and goodwill in the fourth quarter of each fiscal 
year. The Company performed its annual impairment test during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005 and concluded the carrying value of its 
ownership interest in Partner Companies, goodwill and intangibles, net was not impaired. At December 31, 2005, the Company’s carrying value 
of its ownership interests in Partner Companies totaled $71.5 million, goodwill totaled $20.4 million and intangibles net totaled $3.4 million.  

Revenue Recognition  

During 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company’s revenues were primarily attributable to ICG Commerce, CommerceQuest and StarCite.  
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2. Significant Accounting Policies — (Continued)  

ICG Commerce generates revenue from sourcing consulting and procurement outsourcing services. Sourcing programs are engagements in 
which ICG Commerce negotiates prices from certain suppliers on behalf of its customers in certain categories in which ICG Commerce has a 
sourcing expertise. Under sourcing programs, either the customer pays a fixed-fee or a gain-share amount for use of the negotiated rates. In 
fixed-fee arrangements, revenue is recognized on a percentage-of-completion basis, provided there is no uncertainty as to ICG Commerce’s 
ability to fulfill its obligations under the contract or other services that are to be rendered under the contract. Gain-share revenue is recognized 
when earned. Procurement outsourcing services generally include a combination of services and technology designed to help companies achieve 
unit cost savings and process efficiencies. ICG Commerce earns fees for implementation services, start-up services, content and category 
management (which may include sourcing as described above), hosting fees, buying center management fees, and transaction fees. ICG 
Commerce estimates the total contract value under these arrangements and generally recognizes revenue under these arrangements, excluding 
transaction fees and gain-share fees, on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract, which approximates the life of the customer 
relationship. Fees subject to guaranteed savings provisions are deferred until the contingency is achieved or it is determined from existing data 
and past experience that the savings will be achieved, and then recognized on a straight-line basis over the remaining life of the contract, which 
approximates the life of the customer relationship. Transaction fees are typically based on a percentage of the cost of the items purchased 
through the exchange transaction. ICG Commerce does not carry inventory or warranty risk. ICG Commerce records transaction revenue under 
the net method. Under this method, the net transaction fees as opposed to the gross amounts charged to customers are recorded as revenue. ICG 
Commerce recognizes transaction fee revenue when earned.  

StarCite’s revenues are primarily derived from hotel media marketing packages, attendee management software, site selection and various 
enabling technologies. Marketing packages, attendee management software and enabling technology revenues are recognized over the life of the 
contract, which approximates the life of the customer relationship. The contract terms typically range from one to three years. Site selection 
revenues are recognized at the time the meeting occurs, which assumes no significant performance obligation remains.  

CommerceQuest was a consolidated Company through September 30, 2005, at which time it was acquired by Metastorm and became an equity 
method company. CommerceQuest recognized revenue from software license fees and services. CommerceQuest sold their software direct to 
end users, as well as through resellers. Fees from licenses were recognized as revenue upon contract execution, provided all delivery obligations 
had been met, fees were fixed or determinable, collection was probable, and vendor-specific objective evidence existed for the undelivered 
elements of the arrangement. Maintenance revenue was recognized ratably over the term of the maintenance contract. Consulting and training 
revenue was recognized when the services were performed. Implementation fees, which did not relate to software license fees including start-up 
fees, were deferred and generally recognized as revenue over the term of the arrangement.  

Use of Estimates  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates.  

These estimates include evaluation of the Company’s holdings in its Partner Companies, holdings in marketable securities, asset impairment, 
revenue recognition, income taxes and commitments and contingencies. Certain amounts recorded to reflect the Company’s share of losses of 
Partner Companies accounted for under the equity method are based on unaudited results of operations of those Partner Companies and may 
require adjustments in the future when audits of these entities are made final. It is reasonably possible that the Company’s accounting estimates 
with respect to the useful life of intangible assets and the ultimate recoverability of ownership interests in Partner Companies and goodwill could 
change in the near term and that the effect of such changes on the financial statements could be material. At year end, the Company believes the 
recorded amount of ownership interests in Partner Companies and goodwill is not impaired.  
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2. Significant Accounting Policies — (Continued)  

Cash and Cash Equivalents  

The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with an original maturity of 90 days or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents. 
Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2005 and 2004 are invested principally in money market accounts, certificates of deposit and 
commercial paper.  

Restricted Cash  

The Company considers cash that is legally restricted and cash that is held as a compensating balance for letter of credit arrangements as 
restricted cash. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, restricted cash was held primarily in money market accounts. Long-term restricted cash of $0.3 
million at December 31, 2005 and $0.2 million at December 31, 2004 is included in “Other” assets on the Company’s Consolidated Balance 
Sheets.  

Short-term Investments  

Short-term investments are debt securities, principally commercial paper and certificates of deposit, maturing in less than one year, are classified 
as available for sale and are recorded at market value using the specific identification method. Short-term investments consisted of $5.0 million 
in certificates of deposit at December 31, 2005 and $53.9 million in commercial paper and $4.0 million in certificates of deposit at December 31, 
2004. All of the short-term investments outstanding at December 31, 2005 mature in 2006.  

Marketable Securities  

Marketable securities are reported at fair value, based on quoted market prices, with the net unrealized gain or loss reported as a component of 
“Accumulated other comprehensive income” in stockholders’ equity.  

Financial Instruments  

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable are carried at cost which approximates fair value due to the short-term 
maturity of these instruments. Short-term investments and marketable securities are carried at fair value. The Company’s senior convertible 
notes had a fair value of approximately $41.8 million and $73.3 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, versus a carrying value of 
$37.0 million and $60.0 million. Fair value of the Company’s senior convertible notes is determined by obtaining thinly traded market quotes.  

Deferred Revenue  

Deferred revenue consists primarily of payments received in advance of revenue being earned under procurement sourcing arrangements, hotel 
media marketing packages, software licensing, software installation, maintenance agreements and various start up fees.  

Research and Development  

Research and development costs are charged to expense as incurred.  

Income Taxes  

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method whereby deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated 
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 
respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the temporary 
differences  
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2. Significant Accounting Policies — (Continued)  

are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the 
period that includes the enactment date.  

Net Income (Loss) Per Share  

Basic net income (loss) per share (“EPS”) is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during each period. 
Diluted EPS includes shares, unless anti-dilutive, that would arise from the exercise of stock options and conversion of other convertible 
securities and is adjusted, if applicable, for the effect on net income (loss) of such transactions. If a consolidated or equity method Partner 
Company has dilutive options or securities outstanding, diluted net income per share is computed by deducting from income (loss) from 
continuing operations the income attributable to the potential exercise of the dilutive options or securities of the Partner Company.  

In 2005, the Company included all quarters for purposes of the year to date net income included in the diluted EPS calculation.  

As the Company has incurred losses for 2004 and 2003, the effects of dilutive securities are not included as they would be anti-dilutive. See Note 
17.  

Issuances of Stock By Partner Companies  

At the time a Partner Company accounted for under the consolidation or equity method of accounting issues its common stock at a price different 
from the Partner Company’s book value per share, the Company’s share of the Partner Company’s net equity changes and the Company adjusts 
the carrying value in the Partner Company and additional paid-in capital, accordingly. However, if at that time, the Partner Company is not a 
newly-formed, non-operating entity, nor a research and development, start-up or development stage company, nor is there question as to the 
Company’s ability to continue in existence, the Company records the change in its share of the Partner Company’s net equity as a gain or loss in 
our Consolidated Statements of Operations.  

Concentration of Customer Base and Credit Risk  

Approximately 13% of the Company’s revenue for the year ended December 31, 2005, related to a single customer of ICG Commerce. Accounts 
receivable from this customer at December 31, 2005 were $1.1 million.  

Approximately 21% of the Company’s revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003 related to a single customer of ICG Commerce. This 
customer terminated its arrangement to purchase services from ICG Commerce effective January 1, 2004.  

Accounts Receivable/Accounts Payable  

ICG Commerce provides services in which it manages the transaction between its customer and a third party supplier. In these transactions, ICG 
Commerce is responsible for paying the supplier for the full cost of the goods or services and the customer is responsible for paying ICG 
Commerce an amount, which is generally ICG Commerce’s cost plus a transaction fee, for the goods or services. ICG Commerce is typically 
responsible for paying the supplier independent of when and if ICG Commerce receives payment from its customer. ICG Commerce receives 
payment directly from its customer. ICG Commerce records the gross amount of the associated receivables and payables on the accompanying 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. However, ICG Commerce records the net amount of the transaction fee as revenue on the accompanying 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. As of December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, accounts receivable included approximately 
$0.4 million and $5.7 million, respectively, and accounts payable included $0.1 million and $4.2 million, respectively, related to such 
transactions. ICG Commerce is transitioning from managing such transactions as discussed above. Under the new model, ICG Commerce is no 
longer responsible for paying the suppliers.  
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Stock Based Compensation  

As permitted by SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” through December 31, 2005, the Company measures 
compensation cost in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and related interpretations. 
Accordingly, no compensation expense is recorded for stock options issued to employees that are granted at fair market value. Stock options 
issued to non-employees are recorded at fair  

value at the date of grant. Fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes model and the expense is amortized over the vesting period.  

In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – 
Transition and Disclosure – an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123,” which provides optional transition guidance for those companies 
electing to voluntarily adopt the accounting provisions of SFAS No. 123. In addition, the statement mandates certain disclosures that are 
incremental to those required by SFAS No. 123. The Company has continued to account for stock-based compensation in accordance with the 
APB Opinion No. 25. The Company has adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 148.  

The following table illustrates the effect on the Company’s net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share as if the fair value based method 
had been applied to all outstanding and unvested awards:  

The per share weighted-average fair value of options issued by the Company during 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $5.06, $5.50 and $6.47, 
respectively.  

The following assumptions were used to determine the fair value of stock options granted to employees by the Company for the three years 
ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003:  

The Company also includes its share of its Partner Companies’ SFAS No. 123 pro forma expense in the Company’s SFAS No. 123 pro forma 
expense. The methods used by the Partner Companies included the minimum value method for private Partner Companies and the Black-Scholes 
method for public Partner Companies.  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
    (in thousands, except per share data)   
Net income (loss), as reported    $ 72,518     $ (135,317 )   $ (135,884 ) 
Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net income (loss)      4,339       1,583       2,725   
Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair-value-based 

method for all awards      (8,305 )     (8,123 )     (18,292 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Pro forma net income (loss)    $ 68,552     $ (141,857 )   $ (151,451 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                           
Net income (loss) per basic share, as reported    $ 1.95     $ (3.79 )   $ (8.98 ) 
Net income (loss) per diluted share, as reported    $ 1.73     $ (3.79 )   $ (8.98 ) 
Pro forma net income (loss) per basic share    $ 1.85     $ (3.97 )   $ (10.01 ) 
Pro forma net income (loss) per diluted share    $ 1.64     $ (3.97 )   $ (10.01 ) 

                          
    2005   2004   2003 

Volatility      60-70 %     70-132.99 %     134.69-138.38 % 
Average expected option life    6.25 years   3 years   3 years 
Risk-free interest rate      3.91-4.26 %     2.26-2.88 %     1.99-2.26 % 
Dividend yield      0.0 %     0.0 %     0.0 % 
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In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment.” SFAS No. 123R revises SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation,” and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and its related implementation 
guidance. SFAS No. 123R requires compensation costs related to share-based payment transactions to be recognized in the financial statements 
(with limited exceptions). The amount of compensation cost is measured based on the grant-date fair value of the equity or liability instruments 
issued. Compensation cost will be recognized over the period that an employee provides service in exchange for the award. This statement is 
effective as of the beginning of the first annual reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005 and accordingly, the Company adopted SFAS 
No. 123R on January 1, 2006 using the modified prospective model and will estimate the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model. In 2006, the estimated impact of SFAS No. 123R on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations will be 
consistent with the Company’s pro forma disclosure.  

Other Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

In November 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) No. FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary 
Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments,” or FSP 115-1, as applicable to debt and equity securities that are within the scope of 
SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities” and equity securities that are accounted for using the cost 
method specified in APB No. 18, “The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock.” FSP 115-1 also includes accounting 
considerations subsequent to the recognition of an other-than-temporary impairment and requires certain disclosures about unrealized losses that 
have not been recognized as other-than-temporary impairments. The Company is currently evaluating the effect of FSP 115-1 on the Company’s 
Consolidated Statements of Operations but the Company does not expect FSP 115-1 to have a material impact.  

Comprehensive Income (Loss)  

The Company reports and displays comprehensive income (loss) and its components in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
(Loss). Comprehensive income (loss) is the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from non-owner sources. Excluding net 
income (loss), the Company’s sources of comprehensive income (loss) are from net unrealized appreciation on its marketable securities and 
foreign currency translation adjustments. Reclassification adjustments result from the recognition in net income of gains or losses that were 
included in comprehensive income (loss) in prior periods.  

Reclassifications and Revisions  

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. The impact of these changes is not material and 
did not affect net loss.  

In 2005, the Company has separately disclosed the operating, investing and financing portions of the cash flows attributable to its discontinued 
operations in 2003, which in prior periods were reported on a combined basis as a single amount.  
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3. Ownership interests in Partner Companies, Goodwill and Intangibles, net  

The following table summarizes the Company’s goodwill, other intangibles, and ownership interests in Partner Companies.  
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    December 31,     December 31,   
    2005     2004   
    (in thousands)   
Goodwill    $ 20,383     $ 45,196   
     

  

    

  

  

                   
Intangibles, net    $ 3,407     $ 4,512   
     

  

    

  

  

                   
Ownership interests in Partner Companies — Equity Method    $ 67,617     $ 45,451   
Ownership interests in Partner Companies — Cost Method      3,836       4,343   
     

  
    

  
  

     $ 71,453     $ 49,794   
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3. Ownership Interests in Partner Companies, Goodwill and Intangibles, net — (Continued)  

The following table summarizes the 2005 activity related to Goodwill:  

As of December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, all of the Company’s goodwill was allocated to the Core segment.  

Intangibles, net are shown in the tables below:  

Amortization expense for intangible assets during the three years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $2.1 million, $2.7 million and 
$8.0 million, respectively. Estimated amortization expense for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2006 and succeeding fiscal years is as 
follows (in thousands):  
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Goodwill at December 31, 2004    $ 45,196   

Acquisitions      4,691   
Dispositions      (25,345 ) 
Impairments      (1,839 ) 
Translation/Other      (2,320 ) 

     
  
  

Goodwill at December 31, 2005    $ 20,383   
     

  

  

                                  
            As of December 31, 2005   
            (in thousands)   
    Useful     Gross Carrying     Accumulated     Net Carrying   
Intangible Assets   Life     Amount     Amortization     Amount   
Technology    1.5-5 years   $ 18,105     $ (17,229 )   $ 876   
Customer lists    3 years     2,599       (247 )     2,352   
Tradename    Indefinite     179       —      179   
             

  
    

  
    

  
  

             $ 20,883     $ (17,476 )   $ 3,407   
             

  

    

  

    

  

  

                                  
            As of December 31, 2004   
            (in thousands)   
    Useful     Gross Carrying     Accumulated     Net Carrying   
Intangible Assets   Life     Amount     Amortization     Amount   
Technology    2-5 years   $ 20,071     $ (16,305 )   $ 3,766   
Tradename    Indefinite     746       —      746   
             

  
    

  
    

  
  

             $ 20,817     $ (16,305 )   $ 4,512   
             

  

    

  

    

  

  

          
2006    $ 1,606   
2007      1,061   
2008      561   
     

  
  

     $ 3,228   
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Acquisitions  

During 2005, the Company acquired majority ownership positions in two Partner Companies, Investor Force and StarCite, which were accounted 
for under the purchase method of accounting. The purchase price, including the carrying value of the ownership interest for Partner Companies 
previously accounted for under the equity method, has been allocated to the assets and the liabilities based upon their fair values at the date of 
the acquisition. The assets and liabilities for these acquisitions were allocated as follows:  

Following here is unaudited selected pro forma financial information had the Company consolidated StarCite for the year ended December 31, 
2005. Revenue, net income (loss) and net income (loss) per diluted share would have been $58.0 million, $72.3 million and $1.73 per diluted 
share, respectively. Had the Company consolidated Investor Force and StarCite for the year ended December 31, 2004, revenue, net income 
(loss) and net income (loss) per basic and diluted share would have been $58.3 million, $(139.0) million and $(3.82) per basic and diluted share, 
respectively.  

Dispositions/Impairments  

In October 2005, CommerceQuest, a consolidated Partner Company, was acquired by Metastorm. In exchange for its interest in CommerceQuest 
and as a result of a concurrent financing, the Company now owns 41% of Metastorm. Based on the estimated fair value of the Company’s 
ownership interest in Metastorm, the Company recorded an impairment charge of approximately $2.7 million during the year ended 
December 31, 2005 related to $1.8 million of goodwill and $0.9 million of intangibles. The amount of goodwill on the Company’s Consolidated 
Balance Sheet related to CommerceQuest prior to the impairment was $27.1 million. Beginning October 1, 2005, Metastorm is accounted for 
under the equity method of accounting.  

The Company received $0.7 million in cash in February 2006 representing payment under a net working capital adjustment provision associated 
with the Metastorm acquisition. This amount is reflected as “Other income (loss), net” on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations 
for the year ended December 31, 2005.  

Equity Method Companies  

The following unaudited summarized financial information relates to the Company’s Partner Companies accounted for under the equity method 
of accounting at December 31, 2005.  
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    Investor Force     StarCite   
    (in thousands)   
Net Assets Acquired:                  
Goodwill    $ 2,589     $ 2,102   
Customer base      —      2,513   
Technology      11       75   
Tradename      —      179   
Other net assets (liabilities)      (670 )     (1,659 ) 
     

  
    

  
  

     $ 1,930     $ 3,210   
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This information has been compiled from the financial statements of the respective Partner Companies.  

Balance Sheets (Unaudited)  
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    As of December 31, 2005   
            Other         
    Core (1)     Holdings (2)     Total   
    (in thousands)   
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments    $ 42,633     $ 8,525     $ 51,158   
Other current assets      28,657       26,121       54,778   
Other non-current assets      65,010       54,419       119,429   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total assets    $ 136,300     $ 89,065     $ 225,365   
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                           
Current liabilities    $ 50,514     $ 38,712     $ 89,226   
Non-current liabilities      274       1,714       1,988   
Long-term debt      5,129       14,147       19,276   
Stockholders’  equity      80,383       34,492       114,875   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total liabilities and stockholders’  equity    $ 136,300     $ 89,065     $ 225,365   
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                           
Total carrying value    $ 66,678     $ 939     $ 67,617   
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

  

(1)   Includes (voting ownership): CreditTrade (27%), Freeborders (33%), Marketron (38%), Metastorm (41%) and WhiteFence (39%). 
  

(2)   Includes ComputerJobs (46%), eCredit (29%) and GoIndustry (54%). 
                                  
    As of December 31, 2004   
            Other     Dispositions/         
    Core (3)     Holdings (4)     Other (5)     Total   
    (in thousands)   
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments    $ 23,027     $ 11,708     $ 20,712     $ 55,447   
Other current assets      17,785       21,155       16,735       55,675   
Other non-current assets      45,452       58,875       4,941       109,268   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total assets    $ 86,264     $ 91,738     $ 42,388     $ 220,390   
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

                                   
Current liabilities    $ 34,370     $ 33,666     $ 13,759     $ 81,795   
Non-current liabilities      904       —      6       910   
Long-term debt      6,933       23,154       983       31,070   
Stockholders’equity      44,057       34,918       27,640       106,615   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total liabilities and stockholders’  equity    $ 86,264     $ 91,738     $ 42,388     $ 220,390   
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

                                   
Total carrying value    $ 27,739     $ 3,734     $ 13,978     $ 45,451   
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

  

(3)   Includes CreditTrade (30%), Freeborders (48%), InvestorForce (38%), Marketron (38%) and StarCite (37%). 
  

(4)   Includes ComputerJobs (46%), eCredit (32%), Foodlink Online (20%) and GoIndustry (54%). 
  

(5)   Includes Co-nect (36%) and LinkShare (40%). 
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Results of Operations (Unaudited)  

Other Equity Company Information  

During 2005, the Company’s share of the net loss of GoIndustry exceeded the Company’s carrying value of GoIndustry. Accordingly, the 
Company recorded equity loss to the extent of carrying value. As the Company’s carrying value of GoIndustry is zero at December 31, 2005, no 
additional equity loss relating to GoIndustry will be recorded by the Company unless the Company funds, commits to fund or guarantees 
obligations of GoIndustry. Additionally, no equity income will be recorded by the Company until such equity income equals the amount of its 
share of losses not previously recognized.  

In January 2006, GoIndustry, through a reverse merger, listed its securities on the AIM Exchange of the London Stock Exchange and became a 
publicly-traded Partner Company. The Company holds 69,177,300  
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    Year Ended December 31, 2005   
            Other     Dispositions/         
    Core (1)     Holdings (2)     Other (3)     Total   
    (in thousands)   
Revenue    $ 114,813     $ 49,679     $ 46,147     $ 210,639   
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

  
Net income (loss)    $ (5,737 )   $ (7,693 )   $ 4,916     $ (8,514 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

  
Total equity income (loss)    $ (3,250 )   $ (5,597 )   $ 2,144     $ (6,703 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

  

(1)   Includes CreditTrade, Freeborders, Marketron for full year 2005; Metastorm and WhiteFence from the time of acquisition and StarCite for 
six months ended June 30, 2005. 

  

(2)   Includes ComputerJobs, eCredit and GoIndustry for full year 2005. 
  

(3)   Includes Co-nect and LinkShare for nine months ended September 30, 2005. 
                                  
    Year Ended December 31, 2004   
            Other     Dispositions/         
    Core (4)     Holdings (5)     Other (6)     Total   
    (in thousands)   
Revenue    $ 88,906     $ 48,591     $ 50,391     $ 187,888   
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

  
Net income (loss)    $ (11,885 )   $ (17,098 )   $ 1,512     $ (27,471 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

  
Total equity income (loss)    $ (3,808 )   $ (3,496 )   $ 1,411     $ (5,893 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

  

(4)   Includes CreditTrade, Freeborders, InvestorForce, Marketron and StarCite for full year 2004. 
  

(5)   Includes ComputerJobs, eCredit, Foodlink Online and GoIndustry for full year 2004. 
  

(6)   Includes primarily Co-nect and LinkShare for full year 2004. 
                                  
    Year Ended December 31, 2003   
            Other     Dispositions/         
    Core (7)     Holdings (8)     Other (9)     Total   
    (in thousands)   
Revenue    $ 70,731     $ 46,568     $ 160,148     $ 277,447   
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

  
Net income (loss)    $ (24,009 )   $ (13,543 )   $ (36,572 )   $ (74,124 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

Total equity income (loss)                                  
     $ (5,628 )   $ (3,642 )   $ (5,270 )   $ (14,540 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

  

(7)   Includes CreditTrade, InvestorForce, Marketron and StarCite for full year 2003; Freeborders for nine months ended December 31, 2003. 
  

(8)   Includes ComputerJobs, Foodlink Online and GoIndustry for full year 2003; eCredit for nine months ended December 31, 2003. 
  

(9)   Includes primarily Co-nect and LinkShare for full year 2003; Universal Access and Verticalnet for nine months ended September 30, 2003. 
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shares of GoIndustry common stock valued at approximately $23.1 million as of March 6, 2006 and may receive an additional 11,964,602 shares 
of GoIndustry common stock as contingent consideration in respect of the reverse merger. The Company is restricted from selling shares of 
GoIndustry until January 4, 2007.  

Warrants  

At December 31, 2005, the estimated fair value of warrants owned by the Company was approximately $1.8 million and is included in “Other 
assets” in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. At December 31, 2004, the estimated fair value of the Company’s warrants was 
$0.9 million in “Prepaid expenses and other current assets” and $0.9 million in “Other assets” in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
The Company recorded gains related to the increase in the fair value of outstanding warrants of $2.9 million and $1.2 million for 2005 and 2004, 
respectively. These gains are included in “Other income (loss), net” on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. During 2005, the 
Company exercised warrants in Blackboard that had a value of $2.1 million and received 88,283 common shares of Blackboard and sold 
LinkShare warrants with a value of $0.8 million. The Company’s warrant holdings at December 31, 2005 include 78,737 warrants of Traffic.com 
with an exercise price of $0.75 per share.  

4. Marketable Securities  

Marketable securities represent the Company’s holdings in equity securities. The cost, unrealized holding gains/(losses), and fair value of 
marketable securities at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004 were as follows:  

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company sold 825,000 shares of Blackboard and received proceeds of $16.1 million. During the 
year ended December 31, 2005, the Company sold its holdings of Arbinet-the exchange Inc. (“Arbinet”) and Verticalnet and received proceeds 
of $3.1 million. The gains on the Blackboard, Arbinet and Verticalnet sales are reflected in “Other income (loss), net” in the Company’s 
Consolidated Statements of Operations.  

During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company recorded impairment charges of $1.3 million and $2.9 million, respectively, 
for the other than temporary decline in the fair market value of Verticalnet in 2005 and Universal Access Global Holdings, Inc. (“Universal 
Access”) in 2004 and is included in “Other Income (loss), net” in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.  
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                    Unrealized         
    Common Shares             Holding         
    Owned     Cost     Gains/(Losses)     Fair Value   
    (in thousands, except shares)   
December 31, 2005                                  
Blackboard      2,187,060     $ 3,162     $ 60,219     $ 63,381   
Other              —      44       44   
             

  
    

  
    

  
  

             $ 3,162     $ 60,263     $ 63,425   
             

  

    

  

    

  

  

                                   
December 31, 2004                                  
Blackboard      2,923,777     $ 775     $ 42,526     $ 43,301   
Arbinet      231,128       1,175       4,564       5,739   
Verticalnet      2,917,794       3,135       1,563       4,698   
Other              107       237       344   
             

  
    

  
    

  
  

             $ 5,192     $ 48,890     $ 54,082   
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The amounts reflected as the Company’s cost for Blackboard, Arbinet and Verticalnet include the carrying value on the date these Partner 
Companies converted to marketable securities and the value of warrants exercised.  

On January 25, 2006, Traffic.com completed an initial public offering of its common stock. The Company received $0.3 million in 
February 2006 upon the sale of 27,141 shares related to Traffic.com’s underwriter over-allotment exercise. The Company owns 595,058 shares 
of Traffic.com that had a fair value of approximately $5.7 million as of March 6, 2006. The Company’s carrying value was zero at December 31, 
2005 and 2004 related to Traffic.com. Pursuant to the terms of a lockup agreement, the Company is restricted from selling these shares prior to 
July 24, 2006.  

In February 2006, the Company entered into a cashless collar contract to hedge 500,000 shares of its holdings of Blackboard common stock. 
Based on the terms of the contract, the contract and related shares will be worth a minimum of $11.2 million, or $22.4419 per share, and a 
maximum of $27.7 million, or $55.4982 per share, at maturity in March 2010. The contract limits the Company’s exposure to and benefits from 
price fluctuations in the underlying equity securities.  

5. Debt  

Senior Convertible Notes  

In April 2004, the Company issued $60.0 million of senior convertible notes. The notes bear interest at an annual rate of 5%, payable semi-
annually, and mature in April 2009. The notes are convertible at the option of the holder, at any time on or before maturity into shares of the 
Company’s common stock at a conversion price of $9.108 per share. Additionally, subsequent to October 8, 2004, provided that at the time of 
redemption the Company is in compliance with certain other requirements, the notes may be redeemed by the Company if the Company’s 
closing stock price exceeds $15.94 per share for at least 20 out of 30 consecutive trading days.  

Except for certain permitted senior indebtedness and liens created in connection with certain hedging transactions, the notes (i) are senior to all 
other indebtedness, (ii) prohibit incurring or guaranteeing additional indebtedness, (iii) prohibit liens on Company assets, (iv) prohibit 
redemptions of the Company’s common stock, except in certain instances, and (v) prohibit the payment of dividends and the distribution of any 
material assets of the Company to stockholders.  

The Company recorded interest expense of $2.8 million and $2.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively related 
to these notes. Deferred financing fees related to the senior convertible notes of $1.6 million are being amortized over the life of the notes. 
Included in “Other assets” in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004 were $0.7 million 
and $1.5 million, respectively, of deferred financing fees. The Company expensed $0.3 million and $0.3 million, respectively, relating to these 
fees in the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.  

In October and November 2005, the Company repurchased an aggregate of $23.0 million of principal amount in total of the April 2009 senior 
convertible notes for $28.4 million in cash. The Company recorded a $5.9 million loss on the repurchase during the three months ended 
December 31, 2005 including approximately $0.5 million related to the acceleration of deferred financing fees. The loss is included in “Other 
income (loss), net” on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.  
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Convertible Subordinated Notes  

In December 1999, the Company issued $566.3 million of convertible subordinated notes. The notes bore interest at an annual rate of 5.5% and 
were scheduled to mature in December 2004. From 2001 through March 31, 2004, the Company repurchased and extinguished $527.2 million of 
the original $566.3 million face value of convertible notes for $89.8 million in cash and 23.2 million shares of the Company’s common stock in a 
series of separate transactions. In June 2004, the Company redeemed for cash the remaining $39.1 million face value of convertible notes for 
$39.5 million, recognizing a $0.4 million loss on the early redemption. This loss is included in “Other income (loss), net” in the Company’s 
Consolidated Statements of Operations.  

The following tables summarize the Company’s cash debt repurchases and debt for equity exchanges:  

The debt for equity exchanges were accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 84, “Induced Conversions of Convertible Debt,” and 
accordingly the Company recorded expense equal to the fair value of the shares issued in excess of the fair value of the shares issuable pursuant 
to the original conversion terms, less accrued interest. Additionally, additional paid-in capital increased by the face value of the convertible notes 
exchanged and the fair value of the shares issued in excess of the shares issuable pursuant to the original terms.  

The Company recorded interest expense of $1.6 million and $13.7 million during 2004 and 2003, respectively, related to these notes.  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2004     2003   
    (in thousands)   
Cash repurchases of convertible debt                  
Face value of convertible subordinated notes repurchased/redeemed    $ 39,111     $ 12,000   
Cash paid      (39,541 )     (5,529 ) 
Other expenses      (169 )     (68 ) 
     

  
    

  
  

Gain (loss) recorded    $ (599 )   $ 6,403   
     

  

    

  

  

                  
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2004     2003   
    (in thousands)   
Debt for equity exchanges                  
Face value of convertible subordinated notes exchanged    $ 134,808     $ 97,195   
     

  

    

  

  

Shares of common stock issued for debt exchange      15,887       7,353   
     

  

    

  

  

Fair value of common stock issued    $ (133,264 )   $ (66,762 ) 
Fair value of common stock issued-original terms      449       360   
Accrued interest      790       1,599   
Other expenses      (534 )     (897 ) 
     

  
    

  
  

Expense recorded    $ (132,559 )   $ (65,700 ) 
     

  
    

  
  

Net income (expense) included in “Other income (loss), net”  in the Consolidated Statements of Operations    $ (133,158 )   $ (59,297 ) 
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Other Long-Term Debt  

The Company’s long-term debt at December 31, 2005 and 2004 relates to its consolidated Partner Companies, and primarily consists of secured 
notes due to stockholders and outside lenders of StarCite and ICG Commerce.  

The Company’s other long-term debt of $1.1 million, $0.8 million, $0.5 million and $3.0 million is due for 2006, 2007, 2008, and 2009, 
respectively.  

During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company settled short-term debt consisting of $6.2 million of principal and $2.3 million of 
accrued interest for a total of $6.9 million in cash. The resulting $1.6 million gain is reflected in “Other income (loss), net” in the Company’s 
Consolidated Statement of Operations.  

Loan and Credit Agreements  

On September 30, 2002, the Company entered into a loan agreement with Comerica Bank to provide for the issuance of letters of credit (the 
“Loan Agreement”). The Loan Agreement provided for issuances of letters of credit up to $20 million subject to a cash-secured borrowing base 
as defined by the Loan Agreement. The Loan Agreement was reduced to $10 million in 2004. In December 2005, the Loan Agreement was 
extended to December 14, 2006. Issuance fees of 0.50% per annum of the face amount of each letter of credit will be paid to Comerica Bank 
subsequent to issuance. The Loan Agreement also is subject to a 0.25% per annum unused commitment fee payable to the bank quarterly. No 
amounts were outstanding at December 31, 2005 or 2004.  

6. Fixed Assets  

Fixed assets consist of the following:  

In 2005, the Company wrote off fixed assets of $5.0 million and accumulated depreciation of $5.0 million.  

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $1.7 million, $1.1 million and $5.5 million, respectively.  
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            As of December 31,   
    Interest Rates     2005     2004   
            (in thousands)   
Notes payable      6.0 %   $ 3,049     $ —  
Commercial loan payable      7.7 %     —      18   
Capital leases      12.0-15.7 %     382       30   
Other Debt      5.0 %     1,980       —  
             

  
    

  
  

               5,411       48   
Current maturities              (1,117 )     (37 ) 
             

  
    

  
  

Long term debt            $ 4,294     $ 11   
             

  

    

  

  

                          
            As of December 31,   
    Useful Life     2005     2004   
            (in thousands)   
Computer equipment and software, office equipment and furniture    3-10 years   $ 16,270     $ 18,482   
Leasehold improvements    1-5 years     289       2,426   
             

  
    

  
  

               16,559       20,908   
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization              (14,673 )     (18,969 ) 
             

  
    

  
  

             $ 1,886     $ 1,939   
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7. Discontinued Operations  

In 2005, ICG Commerce entered into an agreement to sell its German subsidiary for nominal consideration. The sale closed in January 2006. In 
2003 and 2002, three of the Company’s Core Partner Companies sold substantially all of their assets. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, 
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” these partner companies have been treated as discontinued operations. 
Accordingly, the operating results of these four discontinued operations have been presented separately from continuing operations and include 
the gains or losses recognized on disposition in the line item “Income (loss) on discontinued operations, net” in the Company’s Consolidated 
Statements of Operations.  

ICG Commerce’s German subsidiary had revenues of $9.8 million, $10.5 million and $12.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 
2004 and 2003, respectively. The Company recorded a loss of $2.3 million on this transaction. The Company’s share of net losses for ICG 
Commerce’s German subsidiary was $0.7 million and $0.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and a gain of 
$0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003.  

In 2003, the sale of the assets of OneCoast Network Holdings, Inc. (“OneCoast”) occurred. The Company received no cash proceeds on the 
transaction and recorded a loss of approximately $10.8 million. OneCoast had revenues of $24.4 million in 2003. The Company’s share of the 
losses of OneCoast totaled $2.1 million for 2003.  

During 2004 and 2003, the Company received $3.0 million and $0.5 million, respectively, of additional proceeds from the sale of the assets of 
Delphion, Inc. Additionally, the Company received $1.7 million in additional proceeds in 2003 from the sale of Logistics.com, Inc. and 
recognized a gain of $1.2 million in 2003. These gains were reflected in “Gain (loss) on discontinued operations, net” in the Company’s 
Consolidated Statements of Operations.  

8. Segment Information  

The Company’s reportable segments using the “management approach” under SFAS No. 131, “Disclosure About Segments of a Business 
Enterprise and Related Information,” consist of two operating segments, the core (“Core”) operating segment and the Other Holdings (“Other 
Holdings”) operating segment. Each segment includes the results of the Company’s Consolidated Partner Companies and records the Company’s 
share of earnings and losses of Partner Companies accounted for under the equity method of accounting and captures the Company’s basis in the 
assets of all of its partner companies. Any marketable securities are considered “Corporate” assets whereas, prior to becoming marketable 
securities, the Partner Company would have been included in the Core or Other Holdings category.  

The Core operating segment includes those partner companies in which the Company’s management takes a very active role in providing 
strategic direction and management assistance. The Other Holdings operating segment includes stakes in companies that are, in general, 
managed to provide the greatest near-term stockholder value.  

Approximately 5%, 14% and 11% of the Company’s consolidated revenues for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, 
respectively, relates to sales generated in the United Kingdom. Approximately 2% and 11% of the Company’s consolidated revenue for the years 
ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, relates to sales generated in Germany. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company’s 
assets were primarily located in the United States.  
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The following summarizes the selected information related to the Company’s segments. All significant intersegment activity has been 
eliminated. Assets are owned or allocated assets used by each operating segment.  

Segment Information  
(in thousands)  

61  

                                                          
                            Reconciling Items     
                            Discontinued                     
                            Operations                     
            Other   Total   and                   Consolidated 
    Core   Holdings   Segment   Dispositions   Corporate   Other   Results 

Year Ended December 31, 2005                                                          
Revenues    $ 50,576     $ —    $ 50,576     $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 50,576   
Net income (loss)    $ (20,099 )   $ (5,597 )   $ (25,696 )   $ (861 )   $ (18,473 )   $ 117,548 *   $ 72,518   
Assets    $ 123,608     $ 4,775     $ 128,383     $ 9,038     $ 209,111     $ —    $ 346,532   
Capital Expenditures    $ (738 )   $ —    $ (738 )   $ —    $ (135 )   $ —    $ (873 ) 
                                                           
Year Ended December 31, 2004                                                          
Revenues    $ 41,857     $ —    $ 41,857     $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 41,857   
Net income (loss)    $ (11,770 )   $ (3,496 )   $ (15,266 )   $ 3,999     $ (18,116 )   $ (105,934) *   $ (135,317 ) 
Assets    $ 114,611     $ 7,570     $ 122,181     $ 25,894     $ 129,531     $ —    $ 277,606   
Capital Expenditures    $ (843 )   $ —    $ (843 )   $ —    $ (160 )   $ —    $ (1,003 ) 
                                                           
Year Ended December 31, 2003                                                          
Revenues    $ 56,895     $ 1,020     $ 57,915     $ —    $ —    $ —    $ 57,915   
Net income (loss)    $ (29,173 )   $ (5,587 )   $ (34,760 )   $ (14,939 )   $ (25,964 )   $ (60,221) *   $ (135,884 ) 
Assets    $ 127,874     $ 10,539     $ 138,413     $ 27,663     $ 65,087     $ —    $ 231,163   
Capital Expenditures    $ (451 )   $ —    $ (451 )   $ —    $ (158 )   $ —    $ (609 ) 

  

*   Other reconciling items to net income (loss) are as follows: 
                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
Other income (loss) (Note 15)    $ 136,603     $ (106,705 )   $ (60,280 ) 
Taxes      (18,640 )     —      —  
Minority interest      2,282       771       2,384   
Impairment of consolidated Partner Companies      (2,697 )     —      (944 ) 
Impairment of equity method Partner Companies      —      —      (1,381 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

     $ 117,548     $ (105,934 )   $ (60,221 ) 
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9. Parent Company Financial Information  

Parent company financial information is provided to present the financial position and results of operations of the Company and its wholly-
owned subsidiaries as if the Partner Companies accounted for under the consolidation method of accounting were accounted for under the equity 
method of accounting for all applicable periods presented. The Company’s share of the consolidated Partner Companies’ losses is included in 
“Equity loss” in the Parent Company Statements of Operations for all periods presented based on the Company’s ownership percentage in each 
period. The carrying value of the consolidated companies as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 is included in “Ownership interests in Partner 
Companies” in the Parent Company Balance Sheets.  

Parent Company Balance Sheets  

Parent Company Statements of Operations  
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    As of December 31, 2005     As of December 31, 2004   
    (in thousands)   
Assets                  

Cash and cash equivalents    $ 129,555     $ 9,345   
Short-term investments      —      57,940   
Other current assets      14,226       2,746   

     
  
    

  
  

Current assets      143,781       70,031   
Ownership interests in Partner Companies      94,639       105,428   
Marketable securities      63,425       54,082   
Other      2,815       5,498   

     
  
    

  
  

Total assets    $ 304,660     $ 235,039   
     

  

    

  

  

                   
Liabilities and stockholders’  equity                  

Current liabilities    $ 11,415     $ 9,932   
Senior convertible notes      37,000       60,000   
Stockholders’  equity      256,245       165,107   

     
  
    

  
  

Total liabilities and stockholders’  equity    $ 304,660     $ 235,039   
     

  

    

  

  

                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
    (in thousands)   
Revenue    $ —    $ —    $ —  
Operating expenses                          

General and administrative      18,779       14,074       16,443   
Impairment related and other      2,697       476       (5,094 ) 

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

Total operating expenses      21,476       14,550       11,349   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

       (21,476 )     (14,550 )     (11,349 ) 
Other income (loss), net      136,603       (103,705 )     (58,605 ) 
Interest income (expense), net      306       (3,595 )     (14,615 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Income (loss) before income taxes and equity loss      115,433       (121,850 )     (84,569 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Income tax expense      (18,640 )     —      —  
Equity loss      (24,275 )     (13,467 )     (51,315 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net income (loss)    $ 72,518     $ (135,317 )   $ (135,884 ) 
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9. Parent Company Financial Information — (Continued)  

Parent Company Statements of Cash Flows  

10. Stockholders’ Equity  

The holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share and are entitled to dividends as declared. Dividends are restricted by the senior 
convertible notes and may be restricted by the inability to liquidate ownership interests in Partner Companies to fund cash dividends and may be 
subject to the preferential rights of the holders of the Company’s preferred stock, if any. No cash dividends have been declared to date and may 
not be declared for the foreseeable future.  

The Company may establish one or more classes or series of preferred stock. The holders of the preferred stock may be entitled to preferences 
over common stockholders with respect to dividends, liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, as established by the Company’s 
Board of Directors. As of December 31, 2005, 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock were authorized; no shares have been issued.  
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    Year Ended December 31   
    2005     2004     2003   
    (in thousands)   
Operating Activities                          
Net income (loss)    $ 72,518     $ (135,317 )   $ (135,884 ) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities                          

Depreciation and amortization      144       71       1,283   
Impairment related and other      2,697       476       (5,094 ) 
Stock-based compensation      4,331       1,413       2,327   
Equity loss      24,275       13,467       51,315   
Other income (loss)      (136,603 )     103,705       58,605   

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions:                          
Restricted cash      —      850       8,330   
Taxes receivable      (8,392 )     —      —  
Prepaid expenses and other assets      (73 )     1,176       3,143   
Accounts payable      62       (189 )     211   
Accrued expenses      1,362       869       (7,605 ) 

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

Cash used in operating activities      (39,679 )     (13,479 )     (23,369 ) 
Investing Activities                          

Capital expenditures, net      (135 )     (172 )     (158 ) 
Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets      —      12       —  
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities      19,153       7,798       9,935   
Proceeds from sales of ownership interests in Partner Companies      141,719       25,668       6,327   
Acquisitions of ownership interests in Partner Companies, net      (30,383 )     (21,147 )     (27,092 ) 
Purchase of short-term investments      (4,922 )     (85,219 )     —  
Proceeds from maturities of short-term investments      62,862       27,279       6,986   

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

Cash provided by (used in) investing activities      188,294       (45,781 )     (4,002 ) 
Financing Activities                          

Issuance of senior convertible notes, net      —      58,215       —  
Repurchase of senior convertible notes      (28,405 )     —      —  
Repurchase of convertible subordinated notes      —      (39,541 )     (5,529 ) 
Repayment of loans from employees      —      160       476   
Exercises of stock options      —      —      320   

     
  
    

  
    

  
  

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities      (28,405 )     18,834       (4,733 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents      120,210       (40,426 )     (32,104 ) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning at year      9,345       49,771       81,875   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year    $ 129,555     $ 9,345     $ 49,771   
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10. Stockholders’ Equity — (Continued)  

Stockholder Rights Plan  

During 2000, the Company enacted a stockholder rights plan. Under the stockholder rights plan, preferred stock purchase rights were distributed 
as a dividend at the rate of one right for each share of common stock outstanding as of the close of business on December 6, 2000 and one right 
per share has been issued in connection with shares issued subsequent to such date. Each right entitles the holder to purchase from the Company 
one ten-thousandth of a share of series A junior participating preferred stock of the Company at an exercise price of $100 per right. The rights 
attached to the Company’s common stock are not currently exercisable. The rights become exercisable and will separate from the common stock 
(1) ten calendar days after a person or group acquires, or announces the intent to acquire, beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the Company’s 
common stock, or (2) ten business days (or a later date following such announcement if determined by the Board of Directors of the Company in 
accordance with the plan) after the announcement of a tender offer or an exchange offer to acquire 15% or more of the Company’s outstanding 
common stock.  

The rights are redeemable for $0.0001 per right at the option of the Company’s Board of Directors at any time prior to the close of business on 
the tenth business day after the announcement of a stock acquisition event described above. If not redeemed, the rights will expire on 
November 22, 2010. Prior to the date upon which the rights would become exercisable under the plan, the Company’s outstanding stock 
certificates will represent both the shares of common stock and the rights will trade only with the shares of common stock.  

Generally, if the rights become exercisable, then each stockholder other than the acquirer is entitled to purchase, for the exercise price, that 
number of shares of common stock that, at the time of the transaction, will have a market value of three times the exercise price of the rights. In 
addition, if, after the rights become exercisable, the Company is acquired in a merger or other business combination, or 50% or more of its assets 
or earning power are sold, each right will entitle the holder to purchase, at the exercise price of the rights, that number of shares of common 
stock of the acquiring company that, at the time of the transaction, will have a market value of three times the exercise price of the rights.  

Common Stock Issued in Exchange for Convertible Debt  

During 2004 and 2003, the Company issued 15,886,698 shares and 7,352,975 shares of common stock, respectively, in exchange for convertible 
debt. See Note 5.  

Common Stock Issued to Third Parties  

During 2003, the Company issued 75,000 shares of common stock in settlement of a lease obligation, valued at $0.6 million and 6,000 shares of 
common stock for services, valued at $0.1 million.  
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11. Stock Option Plans  

Incentive or non-qualified stock options may be granted to Company employees, directors and consultants under the 2005 Omnibus Equity 
Compensation Plan (the “2005 Equity Plan”), the Membership Profit Interest Plan (the “MPI Plan”), the 1999 Equity Compensation Plan (the 
“1999 Plan”) or the LGO Corporation 2001 Equity Compensation Plan (f/k/a Logistics.com 2001 Equity Compensation Plan) (the “LGO Plan,” 
together with the 2005 Equity Plan, MPI Plan and the 1999 Plan, the “Plans”). Generally, the grants vest over a two to five year period and 
expire eight to ten years after the date of grant. At December 31, 2005, the Company reserved approximately 566,733 shares of common stock 
under the Plans, for possible future issuance. Most Partner Companies also maintain their own stock option plans.  

The following table summarizes the activity of the Company’s stock option plans:  

At December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 there were 634,948, 583,751 and 495,748 options exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of 
$41.62, $44.98 and $84.84 per share under the Plans, respectively.  

The following tables summarize information about stock options outstanding at December 31:  
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            Weighted   
            Average   
    Shares     Exercise Price   
Outstanding at December 31, 2002      1,098,865     $ 86.40   
Options granted      30,900     $ 8.40   
Options exercised      (58,784 )   $ 15.00   
Options canceled/forfeited      (245,887 )   $ 182.60   
     

  
    

  
  

Outstanding at December 31, 2003      825,094     $ 61.60   
               

Options granted      55,100     $ 7.90   
Options canceled/forfeited      (89,365 )   $ 244.15   
     

  
    

  
  

Outstanding at December 31, 2004      790,829     $ 37.19   
Options granted      12,000     $ 7.73   
Options canceled/forfeited      (75,942 )   $ 32.10   
     

  
    

  
  

Outstanding at December 31, 2005      726,887     $ 37.24   
     

  

    

  

  

                      
2005 

                    Weighted Average 
    Shares     Shares     Remaining Contractual Life 

Exercise Price   Outstanding     Exercisable     (in Years) 

$4.59 — $8.00      137,224       78,491     7.3 
$8.01 — $12.00      186,233       160,324     7.1 
$12.01 — $20.00      127,199       119,907     5.6 
$20.01 — $2,210.00      276,231       276,226     5.0 
     

  
    

  
    

  

       726,887       634,948       
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11. Stock Option Plans — (Continued)  

During 2005, the Company issued 3,605,500 stock appreciation rights (“SAR’s”) primarily at a base price of $7.34. The SAR’s vest over four 
years and were subject to variable accounting from their grant date in 2005 through the Company’s adoption of SFAS 123R on January 1, 2006. 
The fair value in accordance with SFAS 123R will be $16.0 million and $15.2 million (net of $0.8 million recognized in 2005) will be amortized 
in 2006 through 2008. Stock-based compensation expense totaled $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 related to these SAR’s.  

In 2005 and 2004, the Company issued 819,300 and 640,326 shares of restricted stock. Recipients of restricted stock did not pay any cash 
consideration to the Company for the shares, have the right to vote all shares subject to the grant and receive all dividends with respect to the 
shares, whether or not the shares have vested. The 2005 and 2004 restricted stock grants valued at $6.0 million and $4.4 million, respectively, 
were recorded as unamortized deferred compensation and are generally being amortized over the vesting period. The 2005 restricted stock grant 
vested 25% in 2005 and ratably 25% per year each November. The 2004 restricted stock grant generally vests ratably over four years with 
acceleration provisions based on certain operating metrics. Approximately 11,000 shares were forfeited in 2004. Stock-based compensation 
expense for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 related to this restricted stock was $3.0 million and $0.9 million, respectively.  

In 2005, the Company issued 108,843 deferred stock units to the Company’s non-management directors valued at $0.8 million. Of these deferred 
stock units, 74,062 deferred stock units which were granted in July 2005 related to an annual grant for services and vested in February 2006. The 
Company recorded the value of these deferred stock units of $0.5 million as deferred compensation. Amortization of this deferred compensation 
was $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Estimated compensation expense for 2006 is $0.1 million. The residual 34,781 deferred 
stock units issued are related to quarterly grants for service in which the director can elect a percentage of compensation in deferred stock units 
in lieu of cash. The deferred stock units are issued at a 25% discount. The Company records expense when these deferred stock units are issued. 
For the year ended December 31, 2005, $0.3 million was expensed related to these grants.  

Additionally, the Company recorded compensation expense of $2.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 related to prior restricted 
stock grants that vested in 2003.  

During 2004, the Company issued 33,282 shares of common stock, valued at $0.3 million, to certain executive officers of the Company in 
payment of a portion of amounts due under the 2003 bonus plan and in 2003, issued 10,000 shares of common stock to members of its Board of 
Directors, valued at $0.1 million.  

Included in stock-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 is approximately $0.1 million, $0.5 million and 
$1.1 million, respectively, related to option grants to non-employees in the year ended December 31, 2000.  
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2004 

                    Weighted Average 
    Shares     Shares     Remaining Contractual Life 

Exercise Price   Outstanding     Exercisable     (in Years) 

$4.59 — $8.00      125,724       56,700     8.1 
$8.01 — $12.00      196,701       102,500     7.9 
$12.01 — $20.00      127,408       97,544     6.6 
$20.01 — $2,210.00      340,996       327,007     6.1 
     

  
    

  
    

  

       790,829       583,751       
     

  

    

  

    

  

                      
2003 

                    Weighted Average 
    Shares     Shares     Remaining Contractual Life 

Exercise Price   Outstanding     Exercisable     (in Years) 

$4.59 — $8.00      105,975       16,711     8.8 
$8.01 — $12.00      171,238       72,221     8.7 
$12.01 — $20.00      127,507       71,602     7.6 
$20.01 — $2,210.00      420,374       335,214     7.1 
     

  
    

  
    

  

       825,094       495,748       
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11. Stock Option Plans — (Continued)  

In 1999, the Company accepted full recourse promissory notes totaling $79.8 million from certain employees and a director as consideration for 
exercising all or a portion of their vested and unvested stock options issued under the 1999 Plan (a total of 1,799,575 shares of common stock 
were issued in connection with these exercises). These notes receivable were recorded as a reduction of stockholders’ equity (deficit). Through 
December 31, 2002, of the $79.8 million original principal balance, the Company received cash payments of $16.0 million and $33.2 million 
was satisfied in connection with employees’ terminations of employment, primarily through the repurchase of unvested shares, at the lower of 
cost or fair market value, and vested shares, at fair market value. The remaining principal balance of the option loans at December 31, 2002 was 
$30.6 million secured by 792,716 shares of the Company’s common stock.  

In 1999 and 2000, the Company made loans to employees to pay the income taxes that became due in connection with the option exercises. The 
outstanding principal and accrued interest balance on these loans at December 31, 2005 totaled approximately $4.8 million (including 
$3.6 million principal and $1.2 million interest) against which the Company has recorded a reserve of approximately $2.0 million. The 
remaining balance of $2.8 million is included in “Prepaid expenses and other current assets” on the Company’s December 31, 2005 Balance 
Sheet. Approximately $1.5 million of $2.8 million was received by the Company in February 2006 (see below). The remainder is due in 
December 2006.  

In 2001 and 2002, certain employees’ and former employees’ loans were modified from full recourse to 25% recourse of the original option loan 
principal, the modification of the interest rate on the loans to the applicable federal rate as of the date of modification and extension of the term 
of the loans from five years to 1) the earlier of December 1, 2006 or 3 years after separation of employment for the 2001 modifications or 2) to 
December 1, 2006 for the 2002 modifications. These modifications to the loans resulted in accounting for the loans and 774,716 shares of 
underlying common stock as options. Accordingly, these options have been treated for accounting purposes as variable awards since the 
modification date. The impact of these variable awards has not been significant through December 31, 2005. Additionally, accrued interest on 
these loans has been fully reserved for since the modification date.  

During 2003 and 2004, the Company received cash payments totaling $0.6 million relating to these loans.  

The loans to one former employee, which were modified in 2001, matured at the end of 2005. The remaining principal of $0.1 million and 
nominal interest on this employee’s loans were nonrecourse. At maturity, the Company foreclosed on the 1,993 shares of Company common 
stock securing this former employee’s loans and reflected the foreclosure as a “Repurchase of common stock from former employees” on the 
Company’s Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit).  

The remaining tax and option loans mature during 2006. At December 31, 2005, the principal balance and accrued interest on these loans totaled 
$33.5 million and $11.4 million, respectively. These loans have recourse balances of approximately $5.0 million and are secured by 782,723 
shares of Company common stock, including 366,926 shares held by three of the executive officers of the Company. Other than the $2.8 million 
tax loans discussed above and $0.3 million reflected as “Notes Receivable — Stockholders,” these option and tax loans are not included on the 
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2005 and 2004.  

The loans to a former employee, which were modified in 2001, matured in February 2006. The remaining principal and interest on this 
employee’s loans totaled $13.6 million at maturity, of which $2.2 million was recourse. At maturity, the recourse portion of the loan was 
collected ($1.5 million was applied to the principal portion of the tax loan discussed above) and the Company foreclosed on the 215,000 shares 
of Company common stock securing the non-recourse portion.  

67  



Table of Contents  

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  

12. Income Taxes  

Total income tax expense (benefit) was allocated as follows:  

The provision for income tax expense (benefit) consists of:  

The current expense consists of U. S. federal income taxes.  

During 2005, the Company made an estimated federal income tax payment of $26.9 million and the tax benefit of stock-based compensation 
included in equity is $0.1 million. Accordingly, an income tax receivable of $8.4 million is included in “Prepaid expenses and other current 
assets” on the Company’s December 31, 2005 Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

At December 31, 2005, the Company had federal net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $422 million that may be used to offset 
future taxable income. The Company also had capital loss carry forwards of approximately $763 million that may be used to offset future capital 
gains. These carry forwards, as well as certain other deferred tax assets, are subject to significant limitations on their utilization due to ownership 
changes experienced by the Company and certain consolidated Partner Companies. The annual limitation on the utilization of net operating loss 
carry forwards is approximately $13 million. The net operating loss carry forwards expire between 2014 and 2023, and the capital loss carry 
forwards expire between 2006 and 2010. Additional limitations on the utilization of these carry forwards may be imposed if the Company 
experiences another change in ownership.  

A valuation allowance has been provided for the Company’s net deferred tax asset as the Company believes, after evaluating all positive and 
negative evidence, historical and prospective, that it is more likely than not that these benefits will not be realized.  

     The Company’s net deferred tax asset (liability) consists of the following:  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
    (in thousands)   
Income from continuing operations    $ 18,640     $ —    $ —  
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total    $ 18,640     $ —    $ —  
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                          
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
    (in thousands)   
Current    $ 18,640     $ —    $ —  
Deferred      —      —      —  
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Total    $ 18,640     $ —    $ —  
     

  

    

  

    

  

  

                  
    As of December 31,   
    2005     2004   
    (in thousands)   
Net operating loss carry forward    $ 153,414     $ 152,666   
Capital loss carry forward      267,018       253,414   
Other comprehensive income      (21,092 )     (18,089 ) 
Reserves and accruals      3,277       2,786   
Other, net      96       1,096   
Partner Company basis difference      214,044       236,367   
Valuation allowance      (616,757 )     (628,240 ) 
     

  
    

  
  

Net deferred tax asset (liability)    $ —    $ —  
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12. Income Taxes — (Continued)  

     The effective tax rate differs from the federal statutory rate as follows:  

13. Related Parties  

During 2004, the Company entered into a consulting arrangement with a member of the Company’s Board of Directors. The Company expensed 
$0.9 million and $0.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, related to this consulting arrangement which is 
reflected in selling, general and administrative on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, 
$0.4 million and $0.2 million, respectively, are included in “Accrued expenses” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company 
also expensed stock-based compensation of $0.4 million in 2005 relating to this consulting agreement.  

The Company provides strategic and operational support to its Partner Companies in the normal course of its business. The Company’s 
employees and consultants generally provide these services. The costs related to employees are paid by the Company and are reflected by the 
Company in general and administrative expenses. Non-management members of the Company’s Board of Directors are compensated with cash 
and equity grants in the Company that are accounted for in accordance APB No. 25.  

During 2003, the Company subleased a portion of its Wayne premises to Intrepid Capital Partners, LLC (“Intrepid”). A member of the 
Company’s Board of Directors is a Managing Director at Intrepid. The Company believes that its sublease with Intrepid was on terms no less 
favorable to the Company than those that were available to it in an arm’s length transaction with a third party. In 2003, Intrepid paid the 
Company $0.1 million in respect of the sublease.  
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    As of December 31, 
    2005   2004   2003 

Tax expense (benefit) at statutory rate      35.0 %     (35.0 )%     (35.0 )% 
Debt for equity exchanges      —      35.0 %     25.0 % 
Stock-based compensation      —      —      0.1 % 
Non-deductible expenses and other      1.6 %     —      3.7 % 
Valuation allowance      (16.2 )%     —      6.2 % 
       

  
      

  
      

  
  

       20.4 %     0.0 %     0.0 % 
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14. Other supplemental non-cash financing and investing activities  

The Company paid interest in 2005, 2004 and 2003 of $3.1 million, $2.6 million and $12.3 million, respectively.  

The Company paid an estimated tax of $26.9 million in 2005. No income taxes were paid in 2004 or 2003 as the Company had a net operating 
loss.  

In 2004 and 2003, the Company issued 15.9 million shares and 7.4 million shares of common stock in exchange for $134.8 million and 
$97.2 million of convertible debt, respectively. See Note 5.  

During the year ended December 31, 2005, one of the Company’s equity method Partner Companies completed a financing round. Accordingly, 
the Company recorded its share of this Partner Company’s equity adjustment as an increase to “Additional paid-in capital” on its Consolidated 
Balance Sheets.  

During the year ended December 31, 2004, one of the Company’s consolidated Partner Companies adjusted its additional paid-in capital to 
reflect the reversal of a $3.1 million equity financing fee accrual. Accordingly, the Company recorded its share of this Partner Company equity 
adjustment as an increase to “Additional paid-in capital” on its Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

15. Other Income (Loss)  

Other Income (Loss), net  

Other income (loss), net consists of the effect of transactions and other events relating to the Company’s ownership interests in its Partner 
Companies and its operations in general.  

During 2005, the Company sold its ownership interest in LinkShare for approximately $150.1 million in net consideration. The Company 
received $135.4 million in 2005, $0.4 million in February 2006 and recorded a gain of $118.8 million in 2005. The residual $14.3 million is 
being held in escrow until September 2006 and will result in additional gain to the extent received. Additionally, during 2005, 2004 and 2003, 
the Company sold its ownership interests in various other Partner Companies in exchange for cash, and contingent consideration. The residual 
gain of $6.5 million in 2005 primarily related to the gain on the sale of the Company’s ownership interest in Co-nect, Inc. of $5.3 million and 
other escrow releases. The gain of $22.6 million in 2004 primarily relates to the sale of the Company’s ownership interests in eMerge Interactive 
and Onvia, Inc. The gain of $3.7 million in 2003 primarily relates to the receipt of escrow releases from the prior dispositions of CourtLink 
Corporation and the sale of a portion of the Company’s ownership interest in Onvia, Inc.  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
    (in thousands)   
Sales/distributions of ownership interests in Partner Companies    $ 125,255     $ 22,553     $ 3,664   
Gains (losses) on debt extinguishment (Note 5)      (5,881 )     (133,158 )     (59,297 ) 
Realized gains on marketable securities (Note 4)      15,911       6,213       340   
Other than temporary impairment of marketable securities (Note 4)      (1,342 )     (2,869 )     —  
Cost method Partner Company impairment charges      —      (1,267 )     (3,488 ) 
Gain (loss) on warrants (Note 3)      2,596       1,191       (135 ) 
Gain on settlement of debt of Consolidated Partner Company (Note 5)      —      1,593       —  
Other      64       (961 )     (1,364 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

     $ 136,603     $ (106,705 )   $ (60,280 ) 
Total other income (loss) for Consolidated Partner Companies      (1,114 )     527       1,574   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

     $ 135,489     $ (106,178 )   $ (58,706 ) 
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16. Commitments and Contingencies  

On December 20, 2002, the Company was named as a defendant in an action filed in the United States District Court for the District of Maine. 
The plaintiffs include former stockholders of Animated Images. one of the Company’s former partner companies. In addition to the Company, 
the complaint also named Freeborders, a current partner company, as a defendant, as well as four individual defendants, including former 
officers of the Company and former Animated Images and Freeborders directors. The complaint generally alleges violations of Section 10(b) of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 5(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, fraud, breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty and civil 
conspiracy, among other claims, in connection with the merger of Animated Images into Freeborders. In support of these claims, the plaintiffs 
allege, among other things, that the defendants misrepresented the value of the stock of Freeborders, resulting in plaintiffs’ having received less 
consideration in the merger than that to which they believe they were entitled. In July 2003, the Court granted defendants’ motion to stay the 
litigation pending arbitration in California of plaintiffs’ claims against Freeborders. In an effort to avoid such arbitration, plaintiffs moved to 
dismiss Freeborders from the litigation in March 2004. The Court granted this motion and thereafter, plaintiffs filed a motion to compel 
arbitration of their claims against the Company and certain other defendants. The Court granted plaintiffs’ motion on October 1, 2004, and 
further ordered a stay of the plaintiffs’ non-arbitrable claims against two individual defendants. Plaintiffs dismissed their claims against one of 
the individual defendants, a former Animated Images director. The Company and one of the remaining individual defendants have asserted 
counterclaims in the arbitration. The plaintiffs and the defendants are in settlement discussions. Included in “Accrued expenses” on the 
Company’s December 31, 2005 Consolidated Balance Sheets is approximately $2.6 million in anticipated settlement costs and legal fees related 
to this claim. Included in “Prepaid expenses and other current assets” on the Company’s December 31, 2005 Consolidated Balance Sheets is 
approximately $0.9 million of estimated reimbursement from the Company’s insurance carrier as part of an anticipated settlement.  

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries are involved in other various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. 
In the opinion of management, the amount of the ultimate liability with respect to these actions will not materially affect the financial position, 
results of operations or cash flows of the Company and its subsidiaries.  

The Company and its consolidated Partner Companies lease their facilities under operating lease agreements expiring 2006 through 2010 and 
thereafter. Future minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2005 under the leases are as follows (in thousands):  

Rent expense under the non-cancelable operating leases was $2.4 million in 2005, $1.8 million in 2004 and $4.8 million in 2003.  

Because many of its Partner Companies are not majority-owned subsidiaries, changes in the value of the Company’s interests in Partner 
Companies and the income or loss and revenue attributable to them could require the Company to register under the Investment Company Act 
unless it takes action to avoid being required to register. However, the Company believes it can take steps to avoid being required to register 
under the Investment Company Act, which would not adversely affect its operations or stockholder value.  
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2006    $ 1,723   
2007    $ 1,446   
2008    $ 1,033   
2009    $ 912   
2010    $ 562   
Thereafter    $ 382   
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  

17. Net Income (Loss) per Share  

The calculations of net income (loss) per share were:  

The following dilutive securities were not included in the computation of diluted net loss per share as their effect would have been anti-dilutive:  
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    Year Ended December 31,   
    2005     2004     2003   
    (in thousands, except per share data)   
Basic and Diluted:                          
Income (loss) from continuing operations    $ 75,523     $ (137,905 )   $ (124,834 ) 
Income (loss) on discontinued operations      (3,005 )     2,588       (11,050 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net income (loss) — Basic    $ 72,518     $ (135,317 )   $ (135,884 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Interest expense — convertible debt      3,104       —      —  
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net income (loss) — Diluted    $ 75,622     $ (135,317 )   $ (135,884 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

                           
Basic:                          
Income (loss) from continuing operations per share    $ 2.03     $ (3.86 )   $ (8.25 ) 
Income (loss) on discontinued operations per share      (0.08 )     0.07       (0.73 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net income (loss) per share    $ 1.95     $ (3.79 )   $ (8.98 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

                           
Diluted:                          
Income (loss) from continuing operations per share    $ 1.80     $ (3.86 )   $ (8.25 ) 
Income (loss) on discontinued operations per share      (0.07 )     0.07       (0.73 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net income (loss) per share    $ 1.73     $ (3.79 )   $ (8.98 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

                           
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding      37,108,750       35,712,555       15,130,135   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Incremental Diluted Shares Impact:                          
Stock options      42,177       —      —  
Restricted stock      338,110       —      —  
Warrants      2,466       —      —  
SARs      30,957       —      —  
Convertible debt      6,147,253       —      —  
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding      43,669,713       35,712,555       15,130,135   
     

  
    

  
    

  
  

                  
            Weighted Average   
    Shares     price per share   
Year ended December 31, 2005                  
Stock options      602,913     $ 43.88   
Stock options (exercised with partial recourse loans)      754,135     $ 41.70   
Warrants      9,450     $ 100.00   
                   
Year Ended December 31, 2004                  
Stock options      790,829     $ 37.19   
Stock options (exercised with partial recourse loans)      756,128     $ 41.70   
Restricted stock      627,828     $ —  
Senior convertible notes      6,587,621     $ 9.11   
Warrants      26,521     $ 189.27   
                   
Year Ended December 31, 2003                  
Stock options      825,094     $ 61.60   
Stock options (exercised with partial recourse loans)      756,128     $ 41.70   
Restricted stock      627,828     $ —  
Convertible subordinated notes      68,235     $ 2,548.80   
Warrants      26,521     $ 189.27   
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  

18. Selected Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)  

The following table sets forth selected quarterly consolidated financial information for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. The 
operating results for any given quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period.  

73  

                                                                  
    Fiscal 2005 Quarter Ended     Fiscal 2004 Quarter Ended   
    Mar.31     Jun.30     Sep.30     Dec.31     Mar.31     Jun.30     Sep.30     Dec.31   
                            (in thousands, except per share data)                   
Revenue    $ 11,891     $ 10,506     $ 15,394     $ 12,785     $ 9,791     $ 10,019     $ 9,959     $ 12,088   
Operating Expenses                                                                  

Cost of revenue      6,152       6,485       8,284       7,688       5,619       5,232       5,321       5,292   
Selling, general & administrative      9,445       8,720       12,157       11,632       7,903       7,485       8,534       7,317   
Research and development      3,150       2,887       4,077       2,157       2,222       2,223       2,072       2,143   
Amortization of other intangibles      572       367       609       578       786       708       689       528   
Impairment related and other      11       (6 )     2,718       321       630       (14 )     8       134   

     
  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

       (7,439 )     (7,947 )     (12,451 )     (9,591 )     (7,369 )     (5,615 )     (6,665 )     (3,326 ) 
                                                                   
Other income (loss), net      5,056       9,880       119,961       592       (113,666 )     3,348       1,799       2,341   
Interest income      475       613       752       2,050       214       326       354       401   
Interest expense      (910 )     (857 )     (901 )     (699 )     (1,630 )     (1,573 )     (855 )     (867 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Income (loss) before minority interest and equity loss      (2,818 )     1,689       107,361       (7,648 )     (122,451 )     (3,514 )     (5,367 )     (1,451 ) 
Income tax (expense)benefit      —      —      (20,349 )     1,709       —      —      —      —  
Minority interest      680       267       709       626       437       503       184       (353 ) 
Equity loss      (475 )     (477 )     (681 )     (5,070 )     (1,185 )     (1,625 )     (1,845 )     (1,238 ) 
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Income (loss) from continuing operations      (2,613 )     1,479       87,040       (10,383 )     (123,199 )     (4,636 )     (7,028 )     (3,042 ) 
Income (loss) on discontinued operations      (505 )     (403 )     254       (2,351 )     (596 )     2,783       (81 )     482   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

Net income (loss)    $ (3,118 )   $ 1,076     $ 87,294     $ (12,734 )   $ (123,795 )   $ (1,853 )   $ (7,109 )   $ (2,560 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

                                                                   
Basic income (loss) per share (1)                                                                  
Income (loss) from continuing operations    $ (0.07 )   $ 0.04     $ 2.34     $ (0.28 )   $ (3.87 )   $ (0.13 )   $ (0.19 )   $ (0.08 ) 
Discontinued operations      (0.01 )     (0.01 )     0.01       (0.06 )     (0.02 )     0.08       —      0.01   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

     $ (0.08 )   $ 0.03     $ 2.35     $ (0.34 )   $ (3.89 )   $ (0.05 )   $ (0.19 )   $ (0.07 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

                                                                   
Shares used in computation of basic income (loss) per 

share (1)      37,012       37,040       37,109       37,274       31,853       37,003       37,003       37,004   
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

                                                                   
Diluted income (loss) per share (1)                                                                  
Income (loss) from continuing operations    $ (0.07 )   $ 0.04     $ 1.96     $ (0.28 )   $ (3.87 )   $ (0.13 )   $ (0.19 )   $ (0.08 ) 
Discontinued operations      (0.01 )     (0.01 )     0.01       (0.06 )     (0.02 )     0.08       —      0.01   
     

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
    

  
  

     $ (0.08 )   $ 0.03     $ 1.97     $ (0.34 )   $ (3.89 )   $ (0.05 )   $ (0.19 )   $ (0.07 ) 
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

                                                                   
Shares used in computation of diluted income (loss) per 

share (1)      37,012       38,565       44,386       37,274       31,853       37,003       37,003       37,004   
     

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

    

  

  

  

(1)   The sum of quarterly income (loss) per share differs from the full year amount due to changes in the number of shares outstanding during 
the year. 
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ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures  

None.  

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures  

Controls and Procedures  

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15e and 
15d-15e under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) as of the end of the period covered in this Report. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered in this Report, our disclosure controls and 
procedures have been designed and are being operated in a manner that provides reasonable assurance that information required to be included in 
the Company’s periodic SEC reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the relevant SEC rules 
and forms.  

It should be noted that the design of any system of controls is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and 
there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions, regardless of how 
remote.  

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

The management of Internet Capital Group, Inc. (the “Company”) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over 
financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934). Internet Capital Group, Inc.’s internal control over 
financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Internet Capital Group, Inc.’s internal 
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles; provide reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations 
of management and directors of the Company; and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized 
acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

The management of Internet Capital Group, Inc. evaluated the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005. In 
making this assessment, it used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in 
Internal Control-Integrated Framework. Management’s assessment included an evaluation of the design of its internal control over financial 
reporting and testing of the operational effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting. Management reviewed the results of its 
assessment with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. Based on this assessment, as of December 31, 2005, Internet Capital Group, 
Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.  

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, has audited management’s assessment of the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting. KPMG LLP’s report on management’s assessment and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting appears below.  
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Internet Capital Group, Inc.:  

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, 
that Internet Capital Group, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
(COSO). Internet Capital Group, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s 
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was 
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating 
management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other 
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A 
company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in 
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Internet Capital Group, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by 
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated 
balance sheets of Internet Capital Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of 
operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), comprehensive income (loss) and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended 
December 31, 2005, and our report dated March 15, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.  

/s/ KPMG LLP  
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania  
March 15, 2006  

ITEM 9B. Other Information  

None.  
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PART III  

ITEM 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant  

We incorporate by reference the information contained under the captions “Election of Directors,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership 
Reporting Compliance,” “Executive Officers” and “Corporate Governance: Committees of the Board of Directors” in our Definitive Proxy 
Statement for our 2006 annual meeting of stockholders, to be filed within 120 days after the end of the year covered by this Report pursuant to 
Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

We have adopted a written code of business conduct and ethics, known as our Corporate Code of Conduct, which applies to all of our directors, 
officers and employees, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial and accounting officer. Our code of conduct is 
available on our internet website, www.internetcapital.com. Any amendments to our Corporate Code of Conduct or waivers from the provisions 
of the Corporate Code of Conduct for our principal executive officer and our principal financial and accounting officer will be disclosed on our 
internet website within five business days following the date of such amendment or waiver.  

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation  

We incorporate by reference the information contained under the captions “Executive Compensation” and “Other Forms of Compensation” in 
our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2006 annual meeting of stockholders, to be filed within 120 days after the end of the year covered by this 
Report pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters  

We incorporate by reference the information contained under the caption “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Directors and 
Officers” in our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2006 annual meeting of stockholders, to be filed within 120 days after the end of the year 
covered by this Report pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions  

We incorporate by reference the information contained under the caption “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in our Definitive 
Proxy Statement for our 2006 annual meeting of stockholders, to be filed within 120 days after the end of the year covered by this Report 
pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

ITEM 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services  

We incorporate by reference the information contained under the caption “Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public 
Accounting Firm” in our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2006 annual meeting of stockholders, to be filed within 120 days after the end of the 
year covered by this Report pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  
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PART IV  

ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules  

1. Consolidated Financial Statements  

The Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes thereto as set forth under Item 8 of this Report are incorporated herein by reference.  

2. Financial Statement Schedule  

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Internet Capital Group, Inc.:  

Under date of March 15, 2006, we reported on the consolidated balance sheets of Internet Capital Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), comprehensive income 
(loss) and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2005. In connection with our audits of the 
aforementioned consolidated financial statements, we also audited the related consolidated financial statement schedule. The consolidated 
financial statement schedule is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statement schedule based on our audits.  

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken 
as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.  

/s/ KPMG LLP  

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania  
March 15, 2006  

The following financial statement schedule of Internet Capital Group, Inc. for each of the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 
should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes thereto.  

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP  
SCHEDULE II —VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS  

Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005  
(in thousands)  
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    Balance at the                 
    beginning of the   Charged to costs           Balance at the end 
    year   and expenses   Write-offs   of the year 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts :                                  
December 31, 2003    $ 2,738     $ 303     $ (1,022 )(a)   $ 2,019   
December 31, 2004    $ 2,019     $ (489 )   $ (754 )   $ 776   
December 31, 2005    $ 776     $ 241 (b)   $ (418 )(c)   $ 599   

  

(a)   Reserve of $209 was eliminated upon deconsolidation of partner companies during 2003. 
  

(b)   Reserve of $138 was established upon acquisitions of partner companies during 2005. 
  

(c)   Reserve of $221 was eliminated upon deconsolidation of partner company during 2005. 
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3. List of Exhibits  

The exhibits required by this Item are listed under Item 14(c).  

Exhibit Index  

The following is a list of exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K filed as part of this Report. Where so indicated by footnote, exhibits 
which were previously filed are incorporated by reference. For exhibits incorporated by reference, the location of the exhibit in the previous 
filing is indicated in parentheses.  
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Exhibit Number   Document 

2.1  

  

Agreement of Merger dated February 2, 1999 between Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. and Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed by the Company on May 11, 1999 
(Registration No. 333-78193) (the “ IPO Registration Statement” )). 

       
3.1  

  
Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registration Statement on Form 8-A 
filed by the Company on August 4, 1999 (Registration No. 000-26989) (the “8-A Registration Statement” )). 

       
3.2    Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the 8-A Registration Statement). 
       
3.3  

  
Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 (the “10-K Annual Report for 2002”)). 

       
3.4  

  
Second Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Internet Capital Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004). 

       
4.1  

  
Specimen Certificate for Internet Capital Group’s Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 (the “10-K Annual Report for 2004”)). 

       
4.2  

  
Form of 5% Senior Convertible Notes due 2009 of Internet Capital Group, Inc. (“Senior Convertible Notes” ) (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 1, 2004). 

       
4.2.1  

  
Amendment No. 1 to Senior Convertible Notes. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report 
on Form 8-K filed on October 27, 2005). 

       
4.2.2  

  
Amendment No. 2 to Senior Convertible Notes. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report 
on Form 8-K filed on October 27, 2005). 

       
4.3  

  

Rights Agreement, dated as of November 22, 2000, between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and ChaseMellon Shareholder 
Services, L.L.C., as Rights Agent, which includes as Exhibit B thereto the Form of Rights Certificate, incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 1.1 to Internet Capital Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A, dated December 1, 2000 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 1, 2000 (File No. 0-26929)). 
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Exhibit Number   Document 

10.1  

  

Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan as Amended and Restated July 25, 2001 (the “ Internet Capital 
Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan”) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1.4 to the Company’s Annual Report 
on Form 10-K filed on April 1, 2002 (the “10-K Annual Report for 2001” )). 

       
10.1.1  

  
Amendment No. 1 to the Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1.2 to the Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2002). 

       
10.1.2  

  
Amendment No. 2 to the Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1.3 to the Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2002). 

       
10.1.3  

  
Amendment No. 3 to the Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1.3 to the Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2004). 

       
10.2  

  
Internet Capital Group, Inc. Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, amended and restated effective September 1, 2002 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2.2 to the Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2002). 

       
10.3  

  
Logistics.com, Inc. 2001 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s 10-K 
Annual Report for 2002). 

       
10.3.1  

  
Amendment No. 1 to the Logistics.com, Inc. 2001 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3.1 to 
the Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2002). 

       
10.4  

  
Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. Membership Profit Interest Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the IPO 
Registration Statement). 

       
10.5  

  
Internet Capital Group, Inc. 2005 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix B of the Company’s 
Definitive Proxy Statement filed on April 28, 2005). 

       
10.6  

  

Letter of Credit Agreement dated as of September 30, 2002, by and between Comerica Bank-California and Internet Capital 
Group, Inc., ICG Holdings, Inc. and Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002). 

       
10.6.1  

  

First Amendment to Letter of Credit Agreement dated as of October 20, 2003 by and between Comerica Bank, Internet 
Capital Group, Inc., ICG Holdings, Inc. and Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending September 30, 2003). 

       
10.6.2  

  

Second Amendment to Letter of Credit Agreement dated as of December 15, 2004 by and between Comerica Bank, ICG 
Holdings, Inc. and Internet Capital Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14.2 to the Company’s 10-K Annual 
Report for 2004). 

       
10.6.3  

  

Third Amendment to Letter of Credit Agreement dated as of December 15, 2005 by and between Comerica Bank, ICG 
Holdings, Inc. and Internet Capital Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report 
on Form 8-K filed December 15, 2005). 
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10.7  

  

Form of Promissory Note (Option Loan) by and between Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. and certain of its officers 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2002). 

       
10.8  

  

Form of Share Pledge Agreement by and between Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. and certain of its officers 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2002). 

       
10.9  

  

Form of Promissory Note (Tax Loan) by and between Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. and certain of its officers 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2002). 

       
10.10  

  

Agreement of Lease between FV Office Partners, L.P. and Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. dated June 30, 2003 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending June 30, 
2003). 

       
10.10.1  

  
First Amendment to Lease between FV Office Partners, L.P. and Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. dated November 20, 
2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2003). 

       
10.11  

  
Employment Agreement among Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc., Walter W. Buckley, III and Internet Capital Group, 
Inc. dated as of March 9, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10-40 to the Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2003). 

       
10.12  

  

Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of March 31, 2004, by and among Internet Capital Group, Inc. and the investors listed 
on the Schedule of Buyers attached as Schedule I thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on April 1, 2004). 

       
10.13  

  

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of April 8, 2004 by and among Internet Capital Group, Inc. and the investors listed on 
the Schedule of Buyers attached as Schedule I thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on April 1, 2004). 

       
10.14  

  

Independent Contractor Agreement by and between Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc., Wayne Strategy Consultants, Inc. 
and Dr. Michael D. Zisman dated August 17, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004). 

       
10.14.1  

  

First Amendment to Independent Contractor Agreement dated January 18, 2005 by and among Internet Capital Group 
Operations, Inc., Wayne Strategy Consultants, Inc. and Dr. Michael Zisman (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 19, 2005). 
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10.15  
  

Internet Capital Group, Inc. Non-Management Director Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 3, 2005). 

       
10.16  

  
Internet Capital Group, Inc. Deferred Stock Unit Program as amended and restated effective as of January 1, 2005 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 15, 2005). 

       
10.17  

  
Form of Restricted Stock Grant Without Performance Acceleration (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the 
Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2004). 

       
10.18  

  
Form of Restricted Stock Grant With Performance Acceleration (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to the Company’s 
10-K Annual Report for 2004). 

       
10.19  

  
Form of Stock Option Grant Without Performance Acceleration (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to the Company’s 
10-K Annual Report for 2004). 

       
10.20  

  
Form of Stock Option Grant With Performance Acceleration (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the Company’s 
10-K Annual Report for 2004). 

       
10.21  

  
Form of Non-Employee Director Initial Stock Option Grant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the Company’s 10-
K Annual Report for 2004). 

       
10.22  

  
Form of Non-Employee Director Annual Stock Option Grant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Company’s 
10-K Annual Report for 2004). 

       
10.23  

  
Internet Capital Group Specimen Stock Units Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 26, 2005). 

       
10.24  

  
Internet Capital Group Specimen Stock Appreciation Rights Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 28, 2005). 

       
10.25  

  
Letter Agreement dated July 28, 2005 between Internet Capital Group and Anthony P. Dolanski (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 28, 2005). 

       
10.26  

  
Form of Restrictive Covenant Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed on July 28, 2005). 

       
10.27  

  

Note Purchase Agreement dated October 25, 2005, by and among the Company, Langley Partners, L.P., Bear Stearns 
Securities Corp. Custodian for Jeffrey Thorp IRA Rollover, JMG Capital Partners, LP and JMG Triton Offshore Fund, Ltd. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 27, 2005). 

       
10.28  

  
Letter Agreement dated February 21, 2006 between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and R. Kirk Morgan (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 22, 2006). 

       
10.29  

  
2005 Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 3, 
2005). 
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10.30  
  

2006 Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 28, 
2006). 

       
10.31    Letter Agreement dated December 16, 2005 by and between ICG Holdings, Inc. and Credit Suisse First Boston Capital LLC. 
       
10.32    Letter Agreement dated July 28, 2005 between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and Douglas Alexander. 
       
11.1  

  

Statement Regarding Computation of Per Share Earnings (included herein at Note 2-“Significant Accounting Policies” in the 
subsection “Net Income (Loss) Per Share” to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Note 17-“Net Income (Loss) Per 
Share”  to the Consolidated Financial Statements). 

       
21.1    Subsidiaries of Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
       
23.1    Consent of KPMG LLP regarding Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
       
31.1    Certification of Chief Executive Officer required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
       
31.2    Certification of Chief Financial Officer required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
       
32.1    Certification of the Chief Executive Officer required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
       
32.2    Certification of the Chief Financial Officer required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
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SIGNATURES  

     Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Security Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused this Report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

     Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of 
the Registrant and in the capacities set forth above.  
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Date: March 15, 2006   INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.   
               
     By:   /s/ R. KIRK MORGAN     
   

  
  

  
  

  
  

     Name:   R. Kirk Morgan     
     Title:   Chief Financial Officer     

      
Signature   Title 

       
/s/ WALTER W. BUCKLEY, III    Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board 
  

  
  

Walter W. Buckley, III    of Directors (Principal Executive Officer) 
       
/s/ R. KIRK MORGAN    Chief Financial Officer 
  

  
  

R. Kirk Morgan    (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 
       
/s/ DAVID J. BERKMAN    Director 
  

  
  

David J. Berkman      
       
/s/ THOMAS A. DECKER    Director 
  

  
  

Thomas A. Decker      
       
/s/ DAVID K. DOWNES    Director 
  

  
  

David K. Downes      
       
/s/ THOMAS P. GERRITY    Director 
  

  
  

Thomas P. Gerrity      
       
/s/ ROBERT E. KEITH, JR.    Director 
  

  
  

Robert E. Keith, Jr.      
       
/s/ WARREN V. MUSSER    Director 
  

  
  

Warren V. Musser      
       
/s/ PHILIP J. RINGO    Director 
  

  
  

Philip J. Ringo      
       
/s/ MICHAEL D. ZISMAN    Director 
  

  
  

Michael D. Zisman      
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2.1  

  

Agreement of Merger dated February 2, 1999 between Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. and Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed by the Company on May 11, 1999 
(Registration No. 333-78193) (the “ IPO Registration Statement” )). 

       
3.1  

  
Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registration Statement on Form 8-A 
filed by the Company on August 4, 1999 (Registration No. 000-26989) (the “8-A Registration Statement” )). 

       
3.2    Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the 8-A Registration Statement). 
       
3.3  

  
Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 (the “10-K Annual Report for 2002”)). 

       
3.4  

  
Second Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Internet Capital Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004). 

       
4.1  

  
Specimen Certificate for Internet Capital Group’s Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 (the “10-K Annual Report for 2004”)). 

       
4.2  

  
Form of 5% Senior Convertible Notes due 2009 of Internet Capital Group, Inc. (“Senior Convertible Notes”) (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 1, 2004). 

       
4.2.1  

  
Amendment No. 1 to Senior Convertible Notes. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report 
on Form 8-K filed on October 27, 2005). 

       
4.2.2  

  
Amendment No. 2 to Senior Convertible Notes. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report 
on Form 8-K filed on October 27, 2005). 

       
4.3  

  

Rights Agreement, dated as of November 22, 2000, between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and ChaseMellon Shareholder 
Services, L.L.C., as Rights Agent, which includes as Exhibit B thereto the Form of Rights Certificate, incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 1.1 to Internet Capital Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A, dated December 1, 2000 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 1, 2000 (File No. 0-26929)). 

       
10.1  

  

Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan as Amended and Restated July 25, 2001 (the “Internet Capital 
Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan”) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1.4 to the Company’s Annual Report 
on Form 10-K filed on April 1, 2002 (the “10-K Annual Report for 2001” )). 

       
10.1.1  

  
Amendment No. 1 to the Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1.2 to the Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2002). 

       
10.1.2  

  
Amendment No. 2 to the Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1.3 to the Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2002). 
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10.1.3  
  

Amendment No. 3 to the Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1.3 to the Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2004). 

       
10.2  

  
Internet Capital Group, Inc. Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, amended and restated effective September 1, 2002 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2.2 to the Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2002). 

       
10.3  

  
Logistics.com, Inc. 2001 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s 10-K 
Annual Report for 2002). 

       
10.3.1  

  
Amendment No. 1 to the Logistics.com, Inc. 2001 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3.1 to 
the Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2002). 

       
10.4  

  
Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. Membership Profit Interest Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the IPO 
Registration Statement). 

       
10.5  

  
Internet Capital Group, Inc. 2005 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix B of the Company’s 
Definitive Proxy Statement filed on April 28, 2005). 

       
10.6  

  

Letter of Credit Agreement dated as of September 30, 2002, by and between Comerica Bank-California and Internet Capital 
Group, Inc., ICG Holdings, Inc. and Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002). 

       
10.6.1  

  

First Amendment to Letter of Credit Agreement dated as of October 20, 2003 by and between Comerica Bank, Internet 
Capital Group, Inc., ICG Holdings, Inc. and Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending September 30, 2003). 

       
10.6.2  

  

Second Amendment to Letter of Credit Agreement dated as of December 15, 2004 by and between Comerica Bank, ICG 
Holdings, Inc. and Internet Capital Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14.2 to the Company’s 10-K Annual 
Report for 2004). 

       
10.16.3  

  

Third Amendment to Letter of Credit Agreement dated as of December 15, 2005 by and between Comerica Bank, ICG 
Holdings, Inc. and Internet Capital Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report 
on Form 8-K filed December 15, 2005). 

       
10.7  

  

Form of Promissory Note (Option Loan) by and between Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. and certain of its officers 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2002). 

       
10.18  

  

Form of Share Pledge Agreement by and between Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. and certain of its officers 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2002). 

       
10.9  

  

Form of Promissory Note (Tax Loan) by and between Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. and certain of its officers 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2002). 
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10.10  

  

Agreement of Lease between FV Office Partners, L.P. and Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. dated June 30, 2003 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending June 30, 
2003). 

       
10.10.1  

  
First Amendment to Lease between FV Office Partners, L.P. and Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. dated November 20, 
2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2003). 

       
10.11  

  
Employment Agreement among Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc., Walter W. Buckley, III and Internet Capital Group, 
Inc. dated as of March 9, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to the Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2003). 

       
10.12  

  

Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of March 31, 2004, by and among Internet Capital Group, Inc. and the investors listed 
on the Schedule of Buyers attached as Schedule I thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on April 1, 2004). 

       
10.13  

  

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of April 8, 2004 by and among Internet Capital Group, Inc. and the investors listed on 
the Schedule of Buyers attached as Schedule I thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on April 1, 2004). 

       
10.14  

  

Independent Contractor Agreement by and between Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc., Wayne Strategy Consultants, Inc. 
and Dr. Michael D. Zisman dated August 17, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004). 

       
10.14.1  

  

First Amendment to Independent Contractor Agreement dated January 18, 2005 by and among Internet Capital Group 
Operations, Inc., Wayne Strategy Consultants, Inc. and Dr. Michael Zisman (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 19, 2004). 

       
10.15  

  
Internet Capital Group, Inc. Non-Management Director Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 3, 2005). 

       
10.16  

  
Internet Capital Group, Inc. Deferred Stock Unit Program as amended and restated effective as of January 1, 2005 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 15, 2005). 

       
10.17  

  
Form of Restricted Stock Grant Without Performance Acceleration (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the 
Company’s 10-K Annual Report for 2004). 

       
10.18  

  
Form of Restricted Stock Grant With Performance Acceleration (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to the Company’s 
10-K Annual Report for 2004). 

       
10.19  

  
Form of Stock Option Grant Without Performance Acceleration (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to the Company’s 
10-K Annual Report for 2004). 

       
10.20  

  
Form of Stock Option Grant With Performance Acceleration (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the Company’s 
10-K Annual Report for 2004). 
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10.21  
  

Form of Non-Employee Director Initial Stock Option Grant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the Company’s 10-
K Annual Report for 2004). 

       
10.22  

  
Form of Non-Employee Director Annual Stock Option Grant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Company’s 
10-K Annual Report for 2004). 

       
10.23  

  
Internet Capital Group Specimen Stock Units Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 26, 2005). 

       
10.24  

  
Internet Capital Group Specimen Stock Appreciation Rights Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 28, 2005). 

       
10.25  

  
Letter Agreement dated July 28, 2005 between Internet Capital Group and Anthony P. Dolanski (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 28, 2005). 

       
10.26  

  
Form of Restrictive Covenant Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed on July 28, 2005). 

       
10.27  

  

Note Purchase Agreement dated October 25, 2005, by and among the Company, Langley Partners, L.P., Bear Stearns 
Securities Corp. Custodian for Jeffrey Thorp IRA Rollover, JMG Capital Partners, LP and JMG Triton Offshore Fund, Ltd. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 27, 2005). 

       
10.28  

  
Letter Agreement dated February 21, 2006 between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and R. Kirk Morgan (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 22, 2006). 

       
10.29  

  
2005 Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 3, 
2005). 

       
10.30  

  
2006 Bonus Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 28, 
2006). 

       
10.31    Letter Agreement dated December 16, 2005 by and between ICG Holdings, Inc. and Credit Suisse First Boston Capital LLC. 
       
10.32    Letter Agreement dated July 28, 2005 between Internet Capital Group and Douglas Alexander. 
       
11.1  

  

Statement Regarding Computation of Per Share Earnings (included herein at Note 2-“Significant Accounting Policies” in the 
subsection “Net Income (Loss) Per Share” to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Note 17-“Net Income (Loss) Per 
Share”  to the Consolidated Financial Statements). 

       
21.1    Subsidiaries of Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
       
23.1    Consent of KPMG LLP regarding Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
       
31.1    Certification of Chief Executive Officer required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
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31.2    Certification of Chief Financial Officer required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
       
32.1    Certification of the Chief Executive Officer required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
       
32.2    Certification of the Chief Financial Officer required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 



EXHIBIT 10.31  

December 16, 2005  

ICG Holdings, Inc.  
100 Lake Drive, Suite 4  
Pencarder Corporate Center  
Newark, DE  
19702  

Credit Suisse First Boston Capital LLC  
Eleven Madison Avenue  
New York, NY 10010  

External ID: [ ] - Risk ID: [ ]  

Dear Sir or Madam,  

The purpose of this letter agreement (this "CONFIRMATION") is to confirm the terms and conditions of the Transaction entered into between 
us on the Trade Date specified below (the "TRANSACTION"). Additional terms of the Transaction will be set forth in a Supplemental 
Confirmation substantially in the form set forth in Annex A hereto (the "SUPPLEMENTAL CONFIRMATION"). This Confirmation 
constitutes, and upon execution of the Supplemental Confirmation, this Confirmation together with the Supplemental Confirmation shall 
constitute a "Confirmation" as referred to in the Agreement specified below.  

In this Confirmation, "CSFB" means Credit Suisse First Boston Capital LLC, "Counterparty" means ICG Holdings, Inc. and "Agent" means 
Credit Suisse First Boston LLC, solely in its capacity as agent for CSFB and Counterparty.  

1. The definitions and provisions contained in the 2000 ISDA Definitions (the "2000 DEFINITIONS") and the 2002 ISDA Equity Derivatives 
Definitions (the "2002 DEFINITIONS" and, together with the 2000 Definitions, the "DEFINITIONS"), each as published by the International 
Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. ("ISDA"), are incorporated into this Confirmation and the Supplemental Confirmation. In the event of 
any inconsistency between the 2000 Definitions and the 2002 Definitions, the 2002 Definitions will govern. In the event of any inconsistency 
between the Definitions and this Confirmation or the Supplemental Confirmation, this Confirmation or the Supplemental Confirmation, as the 
case may be will govern. In the event of any inconsistency between this Confirmation and the Supplemental Confirmation, the Supplemental 
Confirmation shall govern. The Transaction shall be deemed to be a Share Option Transaction within the meaning set forth in the Equity 
Definitions.  

This Confirmation and the Supplemental Confirmation shall supplement, form a part of and be subject to an agreement (the "AGREEMENT") in 
the form of the 1992 ISDA Master Agreement (Multicurrency - Cross Border) (the "ISDA FORM"), as published by the International Swaps and 
Derivatives Association, Inc., as if CSFB and Counterparty had executed the ISDA Form (without any Schedule thereto) on the date hereof. All 
provisions contained in the Agreement are incorporated into and shall govern this Confirmation and the Supplemental Confirmation except as 
expressly modified below. This Confirmation, together with the Supplemental Confirmation, evidence a complete and binding agreement 
between you and us as to the terms of the Transaction to which they relate and replace any previous agreement between us with respect to the 
subject matter hereof. This Confirmation, together with the Supplemental Confirmation and all  



other confirmations or agreements between us referencing the ISDA Form, shall be deemed to supplement, form part of and be subject to the 
same, single Agreement.  

If there exists any ISDA Master Agreement between CSFB and Counterparty or any confirmation or other agreement between CSFB and 
Counterparty pursuant to which an ISDA Master Agreement is deemed to exist between CSFB and Counterparty, then notwithstanding anything 
to the contrary in such ISDA Master Agreement, such confirmation or agreement or any other agreement to which CSFB and Counterparty are 
parties, the Transaction shall not be considered a Transaction under, or otherwise governed by, such existing or deemed ISDA Master 
Agreement.  

2. THE TERMS OF THE PARTICULAR TRANSACTION TO WHICH THIS CONFIRMATION RELATES ARE AS FOLLOWS:  

 
2  

General Terms: 
 
  Trade Date:              As set forth in the Supp lemental Confirmation, 
                           to be the date of comple tion of CSFB's 
                           Initial Hedge. 
 
  Option Style:            European 
 
  Option Type:             Collar (a combination of  a Put and a Call). 
                           Notwithstanding anything  to the contrary 
                           herein, this Collar shal l constitute a single, 
                           inseparable transaction.  
 
  Put Seller(Call Buyer):  CSFB 
 
  Call Seller (Put Buyer): Counterparty 
 
  Shares:                  Common stock of Blackboa rd Inc. (the "ISSUER") 
                           (Exchange symbol: "BBBB" ) 
 
Number of Options:         As set forth in the Supp lemental Confirmation, 
                           the aggregate number of Options to which CSFB's  
                           Initial Hedge relates, a s determined by the 
                           Calculation Agent. 
 
  Call Strike Price:       As set forth in the Supp lemental Confirmation. 
 
  Put Strike Price:        As set forth in the Supp lemental Confirmation. 
 
  Exchange:                NASDAQ 
 
  Related Exchange(s):     All Exchanges. 
 
Procedures for Exercise: 
 
  Expiration Date:         The final Averaging Date . 
 
  Market Disruption Ev     Section 6.3(a) of the 20 02 Definitions is 
                           hereby amended by replac ing clause (ii) thereof  
                           in its entirety with the  following: "(ii) an 
                           Exchange Disruption, or"  and inserting 
                           immediately following cl ause (iii) thereof the 
                           following: "; in each ca se that the Calculation  
                           Agent determines is 

                                material." 
 
       Automatic Exercise:      Applicable; provide d that "IN-THE-MONEY" means 
                                (A) the Relevant Pr ice is less  than the Put 
                                Strike Price or (B)  the Relevant Price is more 
                                than the Call Strik e Price. 
 
      Valuation: 
 
       Valuation Date:          The Exercise Date 
 
       Averaging Dates:         The 10 consecutive Scheduled Trading Days 
                                starting on the Fir st Averaging Date. 
 
       First Averaging Date:    As set forth in the  Supplemental Confirmation. 
 
       Relevant Price:          The arithmetic aver age of the VWAP Price on each  
                                Averaging Date. 
 
       VWAP Price:              On any day, the "Vo lume Weighted Average Price" 
                                per Share on such d ay, as displayed on Bloomberg  
                                Page " AQR" (or any  successor thereto) for the 



                                Issuer with respect  to the period from 9:30 a.m.  
                                to 4:00 p.m. (New Y ork City time) on such day, 
                                as determined by th e Calculation Agent. 
 
       Averaging Date           Modified Postooneme nt; provided that 
       Disruption:              notwithstanding a a nything to the contrary in 
                                the 2002 Definition s, if a Market Disruption 
                                Event occurs on any  Averaging Date, the 
                                Calculation Agent m ay determine that such 
                                Averaging Date is a  Disrupted Day only in part, 
                                in which case the C alculation Agent shall make 
                                adjustments to the number of Option: for which 
                                such day shall be a n Averaging Date and shall 
                                designate the Sched uled Trading Day determined 
                                in the manner descr ibed in Section 6.7(c)(iii) 
                                of the 2002 Definit ions as an Averaging Date for  
                                the remaining Optio ns, and shall determine any 
                                Settlement Price ba sed on an appropriately 
                                weighted average in stead of the arithmetic 
                                average  described under "Settlement Terms -- 
                                Settlement Price" b elow. Such determination and 
                                adjustments will be  based on, among other 
                                factors, the durati on of any Market Disruption 
                                Event and the  volu me, historical trading 
                                patterns and price of the Shares. 
 
      Settlement Terms: 
 
       Settlement Method        Applicable 
       Election: 
 
       Default Settlement       Cash Settlement 
       Method: 
 
       Electing Party:          Counterparty 
 
       Settlement Method        The date that is 10  Scheduled Trading Days prior  
       Election 
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       Date:                    to the first Averag ing Date. 
 
       Settlement Price:        For Cash Settlement , the Relevant Price. For 
                                Physical Settlement , (x) if the Relevant Price 
                                is less than the Pu t Strike Price, the Put 
                                Strike Price, and ( y) if the Relevant Price is 
                                greater than the Ca ll Strike Price, the Call 
                                Strike Price. 
 
       Settlement Currency:     USD 
 
      Dividends: 
 
       Extraordinary Dividend:  Any dividend or dis tribution on the Shares 
                                (other than any div idend or distribution of the 
                                type described in S ection 11.2(e)(i) or Section 
                                11.2(e)(ii)(A) or ( B) of the 2002 Definitions) 
                                the amount or value  of which differs in amount 
                                from the Ordinary D ividend Amount for such 
                                dividend or distrib ution, as determined by the 
                                Calculation Agent. 
 
       Ordinary Dividend        USD 0.00 for the fi rst dividend or distribution 
       Amount:                  on the Shares for w hich the ex-dividend date 
                                falls within a regu lar dividend period of the 
                                Issuer, and zero fo r any subsequent dividend or 
                                distribution on the  Shares for which the 
                                ex-dividend date fa lls within the same regular 
                                dividend period of the Issuer. 
 
       Payment Obligation in    In  the  event  of any  Extraordinary Dividend, 
       Respect of Extraordinary Counterparty shall make a cash payment to CSFB, 
       Dividends:               on the date such Ex traordinary Dividend is paid 
                                to holders of Share s, in an amount equal to the 
                                product of (i) the Number of Shares on the 
                                ex-dividend date fo r such Extraordinary Dividend  
                                and (ii) the excess , if any, of the per share 
                                amount or value of such Extraordinary Dividend 
                                over the Ordinary D ividend Amount for such 
                                Extraordinary Divid end, as determined by the 
                                Calculation Agent. 
 
      Share Adjustments: 



 
       Potential Adjustment     If an  event occurs  that constitutes both a 
       Events:                  Potential Adjustmen t Event under Section 
                                11.2(e)(ii)(C) of t he 2002 Definitions and a 
                                Spin-off as describ ed below, it shall be treated  
                                hereunder as a Spin -off and not as a Potential 
                                Adjustment Event. 
 
       Method of Adjustment:    Calculation Agent A djustment 
 
      Spin-off:                 A distribution of N ew Shares (the "SPIN-OFF 
                                SHARES") of a subsi diary of the Issuer (the 
                                "SPIN-OFF ISSUER") to holders of the Shares (the  
                                "ORIGINAL SHARES").  With respect to a Spin-off, 
                                "New Shares" shall have the meaning provided in 
                                Section 12.1(i) of the 2002 Definitions except 
                                that the 
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                                phrase immediately preceding clause (i) thereof 
                                shall be replaced b y the following:'"New 
                                Shares' means ordin ary or common shares of the 
                                Spin-off Issuer tha t are, or  that as of the 
                                ex-dividend date of  such Spin-off are scheduled 
                                promptly to be,". 
 
       Consequences of          As of the ex-divide nd date of a Spin-off, (i) 
       Spin-offs:               "Shares" shall mean  the Original Shares and the 
                                Spin-off Shares; (i i) the Transaction shall 
                                continue but as a S hare Basket Option 
                                Transaction with a Number of Baskets equal to 
                                the Number of Share s prior to such Spin-off, and  
                                each Basket shall c onsist of one Original Share 
                                and a number of Spi n-off Shares that a holder of  
                                one Original Share would have been entitled to 
                                receive in such Spi n-off; and (iii) the 
                                Calculation Agent s hall make such adjustments to  
                                the exercise, settl ement, payment or any other 
                                terms of the Transa ction as the Calculation 
                                Agent determines ap propriate to account for the 
                                economic effect on the Transaction of such 
                                Spin-off (provided that no adjustments will be 
                                made to account sol ely for changes in 
                                volatility, expecte d dividends, stock loan rate 
                                or liquidity releva nt to the Shares or to the 
                                Transaction), which  may, but need not, be 
                                determined by refer ence to the adjustment(s) 
                                made in respect of such Spin-off by an options 
                                exchange to options  on the Shares traded on such  
                                options exchange. A s of the ex-dividend date of 
                                any subsequent Spin -off, the Calculation Agent 
                                shall make adjustme nts to the composition of the  
                                Basket and other te rms of the Transaction in 
                                accordance with the  immediately preceding 
                                sentence. 
 
      Extraordinary Events: 
 
       Consequences of Merger 
       Events: 
 
         Share-for-Share:       Calculation Agent A djustment 
 
         Share-for-Other:       Cancellation and Pa yment (Calculation Agent 
                                Determination) 
 
         Share-for-Combined:    Component Adjustmen t 
 
       Tender Offer:            Applicable 
 
       Consequences of Tender 
       Offers: 
 
         Share-for-Share:       Calculation Agent A djustment 
 
         Share-for-Other:       Cancellation and Pa yment (Calculation Agent 
                                Determination) 
 
                                       5 

         Share-for-Combined:    Calculation Agent A djustment 
 
      Nationalization,          Cancellation and Pa yment (Calculation Agent 
      Insolvency or Delisting:  Determination) 
 
      Additional Disruption 
      Events: 
 
      Change in Law:            Applicable 
 
      Failure to Deliver:       Not Applicable 
 
      Insolvency Filing:        Applicable 
 
      Hedging Disruption:       Not Applicable 
 
      Increased Cost of         Not Applicable 
      Hedging: 
 
      Loss of Stock Borrow:     Applicable; provide d that the phrase "at a rate 
                                equal to or less th an the Maximum Stock Loan 
                                Rate" at the end of  the definition of Loss of 
                                Stock Borrow shall be deleted. 



 
         Maximum Stock Loan     Not Applicable 
         Rate: 
 
      Increased Cost of Stock   Not Applicable 
      Borrow: 
 
      Hedging Party:            CSFB 
 
      Determining Party:        CSFB 
 
      Non-Reliance:             Applicable 
 
     Agreements and             Applicable 
     Acknowledgments Regarding 
     Hedging Activities: 
 
     Additional                 Applicable 
     Acknowledgments: 
 
     Credit Support Documents:  Section 4 shall be a Credit Support Document 
                                under the Agreement  with respect to 
                                Counterparty. 
 
                                Guarantee dated May  16, 2001 made by Credit 
                                Suisse  First Bosto n  (USA),  Inc., a Delaware 
                                corporation in favo r of each and every 
                                counterparty to one  or more Financial 
                                Transactions (as de fined therein) with CSFB is a  
                                Credit Support Docu ment under the Agreement with  
                                respect to CSFB. 
 
     Account Details: 
 
         Payments to CSFB:      To be advised under  separate cover prior to the 
                                Trade Date 
 
         Payments to            To be advised under  separate cover prior to 
         Counterparty:          the Trade Date 
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(a) REIMBURSEMENT OBLIGATION:  

Counterparty shall make monthly cash payments to CSFB from time to time in an amount sufficient to reimburse CSFB for any costs relating to 
the borrowing of Shares in connection with hedging CSFB's exposure to the Transaction.  

(b) TERMINATION BY COUNTERPARTY:  

At any time, Counterparty may terminate the Transaction in whole or in part upon 35 Exchange Business Days' prior written notice to CSFB (the 
termination date specified in such notice, the "OPTIONAL TERMINATION DATE"). If Counterparty terminates the Transaction in whole, 
Counterparty shall make a cash payment to CSFB (or vice versa, as the case may be) on the Optional Termination Date in an amount equal to the 
amount that would be payable under Section 6 of the Agreement if (i) such Optional Termination Date were an Early Termination Date (without 
regard to the provisions set forth under "Payment on Early Termination" below), (ii) Counterparty were the sole Affected Party and (iii) the 
Transaction were the only Terminated Transaction. If Counterparty terminates the Transaction in part, Counterparty shall specify the number of 
Shares with respect to which the Transaction is to be terminated and (a) Counterparty shall make a cash payment to CSFB on the Optional 
Termination Date (or vice versa, as the case may be) in an amount equal to the amount that would be payable under Section 6 of the Agreement 
if (i) such Optional Termination Date were an Early Termination Date (without regard to the provision set forth under "Payments on Early 
Termination" below), (ii) Counterparty were the sole Affected Party and (iii) the Transaction were the only Terminated Transaction; provided 
that (a) for purposes of such calculation, the Number of Shares shall be deemed to be such number of Shares with respect to which the 
Transaction is to be terminated, (b) the Number of Shares shall be reduced by such number of Shares with respect to which the Transaction is to 
be terminated .  

(c) ADDITIONAL REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF COUNTERPARTY:  

Counterparty hereby represents and warrants to CSFB as of the date hereof that:  

(i) Counterparty is an "eligible contract participant" as such term is defined in Section 1(a)(12) of the Commodity Exchange Act, as amended.  

(ii) Counterparty is not on the date such representation is given, nor has Counterparty been at any time in the three months prior to the date of the 
Term  

7  

         Delivery of Shares to  Credit Suisse First  Boston Corp. 
         CSFB:                  DTC#: 355 
                                Account#: 2HRY60 
                                Account Name: CSFB Capital LLC Collateral 
                                Management Account 
 
        Office:                 CSFB is acting thro ugh its New York Office for  
                                the purposes of the  Transaction; Counterparty 
                                is not a Multibranc h Party. 
 
      Calculation Agent:        CSFB. The Calculati on Agent will have no 
                                responsibility for good faith errors or 
                                omissions in any de termination under the 
                                Transaction. 
 
3.    OTHER PROVISIONS: 



Sheet, an "affiliate", within the meaning of Rule 144 under the Securities Act, of the Issuer. Counterparty is not an employee or director of the 
Issuer, and was not on the date of the Term Sheet, and is not on the date hereof, in possession of any material non-public information regarding 
the Issuer.  

(iii) All representations and warranties of Counterparty contained in the Term Sheet were true and correct as of the times such representations 
and warranties were made or repeated or deemed to be made or repeated under the Term Sheet and Counterparty has performed all of the 
covenants and obligations to be performed by Counterparty on or prior to the date hereof under the Term Sheet.  

(iv) Counterparty is, and shall be as of the date if any payment or delivery by Counterparty hereunder, solvent and able to pay its debts as they 
come due, with assets having a fair value greater than liabilities and with capital sufficient to carry on the businesses in which it engages.  

(v) Counterparty (A) has timely filed, caused to be timely filed or will timely file or cause to be timely filed all material tax returns that are 
required to be filed by it as of the date hereof and (B) has paid all material taxes shown to be due and payable on said returns or on any 
assessment made against it or any of its property and all other material taxes, assessments, fees, liabilities or other charges imposed on it or any 
of its property by any governmental authority, unless in each case the same are being contested in good faith. For purposes of determining 
whether a tax return has been timely filed, any extensions shall be taken into account.  

(vi) Counterparty has not (A) created or permitted to exist any Lien (as defined in Section 4 below) upon or with respect to the Collateral (as 
defined in Section 4 below), (B) sold or otherwise disposed of, or granted any option with respect to, any of the Collateral or (C) entered into or 
consented to any agreement (other than, in the case of clause (x), this Confirmation) (x) that restricts in any manner rights of any present or 
future owner of any Collateral with respect thereto or (y) pursuant to which any person other than Counterparty, CSFB and any securities 
intermediary through whom any of the Collateral is held (but in the case of any such securities intermediary only in respect of Collateral held 
through it) has or will have Control (as defined n Section 4 below) in respect of any Collateral.  

(vii) Other than financing statements or other similar or equivalent documents or instruments with respect to the security interests in the 
Collateral created by Section 4 below, no financing statement, security agreement or similar or equivalent document or instrument covering all 
or any part of the Collateral is on file or of record in any jurisdiction in which such filing or recording would be effective to perfect a lien, 
security interest or other encumbrance of any kind on such Collateral.  

(viii) All Collateral consisting of securities and all financial assets underlying Collateral consisting of security entitlements (such as defined in 
Section 8-102 of the UCC) at any time pledged hereunder is and will be issued by an issuer organized under the laws of the United States, any 
State thereof or the District of Columbia and is and will be (i) certificated (and the certificate or certificates in respect of such securities or 
financial assets are and will be located in the United States) and registered in the name of Counterparty or held through a securities intermediary 
whose securities intermediary's jurisdiction (within the meaning of  
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Section 8-110(e) of the UCC) is located in the United States or (ii) uncertificated and either registered in the name of Counterparty or held 
through a securities intermediary whose securities intermediary's jurisdiction (within the meaning of Section 8-110(e) of the UCC) is located in 
the United States; provided that this representation shall not be deemed to be breached if, at any time, any such Collateral is issued by an issuer 
that is not organized under the laws of the United States, any State thereof or the District of Columbia, and the parties hereto agree to procedures 
or amendments here to necessary to enable CSFB to maintain a valid and continuously perfected security interest in such Collateral, in respect of 
which CSFB will have Control (as defined in Section 4 below), subject to no prior Lien (as defined in Section 4 below). The parties hereto agree 
to negotiate in good faith any such procedures or amendments.  

(ix) No registration, recordation or filing with any governmental body, agency or official is required or necessary for the perfection or 
enforcement of the security interests in the Collateral created by  
Section 4 below, other than the filing of financing statement in any appropriate jurisdiction.  

(x) Counterparty has not performed and will not perform any acts that might prevent CSFB from enforcing any of the terms of Section 4 or that 
might limit CSFB in any such enforcement.  

(h) U.S. PRIVATE PLACEMENT REPRESENTATIONS:  

Each of CSFB and Counterparty hereby represents and warrants to the other party as of the date hereof that:  

(i) It is an "accredited investor" (as defined in Regulation D under the Securities Act) and has such knowledge and experience in financial and 
business matters as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of the Transaction, and it is able to bear the economic risk of the Transaction. 

(ii) It is entering into the Transaction for its own account and not with a view to the distribution or resale of the Transaction or its rights 
thereunder except pursuant to a registration statement declared effective under, or an exemption from the registration requirements of, the 
Securities Act.  

(i) COVENANTS OF COUNTERPARTY:  

(i) Counterparty is aware of and agrees to be bound by the rules of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. ("NASD") applicable to 
option trading and is aware of and agrees not to violate, either alone or in concert with others, the position or exercise limits established by the 
NASD.  

(ii) Counterparty shall notify CSFB immediately of Counterparty's intention to (A) purchase Shares or any other security of the Issuer with 
respect to the Transaction in an amount that would cause Counterparty to become the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of more than three 
(3) percent of the outstanding Shares of any equity security of the Issuer, (B) permit any Associated Person of Counterparty to accept a position 
as an officer or director of the Issuer, (C) take any action that would cause Counterparty to possess, directly or indirectly, the power to direct or 
cause the direction of the management and policies of the Issuer, whether by ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise or (D) take 
any other action that could  
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reasonably be expected to result in Counterparty's becoming an "affiliate", within the meaning of Rule 144 under the Securities Act, of the 
Issuer. Counterparty shall not take any such action unless a period of fifteen (15) Exchange Business Days shall have elapsed after receipt of 
such notice by CSFB and CSFB shall not have objected in writing to such action during such period. "ASSOCIATED PERSON" shall mean (x) 
any office; director, managing member or general partner of Counterparty or (y) any officer, director, managing member or general partner of 
any person described in clause  
(x) above or in this clause (y).  

(j) SECURITIES CONTRACT:  

The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that each of CSFB and the Custodian (as defined in Section 4 below) is a "stockbroker" within the 
meaning of Section 101 (53A) of Title 11 of the United States Code (the "BANKRUPTCY CODE") and that the Custodian is acting as agent and 
custodian for CSFB in connection with the Transaction and that CSFB is a "customer" of the Custodian within the meaning of Section 741(2) of 
the Bankruptcy Code. The parties hereto further recognize that the Transaction is a "securities contract", as such term is defined in Section 741
(7) of the Bankruptcy Code, entitled to the protection of, among other provisions, Sections 555 and 362(b)(6) of the Bankruptcy Code, and that 
each payment or delivery of cash, Shares or other property or assets hereunder is a "settlement payment" within the meaning of Section 741(8) of 
the Bankruptcy Code.  

(k) ASSIGNMENT:  

The rights and duties under this Confirmation and the Supplemental Confirmation may not be assigned or transferred by any party hereto without 
the prior written consent of the other parties hereto, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld; provided that (i) CSFB may assign or transfer 
any of its rights or duties hereunder to any of its affiliates without the prior written consent of Counterparty and (ii) the Agent may assign or 
transfer any of its rights or duties hereunder without the prior written consent of the other parties hereto to any affiliate of Credit Suisse First 
Boston, so long as such affiliate is a broker-dealer registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  

(l) NON-CONFIDENTIALITY:  

The parties hereby agree that (i) effective from the date of commencement of discussions concerning the Transaction, Counterparty and each of 
its employees, representatives, or other agents may disclose to any and all persons, without limitation of any kind, the tax treatment and tax 
structure of the Transaction and all materials of any kind, including opinions or other tax analyses, provided by CSFB and its affiliates to 
Counterparty relating to such tax treatment and tax structure; provided that the foregoing does not constitute an authorization to disclose the 
identity of CSFB or its affiliates, agents or advisers, or, except to the extent relating to such tax structure or tax treatment, any specific pricing 
terms or commercial or financial information, and (ii) CSFB does not assert any claim of proprietary ownership in respect of any description 
contained herein or therein relating to the use of any entities, plans or arrangements to give rise to a particular United States federal income tax 
treatment for Counterparty.  

(m) MATTERS RELATING TO CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON CAPITAL LLC AND CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON LLC:  

Agent shall act as "agent" for CSFB and Counterparty in connection with the Transaction.  
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(i) Agent will furnish to Counterparty upon written request a statement as to the source and amount of any remuneration received or to be 
received by Agent in connection herewith.  

(ii) Agent has no obligation hereunder, by guaranty, endorsement or otherwise, with respect to performance of CSFB's obligations hereunder or 
under the Agreement.  

(iii) Credit Suisse First Boston Capital LLC is an "OTC derivatives dealer" as such term is defined in the Exchange Act and is an affiliate of 
Agent.  

(iv) Credit Suisse First Boston Capital LLC is not a member of the Securities Investor Protection Corporation.  

4. COLLATERAL:  

Counterparty has granted to CSFB a security interest in the Initial Pledged Items to secure Counterparty's obligations under the Term Sheet, this 
Confirmation, each Supplemental Confirmation and, if applicable, its Loan Obligations (as defined in the Credit Agreement, if applicable) (such 
credit agreement, the "CREDIT AGREEMENT", and such obligations and Loan Obligations, collectively, the "SECURED OBLIGATIONS"). 
Counterparty and CSFB now wish to (i) set forth additional understandings and agreements relating to such security interest and (ii) confirm, on 
the terms set forth herein, the continuation of such security interest.  

A. DELIVERY OF COLLATERAL:  

On or prior to the Trade Date, Counterparty shall deliver to the CSFB in pledge hereunder, Eligible Collateral consisting of a number of Shares 
equal to the Number of Shares (the "INITIAL PLEDGED ITEMS"). "ELIGIBLE COLLATERAL" means Shares, cash or, if Counterparty shall 
have elected to substitute securities issued by the United States government ("GOVERNMENT SECURITIES") for Share Collateral in 
accordance with this Section 4, Government Securities; provided that Counterparty has good and marketable title thereto, free of any and all lien, 
mortgage, interest, pledge, charge or encumbrance of any kind (other than the security interests in the Collateral created hereby, a "LIEN") and 
Transfer Restrictions and that CSFB has a valid, first priority perfected security interest therein, a first lien thereon and Control (which means 
"control" as defined in  
Section 8-106 and Section 9-106 of the UCC) with respect thereto. "TRANSFER RESTRICTION" means, with respect to any item of collateral 
pledged hereunder, any condition to or restriction on the ability of the owner thereof to sell, assign or otherwise transfer such item of collateral or 
enforce the provisions thereof or of any document related thereto whether set forth in such item of collateral itself or in any document related 
thereto, including, without limitation, (i) any requirement that any sale, assignment or other transfer or enforcement of such item of collateral be 
consented to or approved by any Person, including, without limitation, the issuer thereof or any other obligor thereon, (ii) any limitations on the 
type or status, financial or otherwise, of any purchaser, pledgee, assignee or transferee of such item of collateral, (iii) any requirement of the 
delivery of any certificate, consent, agreement, opinion of counsel, notice or any other document of any Person to the issuer of, any other obligor 
on or any registrar or transfer agent for, such item of collateral, prior to the sale, pledge, assignment or other transfer or enforcement of such item 
of collateral and  
(iv) any registration or qualification requirement or prospectus delivery requirement for such item of collateral pursuant to any federal, state or 
foreign securities law (including, without limitation, any such requirement arising under Section 5 of the Securities Act as a result of such 
security being a "restricted security" or Counterparty being an "affiliate" of the issuer of such security, as such terms are defined in Rule 144 
under the Securities Act, or as a result of the sale of such security being  
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subject to paragraph (c) of Rule 145 under the Securities Act); provided that the required delivery of any assignment, instruction or entitlement 
order from the seller, Counterparty, assignor or transferor of such item of collateral, together with any evidence of the corporate or other 
authority of such Person, shall not constitute a "Transfer Restriction". "UCC" means the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in the State of 
New York. "PERSON" means an individual, a corporation, a limited liability company, a partnership, an association, a trust or any other entity 
or organization, including a government or political subdivision or an agency or instrumentality thereof.  

Any delivery of any securities or security entitlements (each as defined in Section 8-102 of the UCC) as Collateral to CSFB by Counterparty 
shall be effected (A) in the case of Collateral consisting of certificated securities registered in the name of Counterparty, by delivery of 
certificates representing such securities to the Custodian, accompanied by any required transfer tax stamps, and in suitable form for transfer by 
delivery or accompanied by duly executed instruments of transfer or assignment in blank, with signatures appropriately guaranteed, all in form 
and substance satisfactory to CSFB, and the crediting by the Custodian of such securities to a securities account (as defined in Section 8-501 of 
the UCC) (the "COLLATERAL ACCOUNT") of CSFB maintained by the Custodian, (B) in the case of Collateral consisting of uncertificated 
securities registered in the name of Counterparty, by transmission by Counterparty of an instruction to the issuer of such securities instructing 
such issuer to register such securities in the name of the Custodian or its nominee, accompanied by any required transfer tax stamps, the issuer's 
compliance with such instructions and the crediting by the Custodian of such securities to the Collateral Account, (C) in the case of securities in 
respect of which security entitlements are held by Counterparty through a securities intermediary, by the crediting of such securities, 
accompanied by any required transfer tax stamps, to a securities account of the Custodian at such securities intermediary or, at the option of 
CSFB, at another securities intermediary satisfactory to CSFB and the crediting by the Custodian of such securities to the Collateral Account or 
(D) in any case, by complying with such alternative delivery instructions as CSFB shall provide to Counterparty in writing. "CUSTODIAN" 
means Credit Suisse First Boston LLC, or any other custodian appointed by CSFB and identified to Counterparty; provided, however, that, upon 
the occurrence of an Event of Default where CSFB is the Defaulting Party, Custodian agrees to transfer all Collateral to an independent, 
unaffiliated third-party collateral custodian, as mutually agreed by the parties.  

B. GRANT OF SECURITY INTERESTS IN THE COLLATERAL:  

In order to secure the full and punctual observance and performance of the Secured Obligations, Counterparty hereby assigns and pledges to 
CSFB, and grants to CSFB, as secured party, security interests in and to, and a lien upon and right of set-off against, and transfers to CSFB, as 
and by way of a security interest having priority over all other security interests, with power of sale (and, in the case of the Initial Pledged Items, 
reaffirms its assignment and pledge thereof, and its grant of a security interest therein, pursuant to the Term Sheet), all of Counterparty's right, 
title and interest in and to (i) the Initial Pledged Items; (ii) all additions to and substitutions for the Initial Pledged Items (including, without 
limitation, any securities, instruments or other property delivered or pledged hereunder) (such additions and substitutions, the "ADDITIONS 
AND SUBSTITUTIONS"); (iii) the Collateral Account of CSFB maintained by the Custodian and all securities and other financial assets (each 
as defined in Section 8-102 of the UCC) and other funds, property or assets from time to time held therein or credited thereto; (iv) all income, 
proceeds and collections received or to be received, or derived or to be derived, at the time that the Initial Pledged Items were delivered to the 
Custodian or any time thereafter (whether before or after the commencement of any proceeding under applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or 
similar law, by or against. Counterparty, with respect to Counterparty) from or in connection with the Initial Pledged Items or the Additions and  
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Substitutions, excluding any Excluded Proceeds; and (v) all rights of Seller under, and all right, title and interest of Seller in and to, the 
Confirmation, the Supplemental Confirmation and the Transaction (collectively, the "Collateral"). The parties hereto expressly agree that all 
rights, assets and property at any time held in or credited to the Collateral Account shall be treated as financial assets (as defined in  
Section 8-102 of the UCC). "EXCLUDED PROCEEDS" means any Ordinary Dividend Amount that is not distributed after the occurrence and 
during the continuance of the Event of Default.  

C. CERTAIN COVENANTS OF COUNTERPARTY RELATING TO THE COLLATERAL:  

Counterparty agrees that, so long as any of the Secured Obligations remain outstanding:  

1. Counterparty shall ensure at all times that a Collateral Event of Default shall not occur, and shall pledge additional Collateral in the manner 
described hereunder as necessary to cause such requirement to be met. "COLLATERAL EVENT OF DEFAULT" means, at any time, the 
occurrence of either of the following: (A) failure of the Collateral to include, as Eligible Collateral, a number of Shares at least equal to the 
Number of Shares (or, if Counterparty has elected to substitute Government Securities for Share Collateral in accordance with this Section 4, the 
amount of Government Securities required thereby) or (B) failure at any time of the security interests in the Collateral created hereby to 
constitute valid and perfected security interests in all of the Collateral, subject to no prior, equal or junior Lien, and, with respect to any 
Collateral consisting of securities or security entitlements (each as defined in Section 8-102 of the UCC), as to which CSFB has Control, or, in 
each case, assertion of such by Counterparty in writing.  

2. Counterparty shall, at its own expense and in such manner and form as CSFB may require, give, execute, deliver, file and record any financing 
statement, notice, instrument, document, agreement or other papers that may be necessary or desirable in order to (i) create, preserve, perfect, 
substantiate or validate any security interest granted pursuant hereto, (ii) create or maintain Control with respect to any such security interests in 
any investment property (as defined in Section 9-102(a) of the UCC) or (iii) enable CSFB to exercise and enforce its rights hereunder with 
respect to such security interest.  

3. Counterparty shall warrant and defend Counterparty's title to the Collateral, subject to the rights of CSFB, against the claims and demands of 
all persons. CSFB may elect, but without an obligation to do so, to discharge any Lien of any third party on any of the Collateral.  

4. Counterparty agrees that Counterparty shall not change (i) Counterparty's name in any manner or (ii) Counterparty's location (as defined in 
Section 9-307 of UCC), unless Counterparty shall have given CSFB not less than 10 days' prior notice thereof.  

5. Counterparty agrees that Counterparty shall not (i) create or permit to exist any Lien (other than the security interests in the Collateral created 
hereby) or any Transfer Restriction upon or with respect to the Collateral, (ii) sell or otherwise dispose of, or grant any option with respect to, 
any of the Collateral or (iii) enter into or consent to any agreement (x) that restricts in any manner the rights of any present or future owner of 
any Collateral with respect thereto (other than this Confirmation) or (y) pursuant to which any person other than Counterparty, CSFB and any 
securities intermediary through whom any of the Collateral is held (but in the case of any such securities intermediary only in respect of 
Collateral held through it) has or will have Control in respect of any Collateral and represents and warrants to CSFB as of the date hereof that it 
has not previously created any such Lien or Transfer Restriction, effected any such sale, disposition or grant or entered in or consented to any 
such agreement.  
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D. ADMINISTRATION OF THE COLLATERAL AND VALUATION OF SECURITIES:  

1. CSFB shall determine on each Business Day whether a Collateral Event of Default shall have occurred. If on any Business Day CSFB 
determines that a Collateral Event of Default shall have occurred, CSFB shall promptly notify Counterparty of such determination by telephone 
call to Counterparty followed by a written confirmation of such call. If on any Business Day CSFB determines that no Default Event or failure 
by Counterparty to meet any of Counterparty's obligations under "Certain Covenants of Counterparty relating to the Collateral" or under this 
section has occurred and is continuing, Counterparty may obtain the release from the security interests in the Collateral created hereby of any 
Collateral upon delivery to CSFB of a written notice from Counterparty indicating the iteros of Collateral to be released so long as, after such 
release, no Collateral Event of Default shall have occurred. "DEFAULT EVENT" means any Collateral Event of Default, any Event of Default 
with respect to Counterparty, any Default (as defined in the Credit Agreement) pursuant to the Credit Agreement, or any Termination Event with 
respect to which Counterparty is the Affected Party or an Affected Party or any Extraordinary Event that results in an obligation of Counterparty 
to pay an amount pursuant to Section 12.7 or Section 12.9 of the 2002 Definitions;  

2. Counterparty may pledge additional Eligible Collateral hereunder at any time by delivering the same pursuant to the provisions of "Delivery 
of Collateral" above. Concurrently with the delivery of any additional Eligible Collateral, Counterparty shall deliver to CSFB a certificate, dated 
the date of such delivery, (i) identifying the additional items of Eligible Collateral being pledged and (ii) certifying that with respect to such 
items of additional Eligible Collateral the representations and warranties contained in paragraph  
4.c.5. above are true and correct with respect to such Eligible Collateral on and as of the date thereof  

3. Counterparty may at any time, so long as no Default Event has occurred and is continuing, substitute Government Securities for all (but not 
less than all) of the Collateral consisting of Shares then held in or credited to the Collateral Account (the "SHARE COLLATERAL") on the 
terms set forth below:  

(A) At least five Business Days prior to the date of any such substitution, Counterparty shall notify CSFB in writing that Counterparty intends to 
effect such substitution;  

(B) Counterparty shall deliver to CSFB, in a manner reasonably acceptable to CSFB, Government Securities having a value at least equal to 
105% of the market value of the Share Collateral on the date of such delivery (as determined by the Calculation Agent);  

(C) Counterparty shall take all such other actions as CSFB may reasonably require to create for the benefit of CSFB a valid and perfected 
security interest in such Government Securities, in respect of which CSFB will have Control, subject to no prior Lien; and  

(D) Counterparty shall make mark to market deliveries of additional Government Securities on a daily basis, and CSFB shall release 
Government Securities previously pledged upon the request of Counterparty, so that the value of the Government Securities pledged is at all 
times at least equal to 105% of the market value of the Share Collateral for such Transaction that would otherwise have been pledged hereunder 
at such time (as determined by the Calculation Agent), in  
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each case, pursuant to terms mutually acceptable to CSFB and Counterparty.  

4. CSFB may at any time or from time to time, in its sole discretion, cause any or all of the Collateral that is registered in the name of 
Counterparty or Counterparty's nominee to be transferred of record into the name of the Custodian, CSFB or its nominee. Counterparty shall 
promptly give to CSFB copies of any notices or other communications received by Counterparty with respect to Collateral that is registered, or 
held through a securities intermediary in the name of Counterparty or Counterparty's nominee and CSFB shall promptly give to Counterparty 
copies of any notices and communications received by CSFB with respect to Collateral that is registered, or held through a securities 
intermediary, in the name of Custodian, CSFB or its nominee.  

5. Counterparty agrees that Counterparty shall forthwith upon demand pay to CSFB:  

(i) the amount of any taxes that CSFB or the Custodian may have been required to pay by reason of the security interests in the Collateral created 
hereby or to free any of the Collateral from any Lien thereon; and  

(ii) the amount of any and all costs and expenses, including the fees and disbursements of counsel and of any other experts, that CSFB or the 
Custodian may incur in connection with (A) the enforcement of this pledge, including such expenses as are incurred to preserve the value of the 
Collateral and the validity, perfection, rank and value of the security interests in the Collateral created hereby, (B) the collection, sale or other 
disposition of any of the Collateral, (C) the exercise by CSFB of any of the rights conferred upon it hereunder or (D) any Default Event.  

Any such amount not paid on demand shall bear interest (computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and payable for the actual number of days 
elapsed) at a rate per annum equal to 3% plus the prime rate as published from time to time in The Wall Street Journal, Eastern Edition.  

E. NO REHYPOTHECATION OF COLLATERAL:  

The parties hereto agree that CSFB may not sell, lend, pledge, rehypothecate, assign, invest, use, commingle or otherwise dispose of, or 
otherwise use in its business any Collateral.  

F. INCOME AND VOTING RIGHTS IN COLLATERAL:  

CSFB shall have the right to receive and retain as Collateral hereunder all proceeds, excluding any Excluded Proceeds, but including, without 
limitation, any Extraordinary Dividend and interest of the Collateral; provided that CSFB shall have such right with respect to any and all 
proceeds, including without limitation any Excluded Proceeds, after the occurrence and during the continuance of a Default Event (such 
proceeds as CSFB shall have the right to receive and retain at any time, "RETAINED PROCEEDS"), and Counterparty shall take all such action 
as CSFB shall deem necessary or appropriate to give effect to such right. All such Retained Proceeds that are received by Counterparty shall be 
received in trust for the benefit of CSFB and, if CSFB so directs, shall be segregated from other funds of Counterparty and shall, forthwith upon 
demand by CSFB, be delivered over to the Custodian on behalf of CSFB as Collateral in the same form as received (with any necessary 
endorsement).  
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Unless a Default Event shall have occurred and be continuing, Counterparty shall have the right, from time to time, to vote and to give consents, 
ratifications and waivers with respect to the Collateral.  

If a Default Event shall have occurred and be continuing, CSFB shall have the right, to the extent permitted by law, and Counterparty shall take 
all such action as may be necessary or appropriate to give effect to such right, to vote and to give consents, ratifications and waivers, and to take 
any other action with respect to any or all of the Collateral with the same force and effect as if CSFB were the absolute and sole owner thereof.  

G. REMEDIES UPON DEFAULT EVENTS:  

If any Default Event shall have occurred and be continuing, CSFB may exercise all the rights of a secured party under the UCC (whether or not 
in effect in the jurisdiction where such rights are exercised) and, in addition, without being required to give any notice, except as herein provided 
or as may be required by mandatory provisions of law, may sell all of the Collateral, or such lesser portion thereof as may be necessary to 
generate proceeds sufficient to satisfy in full all of the obligations of Counterparty under the Agreement or hereunder.  

Counterparty hereby irrevocably appoints CSFB as Counterparty's true and lawful attorney (which power of attorney is coupled with an interest), 
with full power of substitution, in the name of Counterparty, CSFB or otherwise, for the sole use and benefit of CSFB, but at the expense of 
Counterparty, to the extent permitted by law, to exercise, at any time and from time to time while a Default Event has occurred and is continuing, 
all or any of the following powers with respect to all or any of the Collateral:  

(i) to demand, sue for, collect, receive and give acquittance for any and all monies due or to become due upon or by virtue thereof;  

(ii) to settle, compromise, compound, prosecute or defend any action or proceeding with respect thereto;  

(iii) to sell, transfer, assign or otherwise deal in or with the same or the proceeds or avails thereof, as fully and effectually as if CSFB were the 
absolute owner thereof and in connection therewith, to make all necessary deeds, bills of sale, instruments of assignment, transfer or conveyance 
of the property, and all instructions and entitlement orders in respect of the property thus to be (or that is being or has been) sold, transferred, 
assigned or otherwise dealt in; and  

(iv) to extend the time of payment of any or all thereof and to make any allowance and other adjustments with reference thereto;  

provided that CSFB shall give Counterparty not less than one day's prior written notice of the time and place of any sale or other intended 
disposition of any of the Collateral, except any Collateral that threatens to decline speedily in value, including, without limitation, equity 
securities, or is of a type customarily sold on a recognized market. CSFB and Counterparty agree that such notice constitutes "reasonable 
authenticated notification" within the meaning of Section 9-611(b) of the UCC.  

H. TERMINATION:  

The rights hereby granted by Counterparty in the Collateral shall cease, terminate and be  
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void upon fulfilment of all of the Secured Obligations. Any Collateral remaining at the time of such termination shall be fully released and 
discharged from the security interests in the Collateral created hereby and delivered to Counterparty by CSFB, all at the request and expense of 
Counterparty.  

5. THE AGREEMENT IS FURTHER SUPPLEMENTED BY THE FOLLOWING PROVISIONS:  

(a) TERMINATION PROVISIONS.  

(i) "SPECIFIED ENTITY" means in relation to CSFB, none, and in relation to Counterparty, none.  

(ii) "SPECIFIED TRANSACTION" will have the meaning specified in Section 14 of the Agreement.  

(iii) The "CROSS DEFAULT" provision of Section 5(a)(vi) of the Agreement will apply to CSFB and will apply to Counterparty.  

(iv) Without limiting the generality of clause (iii) above, an Event of Default as defined in the Credit Agreement shall be an Event of Default 
with respect to Counterparty under the Agreement.  

For the purpose of such provision:  

"SPECIFIED INDEBTEDNESS" means any obligation (whether present or future, contingent or otherwise, as principal or surety or otherwise) 
(A) in respect of borrowed money, or (B) in respect of any Specified Transaction (except that, for this purpose only, the words "and any other 
entity" shall be substituted for the words "and the other party to the Agreement (or any Credit Support Provider of such other party or any 
applicable Specified Entity of such other party)" where they appear in the definition of Specified Transaction).  

"THRESHOLD AMOUNT" means, with respect to Counterparty, USD 10,000,000 and, with respect to CSFB, USD 100,000,000 (in each case, 
including the United States Dollar equivalent of obligations stated in any other currency or currency unit).  

(v) THE "CREDIT EVENT UPON MERGER" provisions of Section 5(b)(iv) of the Agreement will not apply to CSFB and will apply to 
Counterparty.  

(vi) The "AUTOMATIC EARLY TERMINATION" provisions of Section 6(a) of the Agreement will not apply to CSFB and Counterparty.  

(vii) PAYMENTS ON EARLY TERMINATION. For the purpose of Section 6(e) of the Agreement, Second Method and Loss will apply.  

(viii) "TERMINATION CURRENCY" means United States Dollars.  

(ix) NETTING. The provisions of Section 2(c) of the Agreement shall apply, provided that Section 2(c) shall be amended by deleting "and" at 
the end of clause (i) thereof and deleting clause (ii) thereof.  

(x) SET-OFF. In addition to and without limiting any rights of set-off that a party hereto may have as a matter of law, pursuant to contract or 
otherwise, upon (x) the occurrence or effective designation of an Early Termination Date in respect of the Transaction or (y) the occurrence of an 
Extraordinary Event that results in  
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the cancellation or termination of the Transaction pursuant to  
Section 12.2,12.3, 12.6 or 12.9 of the 2002 Definitions, such Party ("PARTY X") shall have the right to terminate, liquidate and otherwise close 
out the transactions contemplated by this Confirmation pursuant to the terms hereof, and to set off any obligation that Party X or any affiliate of 
Party X may have to the other party ("PARTY Y") hereunder, thereunder or otherwise, including without limitation any obligation to make any 
release, delivery or payment to Party Y pursuant to this Confirmation, any Supplemental Confirmation, the Credit Agreement, or any other 
agreement between Party X or any of its affiliates and Party Y, against any right Party X or any of its affiliates may have against Party Y, 
including without limitation any right to receive a payment or delivery pursuant to this Confirmation, any Supplemental Confirmation, the Credit 
Agreement, or any other agreement between Party X or any of its affiliates and Party Y. In the case of a set-off of any obligation to release, 
deliver or pay assets against any right to receive assets of the same type, such obligation and right shall be set off in kind. In the case of a set-off 
of any obligation to release, deliver or pay assets against any right to receive assets of any other type, the value of each of such obligation and 
such right shall be determined by the Calculation Agent and the result of such set-off shall be that the net obligor shall pay or deliver to the other 
party an amount of cash or assets, at the net obligor's option, with a value (determined, in the case of a delivery of assets, by the Calculation 
Agent) equal to that of the net obligation. In determining the value of any obligation to release or deliver Shares or right to receive Shares, the 
value at any time of such obligation or right shall be determined by reference to the market value of the Shares at such time. If an obligation or 
right is unascertained at the time of any such set-off, the Calculation Agent may in good faith estimate the amount or value of such obligation or 
right, in which case set-off will be effected in respect of that estimate, and the relevant party shall account to the other party at the time such 
obligation or right is ascertained.  

(b) TAX REPRESENTATIONS. None.  

(c) AGREEMENTS TO DELIVER DOCUMENTS. For the purpose of Sections 4(a)(i) and  
(ii) of the Agreement, each of CSFB and Counterparty agrees to deliver the following documents, as applicable:  

(i) Each of CSFB and Counterparty will deliver to the other party, upon execution of this Confirmation, evidence reasonably satisfactory to the 
other party as to the names, true signatures and authority of the officers or officials signing this Confirmation and each Supplemental 
Confirmation on its behalf.  

Such documents shall be covered by the representation set forth in Section 3(d) of the Agreement.  

(d) MISCELLANEOUS:  

(i) ADDRESSES FOR NOTICES. For the purpose of Section 12(a) of the Agreement:  

Address for notices or communications to CSFB (other than by facsimile) (for all purposes):  
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Address:          Credit Suisse First Boston Capita l LLC  
                  c/o Credit Suisse First Boston LL C 
                  11 Madison Avenue 



 

For all other communications:  

 
Attn: John Ryan  

Tel.: (212)325-8681  
Fax: (212)538-8898  

Designated responsible employee for the purposes of Section 12(a)(iii) of the Agreement: Senior Legal Officer  

Address for notices or communications to Counterparty:  

 

Attention:  

Telex No.: Answerback:  
Facsimile No.: Telephone No.:  

(ii) The date and time of the Transaction will be furnished by CSFB to Counterparty upon written request by Counterparty.  

(iii) WAIVER OF RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY. EACH PARTY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE 
LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO 
THIS CONFIRMATION, ANY SUPPLEMENTAL CONFIRMATION OR ANY CREDIT SUPPORT DOCUMENT. Each party (A) certifies 
that no representative, agent or attorney of the other party has represented, expressly or otherwise, that such other party would not, in the event 
of such a suit action or proceeding, seek to enforce the foregoing waiver and (B) acknowledges that it and the other party have been induced to 
enter into this Confirmation by, among other things, the mutual waivers and certifications in this Section.  

(iv) SERVICE OF PROCESS. The parties irrevocably consent to service of process given in the manner provided for notices in Section in 
paragraph 5(d)(i) immediately above. Nothing in this Confirmation will affect the right of either party to serve process in any other manner 
permitted by law.  

(v) THE AGREEMENT, CONFIRMATION AND EACH SUPPLEMENTAL CONFIRMATION THEREUNDER WILL BE GOVERNED BY 
AND  
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                  New York, NY 10010 
                  Attn: Senior Legal Officer 
                  Tel: 212-538-2616 
                  Fax: 212-322-0265 
 
With a copy to:   Credit Suisse First Boston LLC  
                  1 Madison Avenue, 3rd Floor 
                  New York, New York 10010 
 
                  For payments and deliveries: 
                  Attn: Ricardo Harewood 
                  Tel: (212)538-9810 
                  Fax: (212)325-8175 

Address:          ICG Holdings, Inc. 
                  100 Lake Drive, Suite 4 
                  Pencarder Corporate Center  
                  Newark, DE 19702 



CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REFERENCE TO CHOICE OF LAW 
DOCTRINE (PROVIDED THAT AS TO PLEDGED ITEMS LOCATED IN ANY JURISDICTION OTHER THAN THE STATE OF NEW 
YORK, CSFB SHALL, IN ADDITION TO ANY RIGHTS UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, HAVE ALL OF THE 
RIGHTS TO WHICH A SECURED PARTY IS ENTITLED UNDER THE LAWS OF LAW OF SUCH OTHER JURISDICTION). EACH 
PARTY HEREBY SUBMITS TO THE JURISDICTION OF THE COURTS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. THE PARTIES HERETO 
HEREBY AGREE THAT THE CUSTODIAN'S JURISDICTION, WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 8-110(e) OF THE UCC, 
INSOFAR AS IT ACTS AS A SECURITIES INTERMEDIARY HEREUNDER OR IN RESPECT HEREOF, IS THE STATE OF NEW YORK 

(vi) This Confirmation and each Supplemental Confirmation is not intended and shall not be construed to create any rights in any person other 
than Counterparty, CSFB and their respective successors and assigns and no other person shall assert any rights as third-party beneficiary 
hereunder. Whenever any of the parties hereto is referred to, such reference shall be deemed to include the successors and assigns of such party. 
All the covenants and agreements herein contained by or on behalf of Counterparty and CSFB shall bind, and inure to the benefit of, their 
respective successors and assigns whether so expressed or not.  

(vii) Any provision of this Confirmation or any Supplemental Confirmation may be amended or waived if, and only if, such amendment or 
waiver is in writing and signed, and in the case of an amendment, by Counterparty and CSFB or, in the case of a waiver, by the party against 
whom the waiver is to be effective.  
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Please confirm that the foregoing correctly sets forth the terms of our agreement by signing and returning this Confirmation.  

Yours faithfully,  

CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON CAPITAL LLC  

 

Confirmed as of the date first written above:  

ICG HOLDINGS, INC.  

 

CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON LLC, AS AGENT  

 

Our Reference Number: External ID: [ ] / Risk ID: [ ]  

By its agent: Credit Suisse First Boston LLC  
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By:  /s/ John Ryan 
     --------------------------------- 
     Name: John Ryan 
     Title: A.V.P. 
            OPERATIONS 

By: /s/ Philip A. Rooney 
    ---------------------------- 
    Name: PHILIP A. ROONEY 
    Title: VICE PRESIDENT 

By: /s/ Christy Grant 
    ---------------------------- 
    Name: CHRISTY GRANT 
    Title: ASSISTANT VICE PRESIDENT 
           OPERATIONS 



ANNEX A  

FORM OF SUPPLEMENTAL CONFIRMATION  
in respect of the  

CONFIRMATION  
of the  

TRANSACTION  
between  

CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON CAPITAL LLC  

and  

ICG HOLDINGS, INC.  

(CSFB Ref: [_____])  

This Supplemental Confirmation (this "SUPPLEMENTAL CONFIRMATION") supplements, forms part of and is subject to, the above-
referenced Confirmation dated as of  
[Date] (the "CONFIRMATION") between Credit Suisse First Boston Capital LLC and ICG Holdings, Inc. and the Agreement referred to 
therein. Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Confirmation.  

The additional terms of the Transaction are as follows:  

 
 

Trade Date:                        [______] 
 
Number of Options:                 [______] 
 
Call Strike Price:                 USD[_____] 
 
Put Strike Price:                  USD[_____] 
 
Premium:                           USD [______], wh ich shall be paid by 
                                   [-] to [-] on th e Premium Payment Date.  
 
Premium Payment Date:              [______] 
 
First Averaging Date:              [______] 



Exhibit 10.32  

July 28, 2005  

Mr. Douglas Alexander  
80 Amherst Court  
Phoenixville, PA 19460  

Dear Doug:  

The Board of Directors and I recognize you as a valuable contributor to Internet Capital Group ("ICG"). We place a high priority upon retaining 
your services to ICG and in rewarding you for your commitment, dedication, and hard work. I am, therefore, very pleased to reaffirm the 
severance package that will be made available to you should you be terminated other than for cause prior to December 31, 2008. A summary of 
these severance benefits is listed below.  

- SEVERANCE PAY - ICG will pay you at the date of termination of employment a lump sum payment equal to 12 months of base salary plus 
target bonus at the rate existing at termination of employment.  

- ANNUAL BONUS - ICG will pay you at the same time, under the same terms and conditions as other employees, a pro-rated bonus for service 
through your termination date, based on your individual performance and ICG's performance for that period as determined by the Board of 
Directors.  

- EMPLOYEE BENEFITS - ICG will continue to provide you and your family medical and dental insurance at the same percent of premium 
payment existing at the time of termination until the earlier of (A) 12 months after termination of employment; or (B) your eligibility for any of 
these benefits under another employer's or spouse's employer's plan.  

- OUTPLACEMENT - ICG will provide you career counseling until the earlier of (A) 12 months after termination of employment; or (B) your 
employment with a subsequent employer.  

- EQUITY - ICG Management will recommend to the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors that your stock options and restricted 
stock be subject to the better of the following: (A) credit for an additional 12 months service (compared to your actual service with ICG); or (B) 
application of the terms of the relevant option or restricted stock agreement. Such options shall be exercisable after your termination of 
employment to the earlier of 1) twenty-four months or 2) 12 months after the ICG share price is maintained at $16 for 20 trading days.  



- CHANGE IN CONTROL - In the event of an involuntary termination caused by a change in control as defined in the summary plan 
description, you will receive 100% acceleration of all equity grants. The term to exercise any option grant shall be extended to the remaining 
term of the option.  

- RELEASE - Availability of these severance benefits will be conditioned upon your executing, and not rescinding or breaching, upon 
termination of employment a release of liability in a form acceptable to ICG. If you elect not to sign a release of liability, you will be eligible for 
the standard severance package applicable at that time. That package currently consists of one month's pay plus two week's pay per year of 
completed service and paid medical and dental insurance for you and your family for the standard severance period.  

In addition, in connection with the equity grant that was approved by the Board on July 22nd, the Board has also adopted stock ownership 
guidelines for the senior management of ICG. Under these guidelines, you are expected to own the lesser of (1) 40% of any restricted stock 
granted to you that vests after July 22, 2005, or (2) stock worth at least 150% of your base salary.  

We trust that our commitment to protect the financial security of you and your family will strengthen your loyalty to ICG. Our sincere belief is 
that the current ICG team, including you, is outstanding and will drive our success against the new business plan. This success will provide 
meaningful financial rewards to our shareholders and employees.  

This letter is not intended to modify your status as an at-will employee of ICG and all other employment terms and conditions remain the same.  

Sincerely,  

 

cc: Employee file  
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/s/ Walter Buckley 
------------------ 
Walter Buckley 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 



.  

.  

.  
Exhibit 21.1  

Subsidiaries of Internet Capital Group, Inc.  

 

Unless otherwise provided, each of the subsidiaries named above do business under the same name.  

 

  Name                                                            Jurisdiction of Incorporation 
--------                                                      -----------------------------------  
Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc.                                    Delaware 
Internet Capital Group (Europe), Ltd.                                   United Kingdom 
ICG Holdings, Inc.                                                         Delaware 
1999 Internet Capital (Europe) L.P.                                        Delaware 
Anthem/CIC Ventures Fund L.P.                                              Delaware 
Blackboard, Inc.                                                           Delaware 
Captive Capital Corporation (fka eMarket Capital, I nc.)                    Delaware 
ComputerJobs.com, Inc.                                                      Georgia 
CreditTrade Inc.                                                           Delaware 
eCredit.com, Inc.                                                          Delaware 
Emptoris, Inc.                                                             Delaware 
Entegrity Solutions Corporation                                           California 
FoodLink Online LLC                                                       California 
Freeborders, Inc.                                                          Delaware 
GoIndustry AG                                                               Germany 
ICG Commerce Holdings, Inc.                                                Delaware 
        ICG Commerce, Inc.                                               Pennsylvania 
        ICG Commerce Investments, LLC                                      Delaware 
        ICG Commerce International, LLC                                    Delaware 
        ICG Commerce Mexico I, LLC                                         Delaware 
        ICG Commerce Mexico II, LLC                                        Delaware 
        ICG Commerce UK Limited                                         United Kingdom 
        ICG Commerce Singapore Pte Ltd.                                    Singapore 
        ICG Commerce Germany GmbH                                           Germany 
        ICG Commerce Ireland Ltd.                                           Ireland 
        ICG Commerce Latin America, S. de. R.L., de  C.V.                    Mexico 
        ICG Commerce Services, S. de. R.L. de C.V.                          Mexico 
        epValue.com, Inc.                                                  Delaware 
ICG Patent, Inc.                                                           Delaware 
Investor Force Holdings, Inc.                                              Delaware 
        Investor Force, Inc.                                               Delaware 
        Investor Force Securities, Inc.                                    Delaware 
Jamcracker, Inc.                                                           Delaware 
LGO Corporation (fka Logistics.com, Inc.)                                  Delaware 
Marketron International, Inc. (fka Buymedia, Inc.)                         Delaware 
Metastorm Inc.                                                             Maryland 
OneCoast Network Holdings, Inc. (fka USgift Corpora tion)                    Georgia 
Qcorps Residential, Inc. (dba WhiteFence)                                  Delaware 
StarCite, Inc.                                                             Delaware 
Tibersoft Corporation                                                    Massachusetts 
Traffic.com, Inc.                                                          Delaware 



Exhibit 23.1  

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  

The Board of Directors  
Internet Capital Group, Inc.:  

We consent to incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-34736, 333-76870, 333-76872 and 333-126808) on Form S-8 
and the registration statement (no. 333-115702) on Form S-3 of Internet Capital Group, Inc. and subsidiaries of our reports dated March 15, 
2006, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Internet Capital Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the 
related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity (deficit), comprehensive income (loss) and cash flows for each of the years in 
the three-year period ended December 31, 2005, and related financial statement schedule, management's assessment of the effectiveness of 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2005, which reports appear in the December 31, 2005 annual report on Form 10-K of Internet Capital Group, Inc.  

 
 

/s/ KPMG LLP 
 
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 
March 15, 2006 



Exhibit 31.1  

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  

I, Walter W. Buckley, III, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Internet Capital Group, Inc.;  

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects 
the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 
15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant, and have:  

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this annual report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;  

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and  

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information; and  

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control 
over financial reporting.  

 
 

Date: March 15, 2006 
 
                                                  /s/ Walter W. Buckley, III 
                                                  ------------------------------ 
                                                  Walter W. Buckley, III 
                                                  Chief Executive Officer 



Exhibit 31.2  

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER  

I, R. Kirk Morgan, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Internet Capital Group, Inc.;  

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects 
the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 
15d-15(f)) for the registrant, and have:  

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;  

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and  

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information; and  

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control 
over financial reporting.  

 
 

Date: March 15, 2006 
 
                                                    /s/ R. Kirk Morgan 
                                                    ---------------------------- 
                                                    R. Kirk Morgan 
                                                    Chief Financial Officer 



Exhibit 32.1  

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350  
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF  

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002, AS AMENDED  

In connection with the Annual Report of Internet Capital Group, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2005 
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Walter W. Buckley, III, Chief Executive Officer of 
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, 
that:  

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.  

 
 

/s/ Walter W. Buckley, III 
------------------------------------ 
Walter W. Buckley, III 
Chief Executive Officer 
March 15, 2006 



Exhibit 32.2  

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350  
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF  

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002, AS AMENDED  

In connection with the Annual Report of Internet Capital Group, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2005 
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, R. Kirk Morgan, Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, that:  

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.  

 

/s/ R. Kirk Morgan 
----------------------------- 
R. Kirk Morgan 
Chief Financial Officer 
March 15, 2006 


